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Dedicated to developing Agriculture

Sincere tn seeving Agciculture

m/f;@\ﬁ Z%% Wl %&?}%y

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Director(s)") of
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company’, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present to our
shareholders the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the
“Year’ or the “year under review"). During the Year, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$531 million for the Year, representing a
decrease of approximately 8% as compared to approximately HK$579
million of the last financial year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Previous
Year”).

The Group has built a nationwide chain of wholesale markets and a
network of modern agricultural produce logistics center, linking the
southern and northern regions and across the eastern and south-
western parts of the PRC. During the Year, the Group managed a total
of ten agricultural produce exchange markets in mainland China,
covering Wuhan, Huangshi, Suizhou, Luoyang, Puyang, Kaifeng, Yulin,
Qinzhou, Xuzhou and Panjin, with business spreading across various
provinces, including Hubei Province, Henan Province, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province and Liaoning Province.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NATIONAL POLICIES

The 2025 Central Document No. 1 focuses on the comprehensive
revitalisation of rural areas and proposes a range of measures. These
include enhancing the supply security of grain and other agricultural
products, such as promoting increases in grain and oilseed crop
yields, supporting the development of the livestock industry and
strengthening the protection of farmland; consolidating and expanding
the achievements of poverty alleviation, ensuring no large-scale
relapses into poverty and establishing relevant mechanisms; developing
county-level industries that enrich the people, fostering featured
industries in rural areas, and improving the cooperative agricultural
mechanisms; promoting rural construction, coordinating urban and
rural planning, and extending infrastructure to rural areas; improving
the rural governance system, strengthening the construction of
grassroots Party organisations, and rectifying formalism; improving the
system and mechanisms for ensuring and optimising the allocation of
factors of production, stabilising rural land contracting relationships,
and innovating investment and financing mechanisms, thereby
providing a solid foundation for advancing modernisation with Chinese
characteristics.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

As a leading agricultural product logistics operator in the People's
Republic of China (the "PRC") despite the difficult business
environment, the Group has been consolidating and improving its
business foundation, and has successfully stabilized its market share.
Internally, the Group achieved standardized management processes
through its self-developed ERP management platform (enterprise
resource management system), to significantly optimize management
efficiency and save operating costs. Externally, the Group has made
every effort to promote the intelligent informatization of agricultural
produce exchange markets, various operational data can be collected
and analyzed through electronic management platforms, and methods
to enhance the efficiency of markets, operators and purchasers can be
summarized, thus achieving mutual benefits.

The Group will boost the development and construction of cold chains,
cold storage, logistics warehouses and other supporting facilities in
existing market cities, Greater Bay area cities and provincial capital
cities. Benefiting from the support of national policies, the Group firmly
believes that the cold storage industry will have a great potential
development with the improvement of the PRC's economy and
consumption level of people.

Besides, the Group actively expands new business sales channels by
leveraging its ten agricultural produce exchange markets across the
country, enjoying advantages of source resources, channel resources,
circulation service resources and retail resources in various places
of origin. Meanwhile, the Group will use the light asset model and
modernized management system to expand into different agricultural
produce exchange markets across the country to strengthen its
competitive edge.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to leverage its leading
position in the industry and comprehensive agricultural produce
exchange market information system to continually improve its profit
model, aggressively explore new markets and adopt a diversified
market management model to consolidate further and drive business
development, achieving sustained profit growth. To seize new business
opportunities, the Group has adopted a series of measures: cooperate
with different types of partners using asset-light strategy, to expand
its operation in China; capitalize on opportunities arose from the PRC
Government's promotion of data economy through the online and
offline platform development business; utilize operating knowledge
and experience in the industry, integrate resources in both vertical and
horizontal directions, and connect upstream and downstream links in
the industrial chain, to expand our business to different provinces in the
PRC and various segments and develop new businesses such as bulk
trade. Given the rapid development of modern technology, especially in
the areas of blockchain and virtual assets, the Group has also invested
in research and demonstration to combine these technologies with
the Group's business, which not only promotes the core business but
also opens up new business opportunities. The Group believes that its
forward-looking business strategy and operating policy will bring long-
term benefits to the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has always been committed to fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility and actively participate in various public welfare and
charity activities. During the Year, the Group has donated a total of
approximately HK$969,000 worth of supplies to various charitable
organizations in PRC and the local community. The Group has also
spared no effort in poverty alleviation work for the country, such
as donating essential supplies like cooking oil and rice, to support
impoverished households and uphold the traditional virtue of helping
those in need. Furthermore, the Group attaches great importance to
food safety management by providing relevant training to employees
on a regular basis, striving to provide high quality and safe agricultural
produce to the public.

APPRECIATION

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to the customers, business partners, shareholders,
bondholders and employees for their strong support to the Group
over the past year. | would also like to express my heartfelt thanks to
the Board, the management team and employees at all levels for their
dedication and loyalty, without which the Group would not be able to
achieve our results. The Group will continue to uphold the motto of
‘dedicated to developing agriculture with sincere in serving agriculture”
to enhance overall efficiency and effectiveness.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBF M

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue, gross profit and segment result

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”), the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$531 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$48 million as compared to that of the last financial
year ended 31 March 2024. The below table summarises the key
financial performance of the Group:

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_E_RF-A=+-HLEE

Agricultural

Produce

Exchange
Market Property
Operation Sales

RERER
HKS million and approximate%s ~ FH&EBTRMAE AL MEHE
Revenue W 407 124
Gross Profit 7 285 1
Segment Result DEEE 191 -1
Gross Profit to Revenue ERfilimz BAL 70% 9%
Segment Result to Revenue PHERERGZ BN 47% -1%

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$531 million for
the Year, representing a decrease of approximately 8% as compared
to approximately HK$579 million of the last financial year, which was
mainly due to a decrease in revenue from property sales during the Year.
The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$296 million for
the Year (2024: approximately HK$343 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 14% as compared to that of the last financial year. The
Group recorded a segment result of approximately HK$190 million for
the Year (2024: approximately HK$139 million). The increase in segment
result was mainly due to the decrease in net fair value losses on owned
investment properties from agricultural produce exchange market
operation during the Year.

Other income and gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of approximately
HKS47 million for the Year (2024: approximately HK$119 million). The
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in reversal of aged payables
during the Year.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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Agricultural
Produce
Exchange
Market Property
Operation Sales
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General and administrative expenses, selling expenses
and finance costs

General and administrative expenses were approximately
HK$170 million for the Year (2024: approximately HK$161 million). The
increase was mainly due to the increase in depreciation expenses and
exchange loss during the Year. Selling expenses were approximately
HKS$18 million for the Year (2024: approximately HKS36 million). The
decrease in selling expenses was mainly due to the decrease in
expenses used for promotion activities during the Year. Finance costs
were approximately HK$92 million for the Year (2024: approximately
HK$112 million), and such decrease was mainly due to the decrease
of the financial cost of the unsecured notes and bank and other
borrowings during the Year.

Impairment losses on financial assets, net

The Group recorded net impairment losses on financial assets of
approximately HK$16 million for the Year (2024: net reversal of
impairment losses of financial assets of approximately HKS1 million).

Fair value losses on owned investment properties, net and
write-down of properties held for sale

During the Year, net fair value losses on owned investment properties
was approximately HK$12 million (2024: approximately HK$83 million).
The net fair value losses were mainly due to the decrease in market
rental value of investment properties located in the People’s Republic of
China ("PRC"). There was no write-down of properties held for sale for
the Year (2024: approximately HKS$3 million).

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, net

During the Year, net fair value losses on financial assets was
approximately HK$0.4 million (2024: net fair value gains of
approximately HKS$0.1 million).

Income tax expense

Income tax expense was approximately HK$3.5 million for the Year
(2024: approximately HK$56 million). The decrease was mainly due to
the entitlement of a tax concession on dividend withholding tax and
release of overprovision in prior years during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIERE 515w KR 2

Profit attributable to owners of the parent

The profit attributable to owners of the parent for the Year
was approximately HK$7.8 million as compared to the profit
of approximately HK$7.4 million in the last financial year. Profit
from operations before fair value changes and impairment were
approximately HK$156 million and the profit from operations was
approximately HK$127 million for the Year (2024: approximately HK$280
million and approximately HK$195 million, respectively). The increase
in profit attributable to owners of the parent was mainly due to the
gain on disposal of subsidiaries and decrease in net fair value losses on
owned investment properties and offset by the combined effect of a
number of items, including (but not limited) the decrease in reversal of
aged payables as compared to the last financial year.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any payment of final dividend for the
Year (2024: Nil). No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) for the six months ended 30 September
2024 (30 September 2023: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in the management
and sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in
Hong Kong and PRC. On the one hand, it is expected that the PRC
economy will experience gradual recovery. On the other hand, the
PRC real estate market downfall has effect on the Group's property
sales. However, these factors did not significantly affect the Group's
performance due to the nature of its business model. To cope with
future growth, the Group has been actively evaluating various business
opportunities which can help diversify income stream of the Group and
deliver long-term benefits to the Shareholders.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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Agricultural Produce Exchange Markets
Hubei Province

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
("Wuhan Baisazhou Market’) is one of the leading agricultural
produce exchange market operators in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou
Market is situated in the Hongshan District of Wuhan City, the PRC
with a site area of approximately 310,000 square metres and one of
the most notable agricultural produce exchange markets in Hubei
Province. Wuhan Baisazhou Market was awarded “Top 10 of National
Agricultural Products Comprehensive Wholesale Markets” by China
Agricultural Wholesale Market Association in 2023. The award shows the
significant market contributions made by the Group and its efforts and
expertise as an agricultural produce exchange market operator in the
PRC. During the Year, the revenue of Wuhan Baisazhou Market remained
approximately the same as that of the last financial year.

Huangshi Market

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
("Huangshi Market") is a joint venture project of the Group founded in
Huangshi City in January 2015 with an operating area of approximately
23,000 square metres. Huangshi City is a county level city in Hubei
Province and is around 100 kilometres away from Wuhan Baisazhou
Market. Huangshi Market, as a second-tier agricultural produce
exchange market, created synergy with Wuhan Baisazhou Market to
boost vegetables and by-products trading. During the Year, the revenue
of Huangshi Market increased by approximately 4% as compared to that
of the last financial year.

Suizhou Market

Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
("Suizhou Market") is another joint venture project of the Group
founded in March 2018. It occupies approximately 240,000 square
metres. The Group pursued asset-light operation business model
by taking up the contract management rights to operate this
market. During the Year, the revenue of Suizhou Market increased by
approximately 4% as compared to that of the last financial year.
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Henan Province
Luoyang Market

Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
("Luoyang Market") is the flagship project of the Group in Henan
Province, the PRC, with a site area of approximately 255,000 square
metres. Luoyang Market was awarded “Top 50 of National Agricultural
Products Comprehensive Wholesale Markets” by China Agricultural
Wholesale Market Association in 2023. During the Year, the revenue of
Luoyang Market decreased by approximately 32% due to the decrease
of properties sale recognition as compared to that of the last financial
year.

Puyang Market

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Puyang
Market") is one of our joint venture projects in cooperation with a local
partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, Puyang Market
kept steady pace in operations. The revenue of Puyang Market increased
by approximately 18% mainly due to the increase of properties sales
recognition during the Year as compared to that of the last financial
year.

Kaifeng Market

Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
("“Kaifeng Market’), with a gross floor construction area of
approximately 140,000 square metres, is the Group's third market
operation point for the facilitation of the building of an agricultural
produce exchange market network in Henan Province, the PRC.
Kaifeng Market was awarded “Top 50 of National Agricultural Products
Comprehensive Wholesale Markets” by China Agricultural Wholesale
Market Association in 2023. During the Year, the revenue of Kaifeng
Market increased by approximately 4% due to the increase of rental
income received from agricultural produce exchange market operation
as compared to that of the last financial year.
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Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Yulin Market

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin
Market") is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets
in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (‘Guangxi Region”) with
a site area of approximately 415,000 square metres. During the Year,
the revenue of Yulin Market decreased by approximately 20% due to
the decrease of properties sale recognition and rental income derived
from agricultural produce exchange market operation as compared to
that of the last financial year. On 30 May 2025, Century Choice Limited
("Century Choice’, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), has
entered into a capital reduction agreement to dispose of the Group's
interest of Phase | of Yulin Market, namely Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-
products Wholesale Marketplace Ltd. After completion of the disposal,
the Group only maintains operations in Phase Il of Yulin Market through
wholly-owned subsidiary of Yulin Hongjin Logistics Development
Company Limited.

Qinzhou Market

Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
("Qinzhou Market’), with a gross floor construction area of
approximately 180,000 square metres, is the Group's second market
operation point for the facilitation of the building of an agricultural
produce market network in the Guangxi Region. During the Year, the
revenue of Qinzhou Market increased by approximately 28% mainly
due to the increase of rental income received from agricultural produce
exchange market operation during the Year as compared to that of the
last financial year.

Jiangsu Province

Xuzhou Market

Xuzhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Xuzhou
Market") occupies approximately 200,000 square metres and is located
in the northern part of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Xuzhou Market was

awarded “Top 100 of National Agricultural Products Wholesale Markets”

by China Agricultural Wholesale Market Association in 2023. During the
Year, the revenue of Xuzhou Market was approximately the same as
compared to that of the last financial year.

Huai’an Market

Huai'an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Huai’an
Market") occupies approximately 100,000 square metres, is located at
Huai‘an City of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Group had ceased to have
any interest on Huai'an Market after the completion of its disposal on 5
September 2024.
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Liaoning Province
Panjin Market

Panjin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Panjin
Market"), with a construction area of around 50,000 square metres, is
the Group's first attempt in investment in Liaoning Province, the PRC.
Panjin Market focused on the trading of river crabs and held regular
market fairs. During the Year, the revenue of Panjin Market increased by
approximately 19% mainly due to the increase of rental income derived
from agricultural produce exchange market operation as compared to

that of the last financial year.

E-commerce Development

With the robust mobile network and widespread use of intelligent
mobile devices in the PRC, the Group allocated cost effective resources
to e-commerce development. The Group has launched a new electronic
trading platform for energising the efficiency of agricultural produce
exchange markets. At the moment, the Group has adopted continuous
cost control measures in electronic trading platform development.

Cyber Risk and Security

With information technology and the internet playing vital roles in
its operation, the Group has designated professionals to monitor and
assess potential cyber risks. Both hardware and software are maintained
with appropriate Group policies. Potential cyber risks and network
security is one of the key concerns of management, thus the Group
has formulated policies and procedures to regulate the use of internet,
to physically safeguard system power supply and to regularly update
internet protection system and firewall to separate the intranet of the
Group from outside network. Designated professionals are responsible
for the day-to-day monitoring on any abnormal network activities.
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Data Fraud or Theft Risk

The Group continuously reviews and updates its internal control
system on data and information access. Appropriate policies have been
adopted to protect data, and access permissions are only granted to the
authorised personnel. Management believes that effective policies and
procedures have been put in place to avoid data fraud or theft risk.

Environmental and Social Risk

Due to the nature of the business, the Group will face a moderate
environmental risk in case of severe and permanent climate change
across the PRC. Such risk may have an adverse impact on agricultural
production thereby affecting the revenue of the Group in agricultural
produce exchange market operation and property sales.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total cash and bank balances
amounting to approximately HK$182 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$243 million) whilst total assets and net assets
were approximately HK$4,234 million (31 March 2024: approximately
HK$4,638 million) and approximately HK$2,027 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$2,069 million), respectively. The Group's gearing
ratio as at 31 March 2025 was approximately 46.3% (31 March 2024:
approximately 49.9%), being a ratio of (i) total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and unsecured notes of approximately HK$1,121
million (31 March 2024: approximately HKS$1,315 million), net of cash
and bank balances and pledged bank deposits of approximately
HK$182 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$283 million) to (ii)
shareholders’ funds of approximately HK$2,027 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$2,069 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the ratio of total interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately HK$1,121 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$1,315 million) to total assets of approximately
HK$4,234 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$4,638 million) was
approximately 26% (31 March 2024: approximately 28%).
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Disposal of Huai’an Market Interests

On 25 May 2024, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA") with an independent third party (the
‘Purchaser”) for the disposal of the entire equity interests of a
subsidiary (the “Target Company’) holding, among others, the
property interests in the Huai'an Market (the “Disposal’) for an
initial consideration of approximately RMB28.9 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$31.9 million) subject to adjustments. The
consideration should be adjusted subject to a maximum adjusted total
consideration of approximately RMB71.7 million. After such adjustment,
the final consideration was approximately RMB66.4 million, the
Company recorded a gain on the Disposal of approximately HK$35.8
million. The Purchaser has also undertaken under the SPA to provide
funding to the Target Company in the amount of approximately
RMB140.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$154.9 million) for the
Target Company's repayment of certain intercompany loans owned to
the Company's subsidiaries. The Group had ceased to hold any interest
in the Huai'an Market after the completion. The Disposal was completed
on 5 September 2024. Further details of the Disposal are set out in joint
announcement of the Company and Wang On Group Limited (Stock
code: 1222) ("WOG’, the ultimate holding company of the Company)
dated 25 May 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 17 June
2024.

Acquisition of 50% Equity Interest of the PRC JV

On 13 December 2024, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Wang On Commercial Management Limited, an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG in respect of the acquisition
of the entire issued share capital of Regal Smart Investment Limited
("Regal Smart’) and shareholder’s loans of Regal Smart owed to WOG
and its subsidiaries (the “Shareholder’s Loan") at a total consideration
of HK$150 million (the “Acquisition”). Regal Smart is principally
engaged in investment holding and the only principal asset of Regal
Smart is the 50% equity interests in JRYITTEEHIHARAT (the
“PRC JV’). The acquisition was completed on 25 February 2025. The
above acquisition was accounted for by the Group as an acquisition
of assets as the entity acquired by the Group does not constitute
a business. Further details of the Acquisition are set out in joint
announcement of the Company and WOG dated 13 December 2024
and the circular of the Company dated 24 January 2025.
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UNSECURED NOTES

On 23 August 2024, the Company announced the establishment of the
HK$1,000,000,000 medium term note programme (the “Programme”).

During the Year, on 29 November 2024 and 21 February 2025, the
Company issued unsecured fixed coupon rate notes (the “Unsecured
Notes”) with an aggregate principal amount of HK$41 million and
HKS$50 million respectively which will mature in 29 November 2036 and
21 February 2037, respectively. The carrying value as at 31 March 2025
was approximately HK$27.1 million and approximately HK$33.6 million
respectively.

After the reporting period, on 3 April 2025, the Company issued the
Unsecured Notes with an aggregate principal amount of HK$38 million
which will mature in 3 April 2037.

As at the date of this report, the Company has HK$129 million in
aggregate principal amount of the Unsecured Notes outstanding under
the Programme.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, PLEDGES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, outstanding capital commitments, contracted but
not provided for, amounted to approximately HK$29 million (31 March
2024: approximately HK$167 million) in relation to the purchase of
property, plant and equipment and construction contracts. As at 31
March 2025, the Group provided guarantees of approximately HK$16.9
million to customers in favour of certain banks for the loans provided
by the banks to the customers of the properties sold (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$22.8 million), representing the contingent liabilities of
approximately HK$29,000 (31 March 2024: approximately HK$129,000) in
relation to such guarantees. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in
the event of default on mortgage payments by these purchasers before
the expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any
sales proceeds.

As at 31 March 2025, certain property, plant and equipment, owned
investment properties and certain rental income generated therefrom,
properties held for sale with carrying amount of approximately
HKS$1,910 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$2,208 million worth
of assets pledged) were pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank
borrowings.
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The Group did not have any outstanding foreign exchange contracts,
interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives as at 31 March
2025. The revenue, operating costs and bank deposits of the Group
were mainly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") and Hong Kong
dollars. The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency
risks mainly arising from its operations in the PRC and certain bank
deposits denominated in RMB. Currently, the Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. During the Year, due to the currency
fluctuation of RMB against Hong Kong dollars, the Group had been
considering, from time to time, alternative risk hedging tools to mitigate
RMB currency exchange risk.

DEBT PROFILES AND FINANCIAL PLANNING

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group were analyzed as follows:

As at 31 March 2025
RZEZEF=A=1+—-H

Carrying

amount

REE

HKS$ million

BRBT

Unsecured Notes BERZE 61

Finandial Institution Borrowings (note*) &R B1EE (HzF*) 765
Non-financial Institution FERgE

Borrowings (note*) &8 () 295

Total st 1,121

Notes:

& as mentioned in the above table were made in Hong Kong dollars and RMB with
fixed and floating interest rates.

As at 31 March 2025, the Unsecured Notes issued by the Company will
mature from November 2036 to February 2037; the financial institution
borrowings of the Company will mature during the period from April
2025 to December 2034 (31 March 2024: April 2024 to May 2029); and
the non-financial institution borrowings of the Company will mature in
May 2027 (31 March 2024: May 2027).
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TREASURY POLICY

The Group's treasury policy includes diversification of funding sources.
Internally generated cash flow and interest-bearing bank/ non-financial
institution loans and unsecured notes were the general sources of
fund to finance the operation of the Group during the Year. The Group
regularly reviews its major funding positions so as to ensure that it has
adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations. In
order to meet interest-bearing debts and business capital expenditure,
the Group considers from time to time various types of equity and
debt financing alternative, including but not limited to placement of
new shares, rights issue of new shares, financial institution borrowings,
non-financial institution borrowings, bonds issuance, convertible
notes issuance, other debt financial instruments issuance, disposal of
investment properties and sales of properties held for sale.

MATERIAL VALUATION METHOD OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND REVIEW OF
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The investment properties of the Group were stated at fair value as at
31 March 2025. The fair value was arrived at based on the valuations
carried out by an independent firm of qualified professional valuers.
The professional valuers are professional members of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with experience in the location of the properties
being valued. The valuations are confirmed to be in accordance with
The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors Valuation Standards 2024, which
incorporates the International Valuation Standards (IVS). The professional
valuers valued the investment portion of the properties on the basis of
capitalisation of the rent receivables from the existing tenancies and
the potential reversionary market rents of the properties. For vacant site
and inventory portions of the properties, direct comparison method
is adopted based on the principle of substitution, where comparison
is made based on prices realised on actual sales and/or asking prices
of comparable properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale,
nature, character and location are analysed and carefully weighed
against all the respective advantages and disadvantages of each
property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of market value.

The material valuation methods of investment properties valuation have
been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee’) and the Board.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at the date of this report, the Group did not have any concrete plan
for material investments or capital assets nor acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries except for the disposal of Huai'an Market in May 2024,
the acquisition of 50% equity interest of the PRC JV in February 2025
and the disposal of Century Choice's equity interest in Yulin Hongjin
Agricultural By-products Wholesale Marketplace Limited (EM 7R 2
BIERHETIHBARAE) in May 2025 as mentioned in the sections
of "MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL - Disposal of Huai'an Market
Interests and Acquisition of 50% Equity Interest of the PRC JV" and
“EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD - Disposal of Equity Interests in a
Non-wholly Owned Subsidiary”, respectively in this report.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY
AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group operated 10 agricultural produce
exchange markets and 16 wet markets across six provinces in the PRC.
In view of the ever-changing business environment in the PRC, the
following are the principal risks, challenges and uncertainties faced by
the Group, including:

(1) fluctuation in the exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong dollars,
which affects the translation of the PRC assets and liabilities from
RMB to Hong Kong dollars in the Group's financial reporting,
in which the Group periodically monitors the exchange rate
fluctuation, and prepares effective hedging mechanism to deal
with adverse conditions in forex market, if necessary;

(2) difficulty in obtaining adequate financing, in both equity and debt
financing, to support the Group's agricultural produce exchange
markets that are capital intensive in nature. The Group regularly
reviews the short-term and long-term liquidity level and prepare
for the future capital need, as and when appropriate;

(3) difficulty in preserving or enhancing the Group's competitive
position in the agricultural produce exchange markets industry, in
which the Group has designated personnel to monitor the market
activities of competitors and formulate effective strategies to
preserve our competitive position;

(4) difficulty in maintaining or enhancing the level of occupancy in the
Group's agricultural produce exchange markets, in which the Group
launches, from time to time, various marketing campaigns to retain
existing tenants and to attract new tenants;
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(5) challenges in obtaining promptly all necessary licenses and permits
for development, construction, operations and acquisition of
agricultural produce exchange markets. The Group hires sufficient
local staff members with professional qualifications to ensure all
processes comply with local rules and regulations; and

(6) the effect of regulatory changes and amendments relating to
agricultural produce exchange markets which affect operation and
development of the Group, in both the national and local levels.
The Group maintains a relatively flat organization structure and a
high autonomous level to enable quick response to any changes in
different aspects.

DEPENDENCE OF EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is adopting market remuneration practices by reference to
market terms, company performance, and individual qualifications and
performance and well-organized structure management, no key and
specific employee would materially and significantly affect the Group's
success. Meanwhile, there were no major customers and suppliers
which accounted for over 5% of the Group's income and no major
suppliers which cannot be replaced by other appropriate suppliers.
In this connection, no customers and suppliers would have a material
impact on the success of the Group's business performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The operations and development of agricultural produce exchange
markets are subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations
during their construction and operations. Major environmental impacts
are caused by waste and wastewater generated during the construction
and operations of the markets. The Group has, in compliance with
the PRC environmental law, engaged independent environmental
consultants to conduct environmental impact assessments on all
our construction projects in all material aspects. The environmental
investigations conducted to date have not revealed any environmental
liability that would be expected to have a material adverse effect on our
business condition. Upon completion of construction of each market,
the environmental authorities inspect the site to ensure compliance
with all applicable environmental standards. All our construction
projects comply with the “three simultaneities” principles stipulated in
the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC. For further details of the
impact of environmental laws and regulations on our operations and
our environmental policies, please refer to our Environmental, Social
and Governance Report, which will be uploaded on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company in due course.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Group complied in material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. The Company also complied with
the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the laws of Bermuda during the Year. The Group
continuously reviews newly enacted laws and regulations affecting
the operations of the Group, if any, and provides relevant trainings and
guidance to the staff.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Master Licensing Agreement

On 1 October 2022, the Company entered into a master licensing
agreement with WOG and its subsidiaries (the “Master Licensing
Agreement’) which sets out the general principles and key terms
governing the definitive licensing agreements under which relevant
members of WOG may grant license of, and the Group may take up
the license of the premises from 1 October 2022 to 30 September
2025. The entering into of the Master Licensing Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Company. Details were disclosed in the
joint announcement of the Company, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 897) and WOG dated 1 October 2022.

Dealer Agreement

As mentioned in the section of “UNSECURED NOTES" in this report,
the Company had on 11 July 2024 entered into the dealer agreement
(the "Dealer Agreement’) with Wang On Securities Limited (“Wang
On Securities’, formerly named as Wing On Securities Limited, which
was owned indirectly as to 34% by Sky Wish Development Limited, an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of WOG) for a term of three years
in relation to the establishment of the Programme pursuant to which
Wang On Securities had been appointed as the arranger and dealer
with respect to the Programme and the Unsecured Notes to be issued
thereunder. As Wang On Securities was owned indirectly as to 34%
by WOG and was therefore WOG's associate, Wang On Securities was
a connected person of the Company, the entering into of the Dealer
Agreement constituted a continuing connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Details were disclosed in the joint
announcement of the Company and WOG dated 11 July 2024 and the
circular of the Company dated 1 August 2024.
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Sale and Purchase Agreement

As mentioned in the section of “"MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
— Acquisition of 50% Equity Interest of the PRC JV" in this report, the
Company had on 13 December 2024 entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement’) with Wang On
Commercial Management Limited in respect of the Acquisition.
Since WOG was the controlling shareholder of the Company and was
therefore a connected person of the Company, the entering into of
the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the transaction contemplated
thereunder constituted a connected transaction for the Company under
the Listing Rules.

Reference is made to the annual report of the Company for the financial
year ended 31 March 2024 which was published on 25 July 2024 (the
‘2024 Annual Report’). The Company confirms that (i) the related
party transactions as disclosed in Note 38 to the financial statements in
the 2024 Annual Report which are connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions and which are not fully exempt, have been
disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”in
the 2024 Annual Report; and (ii) all the connected transactions and/or
continuing connected transactions disclosed in the 2024 Annual Report
have complied with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Unsecured Notes

On 3 April 2025, the Company issued the Unsecured Notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$38 million which will be mature in
3 April 2037. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 April 2025.

Sale and Leaseback Arrangement

On 20 May 2025, Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as lessee), and Puyang Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale
Marketplace Limited, an indirectly 75%-owned subsidiary of CAP (as
lessee), entered into (i) the sale and leaseback agreement in respect of
the sale and leaseback of the certain assets in Puyang City and Luoyang
City involving sheds and certain equipment at a sale price of RMB51.0
million (equivalent to approximately HK$55.3 million); and (ii) the sale
and leaseback agreement in respect of the sale and leaseback of certain
construction projects in Puyang City and Luoyang City involving sheds
and certain equipment at a sale price of RMB20.4 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$22.1 million) with Haier Financial Services China Co.,
Ltd (as lessor). For further details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 20 May 2025.
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Disposal of Equity Interests in a Non-wholly Owned
Subsidiary

On 30 May 2025, Century Choice, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has entered into the capital reduction agreement with Yulin
Investment Group Co., Ltd. in respect of the disposal of Century Choice’s
equity interest in Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-products Wholesale
Marketplace Limited (EMZRERRBIZEm#LETHBRAED, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, at a total consideration of
RMB24.69 million (equivalent to approximately HK$26.58 million). For
further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
30 May 2025.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 903 employees (31 March
2024: 1,048), approximately 98% of whom were located in the PRC.
The Group’s remuneration policy was reviewed periodically by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board’s remuneration
is determined by reference to market terms, company performance,
and individual qualifications and performance. The Group aimed to
recruit, retain and develop competent individuals who were committed
to the Group's long-term success and growth. Remunerations and
other benefits of employees were reviewed annually in response to
both market conditions and trends, and were based on qualifications,
experience, responsibilities and performance. The share option scheme
of the Company was adopted on 26 August 2022 for the primary
purpose of rewarding eligible participants and to encourage them to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company for the benefit of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

PROSPECTS

Throughout the Year, consumer spending has become more cautious
and the decline in the sales of PRC properties have hindered economic
growth. Such effects have impacted the Group's business operation
which primarily focused on the agricultural products markets in the PRC.
Looking ahead, the Group aims to continue expanding a nationwide
agricultural produce exchange network by leveraging its competitive
advantages in the industry, a stable business foundation, an intelligent
business management systems, robust information technology network
and commitment to high-quality customer services.
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The No. 1 document for 2025 in China focuses on rural development,
specifically emphasizing agricultural modernization and rural
revitalization issued on 23 February 2025. It outlines strategies for
food security, financial support for the livestock industry, and the
development of new agricultural technologies. The document also
highlights the importance of digitalization and modernization in rural
areas. The key points of No.1T document summarise as follows: (i) Rural
Revitalization: The document aims to advance comprehensive rural
revitalization, which includes improving infrastructure, supporting
entrepreneurship in rural areas, and attracting talent to the countryside;
(ii) Food Security: Maintaining a stable food supply remains a key
priority, with an emphasis on sustainable and resilient agricultural
practices; and (iii) Agricultural Modernization: The document
encourages the adoption of new technologies, such as genetically
engineered crops and Al applications in agriculture, to boost
productivity and efficiency. Overall, the 2025 No. 1 document reflects
China’s ongoing commitment to modernizing its agricultural sector.

To capitalise on emerging business opportunities, the Group has
implemented various measures by collaborating with different
partners, utilizing an “asset light” strategy. Besides, the Group has
striven to develop the techniques of electronic platforms to take the
opportunities of the technological improvement driven by the PRC
government'’s promotion of the data economy. The Group has further
expanded its operations to retail market and electronic trading by
leveraging its leading position in the industry. The Group is confident
that its business strategy and operation model will deliver long-term
benefits to the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFEMEREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. TANG Ching Ho, 685, /p, aged 63, joined the Group as a non-
executive director of the Group and the chairman of the Board in
February 2021, and was re-designated as an executive director of the
Group on 1 October 2022. He is also an authorised representative, a
controlling shareholder, the chairman of the executive committee and
a member of each of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Tang is a co-founder of Wang On Group
Limited ("WOG"), which was established in 1987, and has been the
chairman of WOG since November 1993. He is also an executive director
of WOG. He has extensive experience in corporate management. He is
also the chairman, managing director and an executive director of Wai
Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited ("WYT"). Both the Company and
WYT are the indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries of WOG. Mr. Tang
is a deputy director of the Committee on Education, Science, Health
and Sports of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC"), a committee member of the 12th to
14th National Committee of CPPCC and a standing committee member
and convener of the 10th to 13th Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Committee of CPPCC. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive
chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen
Associations.

Mr. LEUNG Sui Wah, Raymond, aged 57, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Group in June 2010. Mr. Leung is also the
chief executive officer, an authorised representative, and a member of
each of the executive committee and the nomination committee of
the Company, and the chief executive officer of Hongjin Agri-Products
Group Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He is
responsible for overall management and supervision of operations
of the Group. Mr. Leung had over 30 years of experience in business
operation, business development, corporate governance, mergers and
acquisitions. He is a vice president of China Agricultural Wholesale
Market Association, a council member of the Chinese Agri-products
Marketing Association and China Aquatic Products Processing and
Marketing Alliance. He is accredited as Senior Accountant title by
Shenzhen Bureau of Human Resources and Social Security and
Economist (Finance and Taxation) title by Ministry of Human Resources
and Social Security of the PRC. He holds a Bachelor Degree of Social
Science, a Master Degree in Business Administration and a Master
Degree of Arts from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, The
University of Hong Kong and City University of Hong Kong, respectively.
He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute. He is also a chartered member of Chartered
Institute of Procurement and Supply and Certified Information Security
Manager of Information Systems Audit and Control Association.
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Mr. WONG Ka Kit, aged 53, joined the Group in August 2009 and was
appointed as an executive director of the Group in April 2024. Mr. Wong
is a member of the executive committee of the Company. He is the
chief operating officer of the Group and holds certain directorship of
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from Hong
Kong Baptist University and a Bachelor (Hons) Degree in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, and is a member of the 6th
Guangxi Yulin Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience in general
management and finance.

Ms. LUO Xu Ying, aged 50, joined the Group in July 2017 and was
appointed as an executive director of the Group in April 2024. Ms. Luo is
a member of the executive committee of the Company. She has over 21
years of experience in human resources management with a graduation
certificate from Zhejiang University in 2007. She is responsible for
human resources management, staff allocation and enhancement
of organisational performance of the Group. Ms. Luo is deputy
general manager — human resources, who has reformed performance
management during her tenure to enhance work efficiency and
optimise resource allocation.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LAU King Lung, aged 78, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2013. He is the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of each of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Lau has over
44 years' experience in planning, design and contracting of civil
engineering and building works. Mr. Lau was a chartered engineer with
his profession registration both in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong.
He is still a member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers after
his retirement. He participated in the design of the initial systems of
the Mass Transit Railway in Hong Kong after his graduation from civil
engineering department of Imperial College, University of London for 6
years with Freeman Fox and Partners, London.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEREREERE

Mr. WONG Ping Yuen, aged 51, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director in November 2018. He is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of each of the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong has been a certified public accountant of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2001, and obtained
a Master Degree of Business Administration from the University of
Adelaide in August 2005. Mr. Wong was appointed as a partner of ITA
& Co. in 2009 and has changed to the sole-proprietor of ITA & Co. since
2015. He has been a partner of SRF Partners & Co. since 2014.

Mr. SHANG Hai Long, aged 43, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in August 2024. He is the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Shang has been
serving as a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council, strategic
consultant of Sense Time Technology, the chief consultant of China
Mobile Hong Kong and the independent non-executive director of
Wing Lee Development Construction Holdings Limited (HKEx: 9639)
since September 2024. He has profound qualifications in the artificial
intelligence and communication technology industries, with 21 years
of rich experience. He was elected as a member of the Hong Kong
Legislative Council and was the former general manager of Sense
Time Technology Hong Kong. Before joining Sense Time, he worked in
management at China Unicom International and China Mobile Hong
Kong. He planned many global projects and has plentiful experience
in overseas business management. Mr. Shang also maintains good
interactive relationships with government departments at all levels and
leads the team to achieve great results.

In addition to his outstanding achievements in the business field, Mr.
Shang also holds a number of public offices, including serving as a
member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council, the rotating chairman
of the Greater Bay Area Committee of the 100 of China Youth Science
and Technology, and a member of the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council's One Belt, One Road and Greater Bay Area Committee.
He teaches courses related to business administration and public
administration at Shanghai Jiao Tong University, the University of Hong
Kong, and the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. Mr.
Shang holds a master’s degree in advanced public administration from
Tsinghua University and is also a doctoral candidate in the Department
of Electronic Engineering of Tsinghua University.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXSHRAR

FRRESEE  RES R R _E—AF+-—AM
AXRBEEBIUFFRATESZT RAEREE

REESTRURFNEZETHIELZESS
BB EhEB _SEE—FRATAED
FiAGHESM TR _SZRE/N\BER
%%ﬁkmﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁimﬁoi%iﬂ
TEENFESEAITA COZEBAERBZ

— A FERMAITA & Co.ZBELKEE o ﬁa_
—MFREATEEGAMITZEE A

HiEREAE  BEMSKE N _ZE-_WmENBMA
EABEEBIUIERTES - BAKA T HN
REEFRUNABZEETHRLEZESRR
MB MAEENRAETBIL LS %E&ﬁﬁﬂ
RERER AR EEEREEAERE S
“HENBRERENEEERAERAT (B

Fff £ 9639) HEEBIUIERTEF - HAEETEAT
D -EBNRNEREERE BALEEELR
BoEERABULY %émﬁﬁ%ﬂ&*%”
BABIR  EAR S B EPEBEREA
BNTEEHEEQATARES EIW’%ﬁ%
EEMEE AR ESESENFALRERE
TEHERBFBARFERGTEHMEG %48
B EAIEE -

HWAEERT EBERENSHERM 7753
ZEMAEAN BREEEBIEERE TH
MESFAAGREEZEEREIF -BA

BER— T BAAEEEZEEZEF M7
@xkﬁ BARAARR -BENERBEFER
EE -RAHEEARRE - HAEFAERE

k%%%“ﬁ%@ﬁi
FERRBLE-

U thBBEREE



SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YUNG Chi Hung, Quincy, aged 57, joined the Group in May 2018.
He is the financial controller of the Group responsible for finance
and accounting matters. Mr. Yung holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration and a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong and the University of Wisconsin-
Madison, USA respectively. He is a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yung has over 26 years of experience in
finance and accounting matters.

Ms. NG Yee Man, Fiona, aged 56, joined the Group in March 2022. She
is the Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Ng is a fellow member
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. She has over 27 years of experience in
finance, accounting and corporate secretarial functions, including
over 17 years of experience in handling listed company secretarial and
compliance related matters of Hong Kong listed companies. She holds
a Bachelor Degree of Commerce (Accounting) from Curtin University
of Technology, Australia. Before joining the Group, Ms. Ng worked in
various listed companies as company secretary and financial controller.
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GROUP CULTURE
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Values
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Integrity, Innovation, Service, Win-Win
S~ B BRFE R

Integrity:
;IS

We believe integrity is the foundation of all values and is essential for sustainable business
development. It guides our interactions with governments, investors, and merchants, ensuring
transparency and accountability in all our operations. Integrity is our most valuable asset and a
testament to our commitment to ethical conduct.

BABE HERMABENER TACEIRKBRENMERME -H|BRMEKF KA
ERERPHNES URGRRMAAEENZHERBEL AEERMEREENEE  THAK
PIESFEBITAAERER

Innovation:

BIF

We aim to lead in the circulation of agricultural products by leveraging our intelligent platform. We
focus on innovative concepts, technologies, and management practices that promote sustainability.
Our goal is to actively pursue and implement solutions that reduce our environmental impact, improve
resource efficiency, and contribute to a more resilient food system.
EPEEAREMNEETEsIERERMB ?M‘ﬁ%/IEAT’E@J—JH%;%%EE’JPWHEEM Al
REBBEH BMNERE/BRSRULBHARASZE LURVHIRENZE - IESE R B
FoWREUFABEINERBRIFLER -

Service:

AR %S

We are committed to offering sincere, efficient, quick, and thoughtful service to all our stakeholders.
By ensuring convenience for merchants, delivering value for management, and gaining support
from governments, we aim to build collaborative partnerships that promote positive social and
environmental impact.

RPN BABFPEREEH S RIEEE2RIRE - BBRMRESNEFIE - AEEE

gtﬂa@ UERESBNNXF RMARERIGHEEHBG EMELERRBELEERR

Win-Win:
HE -

We strive for reasonable profits while adhering to the principle of “taking from the community and
giving back to the society”. Our goal is to create win-win situations for farmers, investors, governments,
and the communities we serve. This includes supporting fair trade practices, investing in rural
development, and promoting responsible sourcing.

BATEXRGEENNER BRI 1S DELEINRE ETARRE - BEE BUTR
{?tgg?ﬁﬁg%kﬂ’ﬂiﬁmﬁ EHENEH SEEXRATESER RENENERUAKESS
FRVERFS o

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERXZHRAR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXEARS

:.l.‘
PR N R
O B N |
L ...:

, Phllosophy

Promoting agricultural development with integrity

g RUIEER

Mission

fEan

Drive forward the transformation and upgrading of agri-products circulation in China

iR ERTEEEEARK

FE=

Build China’s leading brand of agri-products circulation

TEFRREMRBFEERE

A modern agri-products exchange platform

RAECRERXRZTE

An international agri-products circulation network

[0 PR AR = FE B A B

An international professional management system

EREXRCEERER

A national agri-products safety testing technology platform

BERBREMEXFZE2WRARMTE

A professional agri-products circulation supporting service system f
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China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company’, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to maintaining a
high standard of corporate governance within a sensible framework
with a strong emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity and
independence and enhancing the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency, to ensure its sustainable development and to
generate greater returns for the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders").

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Compliance with Listing Rules and CG Code

The board of directors (the “Board” or “Director(s)") has reviewed the
corporate governance practices of the Company and is satisfied that
the Company had applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout the financial
year ended 31 March 2025.

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and Relevant
Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the financial year under
review.

To comply with code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code, the Company
has also adopted a written code of conduct regarding securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the Model Code by the
relevant employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are
considered likely to be in possession of inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors (‘INED(s)").
The Directors during the financial year under review and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wong Ka Kit

Ms. Luo Xu Ying

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lau King Lung

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

Mr. Shang Hai Long (appointed on 20 August 2024)
Mr. Li Yin Quan (resigned on 20 August 2024)
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 30 to 35 of
this annual report.

Responsibilities

The Board's primary functions are to set corporate policy and overall
strategy for the Group and to provide effective oversight of the
management of the Group's business and affairs. It delegates day-to-day
operations of the Group to executive Directors and senior management.
Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board also approves, among
others, strategic plans, key operational issues, investments and loans,
reviews the financial performance of the Group and evaluates the
performance and compensation of senior management. These functions
are either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly through
committees established by the Board. Besides, the Board has delegated
general powers to management to deal with day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group. The Company has arranged
for appropriate insurance cover for Directors” and officers’ liabilities in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior management
arising from corporate activities.

The Board possesses a balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company.
As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors have any
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with each other. The opinions raised by the INEDs at the meetings of
the Board facilitate the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. The Board has three INEDs, representing more than one-
third of the Board, and at least one of the INEDs has the appropriate
professional qualification and accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by Rules 3.10 and 3.10(A) of
the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors also ensures a strong
independent element on the Board, which allows for an independent
and objective decision-making process for the best interests of the
Company. The Company will review the composition of the Board
regularly to ensure the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary
expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group's
business with due regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out in the
diversity policy adopted by the Board.

All Directors (including both executive directors and INEDs) are
appointed without specific term, but are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years at the Company’s annual general
meetings in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company. The non-
executive Directors' terms of office will be renewed automatically after
the re-election, unless prematurely terminated in accordance with the
terms and conditions specified in the respective letters of appointment,
the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and
the Listing Rules.
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All INEDs are free from any business or other relationship with the
Company. Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his own personal particulars that
may affect his independence. No such notification was received during
the financial year under review. The Company has also received from
each of the existing INED an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to
consider the three INEDs to be independent.

The Board meets at least four times a year with additional meetings
arranged, as and when necessary, has a schedule of matters reserved
for its review and approval. The specific responsibility reserved for
the Board includes matters in relation to, among others, determining
strategies and objectives of the Group, monitoring the overall
management and operation of the Group, reviewing capital, corporate
and control structures, ensuring financial reporting, risk management
and internal control measures, determining major capital projects and
contracts, including material acquisitions, disposals and other significant
potential investments, communication with the Shareholders,
determining the Board composition, the appointment of company
secretary and auditors, evaluating the effectiveness of internal controls,
reviewing adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff,
delegation of authority to committees and reviewing the Group's overall
corporate governance arrangements. The chairman of the Board also
met the INEDs without the presence of other Directors during the
financial year under review.

Save as those matters mentioned above, the Board has delegated
general powers to management to deal with day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group. At the same time,
management will provide with the Board and its committees with
adequate information, in a timely manner, to enable it to make informed
decisions.

At least 14 days' notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors 3 days
before the date of a regular meeting of the Board to ensure that the
Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. All minutes of
the meetings of the Board and its committee are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the financial year under review, the Board reviewed (i) the
policies and practices on corporate governance of the Company; (ii)
the training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (iii) the policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; and (v) the compliance with the CG Code
which was disclosed in this annual report.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the financial year under review, the Company held thirteen
board meetings of the Board, an annual general meeting (the “2024
AGM") and two special general meetings (the “SGMs"). The attendance
of each Director is set out as follows:

Number of attendance/number of
meetings entitled to attend

HERE ARHEEERK

LETL
Directors meetings 2024 AGM SGMs
—EMNE

55 BF RRBEXE RRFIXE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tang Ching Ho AR L 13/13 1/1 0/2
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RInELE 13/13 1/1 2/2
Mr. Wong Ka Kit HERGELRE 12/12 1/1 0/2
Ms. Luo Xu Ying BBE T 12/12 /1 0/2
Independent non-executive Directors 1517 IFHITEE
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RBAERE (KR ZEZF

(resigned on 15 April 2024) 795 + # A G 1E) 2/2 N/A 58 B N/A 778 F3
Mr. Lau King Lung B RS 13/13 1/1 2/2
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRRESE 13/13 1/1 2/2
Mr. Li Yin Quan F5|RELE R F_HF

(resigned on 20 August 2024) NABZ=+HE#E) 4/4 0/1 01
Mr. Shang Hai Long BEBEATE (R = F

(appointed on 20 August 2024) NBZ+HEZE) 8/8 N/A 58 B 11
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

As at the date of this report, the positions of the chairman and the chief
executive officer are held by Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Mr. Leung Sui Wah,
Raymond respectively. There is clear division of responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive officer which provides a balance of
power and authority.

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors are
required to participate in continuous professional development to
enhance and update their knowledge and skills. This ensures that
their contributions to the Board remain well-informed and relevant.
The company secretary of the Company regularly circulates training
materials and briefings to all Directors, covering updates on, among
other matters, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") and related
regulatory guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), as well as relevant financial and accounting
standards.

The company secretary of the Company continuously updates Directors
constantly on the latest developments regarding the Group's business
and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly and regular
updates on the Group's business operations, financial position and
broader business environment, in which the Group operates. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2025, all Directors received regular
update on corporate governance matters or news or changes to laws
and regulations. All Directors are requested to provide the Company
with a record of the training they received.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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Every newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.
Mr. Shang Hai Long has attended a director’s training which introduce
the duties and responsibility of a director of a company listed on
Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited ("HKEx") on 26 July 2024
before his appointment. Mr. Shang Hai Long also obtained the legal
advice from a HK solicitor on 26 July 2024 regarding the requirements
under the Listing Rules in Hong Kong that are applicable to him as a
director of a company listed on HKEx and the possible consequences of
making a false declaration or giving false information to the HKEx, and
confirmed that he understood his obligations as a director of a company
listed on HKEx.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the executive
committee (the "Executive Committee”’), the remuneration committee
(the ‘Remuneration Committee’), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee’) and the audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”). Each committee is required to report to the Board on its
decisions and recommendations, where appropriate. The committees,
especially the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice at the Company's expense.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee, established in April 2009, comprises
four executive Directors, Tang Ching Ho (Chairman), Mr. Leung Sui
Wah, Raymond, Mr. Wong Ka Kit and Ms. Luo Xu Ying. The Executive
Committee is responsible for the general management and day-to-
day supervision of the Group’s operations and performance, ensuring
alignment with the overall business strategy. It also regularly reviews
strategy initiatives and business development plans, monitoring their
implementation to support effective operational execution.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Shang Hai Long (chairman), Mr. Lau King
Lung and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Tang Ching Ho.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles
and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such policy;

2. to review and approve the management'’s remuneration proposals
by reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management,
including, but not limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration on
non-executive directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

6. to review and approve compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

8. to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

9. toreview and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held three meetings and the attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out below:
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REEVBREERN FMEEEERT=RE
o FHMNEESERMEZHFEBRHIIMT :

Members of the Remuneration Committee Attendance
HMZEERE HERR
Mr. Shang Hai Long (chairman) (appointed on WSReRE (/) (B ZF_MF

20 August 2024) NAZ+HEZE) 11
Mr. Lau King Lung B Y 3/3
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRREE 3/3
Mr. Tang Ching Ho =PI 3/3
Mr. Li Yin Quan (appointed on 1 April 2024 and FI|RELE (W ZEZWFEMAA—H

resigned on 20 August 2024) EZERPZEZHFE/NF =+ HEE) 11
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (resigned on 15 April 2024) SEERE (R E-WFENS+FH

BEE) 1/1

During the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the existing remuneration policy, assessed performance of
executive Directors, reviewed the existing remuneration packages
and structure of executive Directors and senior management of the
Company and the existing remuneration packages of independent non-
executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue
to discharge its major roles to, among other things,
recommendations, if any, to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management of the Company
(i.e. the model described in the CG Code is adopted) and approve the
terms of executive Director’s service contracts.

make

The remuneration payable to the Directors will depend on their
respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts and the same were reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9
to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the members of
the senior management by band for the financial year under review is

set out below:

Remuneration band (HKS)

FENEEE (&)

Nil to $1,000,000
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000

2% 1,000,000
1,000,001 % 1,500,000 1
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman), Mr. Wong
Ping Yuen and Mr. Shang Hai Long and two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles
and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, experience, skills, knowledge, independence
and length of service) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to
complement the Company's corporate strategy;

2. to identify and nominate individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In
identifying suitable individuals, the Nomination Committee shall
consider individuals on merit against the objective criteria, with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive

Directors and review the independent non-executive Directors’

annual confirmations on their independence and make disclosure
of its review results in the corporate governance report of the
Company;

4. to regularly review the time required for a Director to perform
his/her responsibilities;

5. to review the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity on the Board;

6. to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of the
Group with a view to ensuring the long-term success of the Group;

7. to review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing
the Board diversity policy, and the progress on achieving the
objectives; and make disclosure of its review results in the
corporate governance report annually;

8. to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election every
three years by Shareholders;
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to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman/chairwoman and
the chief executive, taking into account the Company’s corporate
strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
needed in the future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every Director should
receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a service
contract with the Company, as appropriate;

. where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as

an independent non-executive Director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to
Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting why it believes the
individual should be elected and the reasons why it considers the
individual to be independent; and

. the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee

shall attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be
prepared to respond to questions raised by Shareholders on the
Nomination Committee’s activities and responsibilities.

During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee held
three meetings and the attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out below:

9
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Members of the Nomination Committee Attendance
REEZEEHE HERR
Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman) RS (F/F) 3/3
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (resigned on 15 April 2024) RBERE (W ZEZWFEMA A+ F HEFE) 2/2
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FIRREE 3/3
Mr. Li Yin Quan (appointed on 1 April 2024 and 5| RE (R ZEZHFIILE —HEZ TR
resigned on 20 August 2024) RTEZME/NH =+ HEE) 2/2
Mr. Shang Hai Long (appointed on 20 August 2024) EOERESE W ZEZWFENBF -+ HEZ
=3 N/A 738 F
Mr. Tang Ching Ho =Pl 3/3
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RIRFERLE 3/3
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During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee
(i) reviewed, inter alia, the policy for the nomination of Directors, the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria to select and
recommend candidates for directorship and the Board diversity policy;
(ii) proposed the re-designation of director and change of composition
of Board Committee; and (iii) recommended the re-elections of the
retiring directors. The Nomination Committee would recommend to
the Board for re-appointment of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Mr. Wong Ka Kit
and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen as directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to diversify the Board and for which the Nomination
Committee has reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee
reviewed and assessed the Board composition and made
recommendations (if any) to the Board pursuant to the Board diversity
policy and the nomination policy.

The Nomination Committee will consider, when designing and
reviewing the Board’s composition, from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence
and length of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider
candidates on merit against the objective criteria, with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors,
including four executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of
the management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge. As at the date of this report, the Board members consists of
six male directors, and one female director; while there is approximately
41.5% of our workforce (including senior management) comprising of
females.

The Company values gender diversity and will continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at all levels of our Company, including
but without limitation at the Board and senior management levels, to
enhance the effectiveness of our corporate governance as a whole.
Taking into account of our existing business model and the background
and experience of our Directors, the Nomination Committee considered
that the composition of the Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy.
The Company has achieved the measurable objective which comprises
not less than one female Director and targets to include not less than
one female Director in the Nomination Committee and maintain a
workforce with not less than 35% female representation (including
senior management) by 2026.
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Having reviewed the Board diversity policy and the Board's composition,
the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in
the Board diversity policy had been met. The Nomination Committee
considers that the current Board composition has provided the
Company with a good balance and diversity of skills and experience
appropriate for the business of the Company. The Nomination
Committee will review the implementation of the Board diversity
policy from time to time to ensure its effectiveness on determining the
optimum composition of the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
guidelines for the Nomination Committee to nominate suitable
candidate(s) to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations
to the Shareholders for election or re-election as Director(s) at a
general meeting of the Company or recommendations to the Board for
appointment or re-election as Director(s).

1. Selection Criteria

1.1 In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the factors (as
reference), including but not limited to reputation, integrity,
accomplishment and relevant experience in relation to the
principal businesses of the Company from time to time,
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest,
diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. These factors are for reference only, and are
not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

1.2 Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those serving
as independent non-executive Directors for a period of 9
years (or above), the Nomination Committee will consider the
independence of such Director for nomination by the Board to
stand for election at a general meeting and state the reason
in a circular to the Shareholders for the re-election. For those
serving as independent non-executive directors for 7 (or more)
listed companies, the Nomination Committee will consider
why they would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board for nomination by the Board to stand for appointment
or re-election at a general meeting and state the reason in a
circular to the Shareholders for election or re-election.

1.3 Candidate(s) is required to submit the necessary personal
information pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, together with their written consent to be
appointed as Director(s) and to the public disclosure of their
personal data on any documents or the relevant websites for
the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as
Director(s).

1.4 The Nomination Committee may. request the candidate(s) to
provide additional information-and documents, if necessary.
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2. Nomination Procedures

2.1 The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a
meeting of the Nomination Committee and invite nominations
of candidate(s) from members of the Board, if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may nominate candidate(s) without nomination by
a member of the Board.

2.2 For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidate(s) to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

2.3 Information (including names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
proposed remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations) of the
candidate(s) nominated by the Board to stand for election at
a general meeting will be stated in a circular to be sent to the
Shareholders.

24 The Shareholder can serve a notice to the Company’s
company secretary to propose a resolution to elect a
person as Director, without the Board's recommendation or
the Nomination Committee’s nomination pursuant to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. The particulars of
the candidate(s) so proposed as required pursuant to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations will be stated in a
circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

2.5 A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to
the Company’s company secretary.

2.6 The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at
any general meeting.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee pursuant to
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with specific terms of reference, which
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
The Audit Committee consists of all of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman), Mr. Lau King Lung
and Mr. Shang Hai Long.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia, reviewing the
interim and annual financial statements and making recommendation
to the Board, reviewing the terms of engagement and making
recommendation to the Board regarding the appointment of external
auditors of the Company, monitoring and assessing the independence
of external auditors and effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems and oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting, controlling, accounting policies and practices (with external
auditors and management of the Company) and risk management and
internal control issues.
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During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and the attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out below:
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Members of the Audit Committee Attendance
BZZEENE HERR
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman) FIRRLE (F/EF) 3/3
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (resigned on 15 April 2024) REBERE (W ZEZWFEM A+ F HEFE) N/A 778 F3
Mr. Lau King Lung P2 L 3/3
Mr. Li Yin Quan (appointed on 1 April 2024 and 5| REE (W ZEZWFNE—HEZE

resigned on 20 August 2024) P ZEZPIFEN LG+ HEE) 11
Mr. Shang Hai Long B ERE T

(appointed on 20 August 2024) (R mFE/\FA =+ HEZF) 2/2

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed
and discussed with the senior management and the external auditors
of the Company the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024,
the interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2024 and
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company.
In addition, the Audit Committee also reviewed with the senior
management and/or professional advisers of the Company, among
other things, internal control and risk management, the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal audit function, the continuing connected
transactions of the Group and the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Group's accounting and financial
reporting functions as well as their training programmes and budget.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and
timely publication of the financial statements and ensure that they are
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors have adopted suitable
accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group's operations
and relevant to the financial statements and have presented an
understandable assessment of the Group's position and prospects.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the independent auditor’s report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company's external auditors, Ernst & Young, in respect of
audit services and other services is set out as follows which had been
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee based on the scopes of
their works:

SMES 2 2R EMEN =

R&E_Z_RE=-R=+—HULWHEE"
BN/ ENFERRINEZBENLZ K BT E
B2 ZBRFREMRFZ 2ME (EREES
EREETFEEERAMERRME $7W
T &

Approximate fees
paid/payable to

Ernst & Young

Bt ETF

Lk gt =T

ZHBHNER

Services rendered for the Group HK$’000

RIEFAEEZ R FET
Audit services with respect to the annual financial FEMBHRR 2 IZERP

statements 2,100

Other audit services H iz SRS 3,360

Non-audit services IERZBUBRTS 1,066

Total “ast 6,526

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems during the financial year
under review. Regular review is set to be conducted once per year.
While the management of the Group is responsible for implementing
and maintaining sound risk management and internal control systems
that safeguard the Group's assets and stakeholders' interest in aspects
including operation, financial and compliance, the systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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Risk management process

The Group has established risk management manual to formulate the
risk management process and management is committed to fostering
a risk aware and control conscious environment. The staff in all levels
within the Group are also required to take the relevant responsibility on
the risk management process. The structure and procedures for the risk
management are as follows:
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Both internal and external factors
including economic, political, social,
technology and environmental
factors, laws and regulations,
business objectives and stakeholders’
expectation would be considered.

Risk identification

The risk identified would be assessed
and rated based on the likelihood
and impact to the achievement of the
Group's objectives.

Risk assessment

Control activities The internal control procedures have
been designed and implemented to
address the risks.

Risk monitoring Risk register has been maintained and
updated regularly to monitor risks on

an ongoing basis.

Risk management review The Board and the Audit Commi
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Internal audit function

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Company appointed
external advisers to perform the ongoing monitoring of the systems
of internal control of the Group and report their findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee and follow up the status
of implementation of the recommendations to ensure all significant
control activities are properly in place within the Group.

The Group has adopted a risk-based approach in developing the annual
audit plan to cover business activities with material risks across the
Group. The rotation basis would be applied to operations with similar
risk associated so as to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the
internal audit.

All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies
for the financial year under review have been communicated to
management, who are required to establish remedial plans to correct
those internal control deficiencies within a reasonable time period. Post-
audit review is performed to monitor those agreed recommendations
having been implemented as intended and on a timely basis.

Based on the audit result and post-audit review, the advisers reported
that no significant deficiency on the internal control system of the
Group for the financial year under review had been noted.

Review on risk management and internal control systems

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems for the
financial year ended 31 March 2025 and confirmed that the Group's
risk management and internal control systems in respect of financial,
operational, compliance controls, risk management functions and
adequacy of resources, were effective and adequate.

Information disclosure and inside information policy

The Group discloses information in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong
and the Stock Exchange, releases its periodic reports and interim
announcements to the public in accordance with law, and discloses
important information such as the Group’s financial results, material
information changes and information on significant projects to the
market on a timely basis, bearing in mind the timeliness, fairness,
accuracy, authenticity and completeness of information disclosure,
therefore protecting the legal interests of investors and stakeholders.
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The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has
established policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside
information to the public when available. The senior management of
the Group will take all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure
that the disclosure of inside information is in compliance with the
requirements of all applicable laws and regulations.

Anti-Corruption Compliance Policy

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standards of
legal and ethical conduct across all its business activities. To uphold
this commitment, the Company has adopted an Anti-Corruption
Compliance Policy that applies to all Directors, officers, employees,
agents, and associated personnel. The Policy strictly prohibits bribery,
kickbacks, and any form of corruption, whether direct or indirect.
Company personnel are expressly forbidden from offering, giving,
soliciting, or accepting anything of value to gain or retain an improper
business advantage.

The Policy is supported by robust internal controls designed to prevent
corruption, avoid any appearance of wrongdoing, and enable the
Company to respond promptly and effectively to any related concerns.
Any breach of this Policy may result in disciplinary action, including
termination of employment. Employees are encouraged to seek advice
from the designated Director if they have any questions regarding
compliance.

Whistleblowing policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the
achieving of highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability. Procedures are formulated to assist individual employee
to disclose internally and at a high level, information which the
individual believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety within the
Group. Such policy is made available on the website of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in order to promote greater
dividend policy transparency. In deciding whether to recommend
the payment of dividend to the Shareholders, the Board will take
into account of a number of factors, including but not limited to the
Company's operation and financial performance, liquidity condition,
capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate, subject to the
applicable rules of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company. Based
on these factors, the determination of dividend distribution, the amount
and frequency, will be made at the discretion of the Board.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that
Board procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently
and effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through
adherence to proper Board processes and timely preparation of and
dissemination to the Directors comprehensive Board meeting agendas
and papers. Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the company secretary to record in
sufficient details the matters considered and decisions reached by the
Board or Board committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views voiced by any Director. All draft and finalised minutes of the
Board meetings and meetings of the Board committees are sent to the
Directors or Board committee members as appropriate for comments,
approval and records. All records are available for inspection by any
Director upon request.

The company secretary reports directly to the Board and is responsible
for, inter alia, providing updated information to all Directors from time
to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, Ms. Ng complied with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is conscious of its role as an environmentally and socially
responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community
wellbeing from time to time and has environmentally friendly policies
in place. We support the communities and encourage our employees
to participate in charitable events and environmental protection
activities. The environmental policies and performance of the Group
are disclosed in a separate Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company to be published on the Company’s website at
www.cnagri-products.com and the Stock Exchange's website at
www.hkexnews.hk.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with its shareholders and investors (both individual and
institutional) to ensure that the Group'’s information is disseminated to
the stakeholders and investors in a timely manner and enable them
to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance. In effort to
solicit and understand the views of Shareholders, the Company has
adopted a shareholders’ communication policy setting out various
communication channels, including: (i) timely publication of corporate
information on the Company's website; (ii) distribution of corporate
communications in printed or electronic form; and (iii) holding annual
general meetings to provide platform for shareholders to raise questions
and exchange views with the Board.
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Having considered the multiple communication and engagement
channels in place, the Board is satisfied that the shareholder’s
communication policy was properly implemented and effective during
the financial year under review.

Convening of Special General Meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the secretary of the Company, to require a special general
meeting (the “SGM") to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to bye-law 62 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM shall
be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act’), and, in default, may be convened by
the requisitionist(s).

Pursuant to bye-law 63 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM may be
called by notice in writing of not less than fourteen days.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Section 74 of the Companies Act once a valid
requisition is received.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting
rights at the date of the requisition may put forward a proposal at a
Shareholders’ meeting, pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act
and bye-law 62 of the bye-laws of the Company, by sending a written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company at
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong. The proposal
should be stated in the written requisition and such written requisition
should be submitted as early as practicable to enable the Company to
make necessary arrangement (in case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before the meeting; and in case of
any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting).
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For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must provide their full
name, contact details and identification, in the originally signed written
requisition, notice or statement (as the case may be), in order to give
effect thereto. Information of Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as
required by law.

Propose a person for election as a director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as director(s)
at a general meeting of the Company are outlined in the subtitle
“Procedures of Election of Director” of the “Corporate Governance”
section under “Investor Relations” on the website of the Company at
www.cnagri-products.com.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board and/or the
secretary of the Company, either by post, by facsimiles or by email,
together with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or
fax number, via the following channels:

For corporate affairs:
Address: China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2312 8288
Fax: (852) 2312 8148
Email: pr@cnagri-products.com

For shareholding or entitlement affairs:

Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

The Company encourages the Shareholders to participate in the
Company's annual general meetings and/or other general meetings,
at which the Directors are on hand to answer questions raised by the
Shareholders on the Company's business operations.
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Corporate Website

A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the Company's
website (http://www.cnagri-products.com). Information on the
Company'’s website is updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange, if
appropriate, is also posted on the Company’s website immediately
thereafter. Such information includes financial statements,
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
associated explanatory documents etc.

All presentation materials (if any) provided in conjunction with the
Company’s annual general meeting and results announcements each
year will be made available on the Company’s website as soon as
practicable after their release.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the memorandum of association and bye-laws
of the Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

The memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Board will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
stakeholders of the Company.
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The board of directors (the “Board” or the "Director(s)’) of China
Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company” together with
its subsidiaries the “Group”) present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of management
and sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in
Hong Kong and the PRC. Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
as at 31 March 2025 are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a fair
review of the business and a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year under review, an analysis of the Group's performance using
financial key performance indicators, an indication of likely future
development in the Group's business and a discussion on the Group's
environmental policies and performance and compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group, can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition,
a discussion on relationships with its key stakeholders is included
in the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report. These discussions
form part of this report of the directors. A separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report’) will provide detailed
disclosures on the Group's environmental policies and performance,
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and relationships with
key stakeholders.

To the best knowledge of the Board, the Group has complied in all
material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 205 of this
annual report.

The Directors did not recommend any payment of final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). No interim dividend was
paid to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the
six months ended 30 September 2024 (30 September 2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

Details of the dividend policy of the Company are set out in the section
headed "Dividend Policy” in the Corporate Governance Report of this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options of the
Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2025, together with
the reasons therefor, are set out in notes 30 and 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the financial year under review, other than the Share Option
Scheme as set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has not
entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on page 208 of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the financial year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Details of movements in the financial assets of the Group during the
financial year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in notes 19 to 23 and 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

On 31 March 2024 (the "Redemption Date’), the Company has
redeemed all outstanding Listed Notes (i.e. in the principal amount
of HK$40 million) pursuant to condition 6(B) (Early redemption right
of the Issuer) of the terms and conditions of the Listed Notes (the
“Conditions”) set out in the offering circular dated 19 May 2014 (the
"Offering Circular’) and the pricing supplement to the Offering
Circular dated 26 May 2014, at a price equal to 92.88% of the principal
amount excluding interest accrued to and including the Redemption
Date.

Subsequent to the redemption of all outstanding Listed Notes, the
Listed Notes were delisted on 8 April 2024.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company
(including treasury Shares) during the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

Besides, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries held any
treasury Shares as at 31 March 2025.

RELIEF FROM TAXATION

During the financial year under review, the Directors are not aware of
any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by reason of their
holding the Company’s securities.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution to equity holders of the Company calculated in accordance
with the Companies Act.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year under review and up to the date
of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Chairman)

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Ka Kit

Ms. Luo Xu Ying

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen
Mr. Shang Hai Long
(appointed on 20 August 2024)
Mr. Li Yin Quan
(resigned on 20 August 2024)
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung
(resigned on 15 April 2024)

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr.
Tang Ching Ho, Mr. Wong Ka Kit and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

All independent non-executive Directors’ terms of office will be renewed
automatically after the re-election, unless prematurely terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective letters of
appointment, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 and the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the existing independent non-executive Directors to
be independent as at the date of this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 30 to 35 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with any company in the Group which is
not determinable by such company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during
or at the end of the year under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Every Director and officer are entitled to be indemnified and held
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, losses or liabilities which they may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done about the execution of the duties of their
respective office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Company and its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be entered in
the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code"), were as follows:
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(A) Long positions in the ordinary shares (the “Shares”)
and underlying shares of the Company:

Name of Director

Nature of interest

ExaE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHRS

(A) RELTZER (TRR171) KRABRARR D
il — i

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
total issued
Shares
BT
BRITRIDEAH
2B AL
(Note a)
(Hizta)

%

Total Number
of Shares and
underlying
Shares involved

Ffi it B 15 R
HHRAR S B

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang") Interest of controlled corporations 5,682,514,594 57.09%
BB (T4 SRPEHEE S (Note b)
(K1aEb)

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond Beneficial owner 50,000,000 0.50%
(“Mr. Leung’) Bm#EEA (Note ¢)
FimEr g (TR%%E)) (Hiztc)

Mr. Wong Ka Kit (“Mr. Wong") Beneficial owner 25,000,000 0.25%
BRERE (HRED) EmEAA (Note d)
(H1ztd)

Ms. Luo Xu Ying (“Ms. Luo”) Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.06%
#E=Ez L (MERL)) BEmESA (Note e)
(#izte)

Notes: Wizt :

(a)

(b)

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO.

Among of the 5,682,514,594 Shares, 2,007,700,062 Shares were held by
Onger Investments Limited ("Onger Investments’) and 3,674,814,532
Shares were held by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time"). Onger
Investments and Rich Time were directly wholly owned by Wang On
Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE’, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Wang On Group Limited (“WOG") which was owned as to approximately
42.80%) by Mr. Tang, together with his associates).

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website
of the Stock Exchange, Mr. Leung held 50,000,000 underlying Shares,
representing interests in share options granted to the Director under the
share option scheme of the Company to subscribe for the Shares, further
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

@ EEHLHREEGBERAEE) RS
B AR R B AR B o

(b) $5,682,514,5948% %15 2 # > 2,007,700,062
B B3 FHOnger Investments Limited
(FfOnger Investments |) TA XK
3,674,814,5328% B2 17 HHRich Time Strategy
Limited (FTRich Time]) %A cOnger
Investments&Rich TimeHWang On
Enterprises (BVI) Limited (TWOE | > A= % &
EERAR (MBE%R) > HEEEERHEBE
ABEF/42.80%) 2EEEZ2ENBRAE) B
E2EHER-

() RIBEBNVBZAABILTIEERFBERE
24 E+57550,000,0000% HERIRRD » BAR
BERESIETRTESINEROZE
R HE— D FH N TERE A
_§ﬁ°
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(d) Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website
of the Stock Exchange, Mr. Wong held 25,000,000 underlying Shares,
representing interests in share options granted to the Director under the
share option scheme of the Company to subscribe for the Shares, further
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

(e) Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website
of the Stock Exchange, Ms. Luo held 6,000,000 underlying Shares,
representing interests in share options granted to the Director under the
share option scheme of the Company to subscribe for the Shares, further
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

(B) Interest in the shares and underlying shares of

associated corporations:

Name of
associated
corporations

Name of
Director

EEnE MREEE T

Mr. Tang WYT
oL fuct®

Wang On Properties
Limited ("WOP")
REMERRAF
(TREHME)

WOG
RE

Nature of interest

EEE

(d) RIFPEZATABILTI > ERFERE
=R E 25,000,000 EREIRMD  BEA
BEREAIETETESIEROG 2B
R HiE— D EH N MERE A

_"'D o

(e) MRIBMREB AT ERFERE
L L FFH6,000,0008HEAKD > BAAT
EREASETRTESIEROZBER
LR HiE— S BanR IEREE L —
o

(B) M ER Z 15 R ABRAAR (D Z ik -

Approximate
percentage of
the associated
corporation’s
total issued
shares
1R E A E
BRITRITAEAR
2 E AL
(Note f)

(Wt &2f)

%

Total number of
shares involved

RHEEE
FRi% Bg 10 4 8L
(Note g)
(H1ztg)

Interest of controlled corporation 810,322,940 72.02
RPEGEE S

Interest of controlled corporation 11,400,000,000 75.00
R EEE R

Interest of controlled corporation 1,017,915,306

REREE T

Beneficial Owner 28,026,339

BamEA A

Interest of spouse 28,026,300

BB m

Founder of a discretionary trust 4,989,928,827

2REFERITZA

Total 6,063,896,772 42.80
Hast
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Notes:

(f)  The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO.

() With reference to note (b) above, 810,322,940 shares of WYT were
held by Rich Time; 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by Earnest
Spot Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE). Amongst the
1,017,915,306 shares of WOG held under interest of controlled corporation,
486,915,306 shares were held by Caister Limited (a direct wholly-owned
company of Mr. Tang) and 531,000,000 shares were held by Billion Trader
Investments Limited (an indirect wholly-owned company of Mr. Tang).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their
respective associates had any other interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 May 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“2012 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group. During
the financial year under review, 10,000,000 and 10,000,000 share options
were lapsed in September 2024 and November 2024, respectively. Save
as disclosed above, no share options under 2012 Scheme were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed. The 2012 Scheme was terminated on 2
May 2022, the last effective date of the 2012 Scheme, no further share
options was granted under it since then but the share options granted
prior to such termination will continue to be valid and exercisable
during the prescribed exercisable period in accordance with the terms
of the 2012 Scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022
Scheme’) with the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022 for the
primary purpose of providing incentives and recognition for the eligible
participants (the “Participants”) for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group with the same terms as the 2012 Scheme as
detailed below. During the financial year under review, no share options
were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2022 Scheme.
Participants include directors of the Group, including independent non-
executive directors and employees, who work for any member of the
Group and/or any person or entity that provides services to any member
of the Group. The 2022 Scheme became effective on 26 August 2022
and will remain in force for a period of 10 years to 25 August 2032.
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Under the 2022 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the
Participants to subscribe for the Shares. The offer of a grant of share
options must be accepted by the relevant Participants within 14 days
after the date of grant upon payment of a consideration of HKS1 for
each lot of share options granted. The exercise price is to be determined
by the Board and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share.

The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Shareholders. Options granted to
substantial Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors, or any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and
with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved
in advance by the Shareholders. There is no specific requirement that
an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be
exercised but the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. The
period during which an option may be exercised will be determined
by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be
exercised for a period of more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the
Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares, if any) as at the date of
approval by the Shareholders at general meeting. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2022
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company at any
time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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TE - HFHECEBRENBE_ZT_AF=
A=+—BHLEMBEEZEZFHFRNT :

Details of the movements of the share options under the 2012 Scheme
during the financial year ended 31 March 2025 were as follows:

Number of share options

FRRREHE
Outstanding Closing price
Name or Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat Exercise immediately
category of asat 1 April during during  duringthe  during the 31 March Date price Validity before
Participant 2024 the year the year year year 2025 of grant per share period date of grant
RIBZNE RZEZRE EsEh
mA—H =B=t+-H R#AIZ
2HEM L HER HETHE REABE REATE REAZHE RERKY HATHE  BHAH SROEE B Wi B
HKS (Note)
BT (Hiat)
Director
S
Leung Sui Wah, 50,000,000 = = = = 50,000,000 3.1.2022 0.118 3.1.2022- 0.117
Raymond 2.1.2032
Wong Ka Kit 25,000,000 - - - - 25,000,000 3.1.2022 0.118 3.1.2022- 0.117
ERHG 212032
Luo Xu Ying 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000 3.1.2022 0.118 3.1.2022- 0.117
BEE 2.1.2032
Other employees 80,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 60,000,000 3.1.2022 0.118 3.1.2022- 0.117
HitiEE 212032
Total 161,000,000 = - = 20,000,000 141,000,000
45t
Note: Wit
The share options granted under the 2012 Scheme were vested as follows: REZS——EHEBEZBRELZUTAXEE :
On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant: 20% vested RIEBHHBZHE=BEF: B E20%
On the 4th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested MIEHBEAZ EMBE : 57 B §8 5 20%
On the 5th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested MRIZHHBZHHBE : BB EEIN20%
On the 6th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested RRIZRHHRBZ H/NBEF - BB B EEIN20%
On the 7th anniversary of the date of grant: Remaining 20% vested MRIZHBHZELHEF . 57 /B FIER20%

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of the Shares
available for issue under the 2012 Scheme is 141,000,000, representing
approximately 1.42% of the existing issued share capital of the Company

(excluding treasury Shares, if any).

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of shares available for issue
under the 2022 Scheme is 995,306,782 Shares, representing 10% of the
Company’s total issued share capital (excluding treasury Shares, if any).

Other particulars of the 2012 Scheme and the 2022 Scheme are set out

in note 34 to the financial statements.

RAFEHRHE > —F— _F+8 BN T T
Z B 4B 8 A141,000,0000% » (5 R AT IRE E %
TRA (FEBEEERD  WB) £491.42%°

RCE_RHFEF=HA=+—H'BE_T=_—
=B Al 8217 2 PR 15 4B 804 995,306,7828% » 1h 24
NEEBTRAER FTEEEERD WA 2

10% °
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” as set
out above and in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, at
no time during the financial year ended 31 March 2025 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures
of, the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouses or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 March 2025, the
following corporations or persons (other than the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed or taken to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares:

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest

(e P

WOE Beneficial owner

BmEAA
WOG Interest of controlled corporation
RE REEHEEER

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin
VA E g

Family interest
RIGHE s
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MFFREEN REE S _HAF=A=+—
HIEMBFEENEREGRE > A28 8 ERER
EXYREZENEBRNEN F LR EEMAE
FoMRLEAZBWERDNERZN S AE
"Hm ARFMETEETABERESN HERQ
Bl BN E AR ES] L2 R EE
FREARBEAEMEABBRNZEER -

F 2RI B AER RS 2
RE

RIBEZRE=ZRA=+—H BEFEMEN T
JEBFIANT (BEERNEARTDETETHRARRK
SN BER S R EFRR AT AR R RBE(ES
REIEHRG) B3R REFEEZELMAALEHEZ
RIDABRARG Z BES KA -

RiRBZEE:

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s total
issued shares
2]
BRITRMEH
ZEEHN B
(Note a)

(Ht5ta)

%

Total number of
Shares involved

5,682,514,594
(Note b)
(H5#b)

57.09

5,682,514,594
(Note b)
(HtaE b)

57.09

5,682,514,594 57.09
(Note c)

(Htatc)



Notes:

(@) The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure form(s)
filed under the SFO.

(b) Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, among of the 5,682,514,594 Shares, 2,007,700,062 Shares were
held by Onger Investments Limited ("Onger Investments”) and 3,674,814,532
Shares were held by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time"). Onger
Investments and Rich Time were directly wholly owned by Wang On Enterprises
(BVI) Limited ("WOE’, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On Group
Limited ("WOG") which was owned as to approximately 42.80%) by Mr. Tang,
together with his associates).

(c) As at 31 March 2025, pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on
the website of the Stock Exchange, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin ("Mrs. Tang") was taken to
be interested in the 5,682,514,594 Shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang Ching
Ho, was deemed to be interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, there were no other
persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) who had any interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

All of the Group's subsidiaries are equal opportunity employers, with
the selection and promotion of individuals based on suitability for the
position offered. The salary and benefit levels of the Group’s employees
are kept at a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance related basis within the general framework of the Group's
emolument policies.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and the Directors
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The Company has adopted the share
option schemes as an incentive to the Directors and eligible participants.
Details of the share option schemes are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” of this annual report and note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The employees of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China are
members of the Central Pension Scheme operated by the Mainland
China government. There were no forfeited contributions (by employers
on behalf of employees who leave the retirement benefits scheme prior
to vesting fully in such contributions) be used to reduce the existing
level of contributions during the financial year ended 31 March 2025.
As at 31 March 2025, no forfeited contribution under the retirement
benefits schemes of the Group is available to reduce the contribution
payable in future years. Particulars of these retirement schemes are set
out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

With regard to the environmental policies, the Group aims to
minimise the Group's environmental impact. The Group is committed
to promoting awareness and decisions that contribute to achieving
environmentally sustainable development. The Group will comply fully
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We will use
fuel, water and other natural resources efficiently and conservatively.
We recognise this to be a continuous process of improvement and we
seek to actively look for environmentally-friendly options and carry
out environmentally-friendly practices whenever appropriate and
possible. The environmental policies and performance of the Group
are disclosed in a separate Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company to be published on the Company’s website at
www.cnagri-products.com and the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the percentages of sales
and purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest customers and five
largest suppliers, respectively, were both less than 5%.

At no time during the financial year under review have the Directors
or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the issued Shares)
had any interests in any of the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$969,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$3,244,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements, no controlling Shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries has any contract of significance with the Company or its
subsidiaries during the financial year under review.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the financial year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on corporate governance principles
and practices adopted by the Company and any deviation to the code
provisions of the CG Code, if any, during the financial year under review
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 36 to 61 of this
annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report which are
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions and
which are not fully exempt, have been disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions”
in the this annual report and all the connected transactions and/
or continuing connected transactions, have complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Sale and Purchase Agreement

On 13 December 2024, the Company had entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement’) with Wang
On Commercial Management Limited (an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of WOG) in respect of the acquisition of the entire issued
share capital of Regal Smart Investment Limited (‘Regal Smart’) and
shareholder’s loans of Regal Smart owed to WOG and its subsidiaries at
a total consideration of HK$150 million. Since WOG was the controlling
shareholder of the Company and was therefore a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules, the entering into of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder
constituted a connected transaction for the Company under the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Master Licensing Agreement

On 1 October 2022, the Group and WOG entered into a master licensing
agreement which sets out the general principles and key terms
governing the definitive licensing agreements under which relevant
members of WOG may grant license of, and the Group may take up the
license of the premises from 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2025.
Details were disclosed in the joint announcement of, inter alia, the
Company, WYT and WOG dated 1 October 2022.

Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the master licensing
agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Rules 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
aggregate amount of license fee paid by the Group to WOG and its
subsidiaries was approximately HK$3,165,000 for the financial year under
review, and the aggregate amount of the right-of use assets recognised
by the Group upon entering into individual licensing agreements with
WOG and its subsidiaries was Nil for the financial year under review.

Dealer Agreement

On 11 July 2024, the Company entered into the Dealer Agreement
with Wang On Securities for a term of three years in relation to the
establishment of HK$1,000,000,000 medium term note programme
(the "Programme”) pursuant to which Wang On Securities had been
appointed as the arranger and dealer with respect to the Programme
and the Unsecured Notes to be issued thereunder. Details were
disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and WOG dated
11 July 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 1 August 2024.

As Wang On Securities was owned indirectly as to 34% by WOG and was
therefore WOG's associate, Wang On Securities was a connected person
of the Company, the entering into of the Dealer Agreement constituted
a continuing connected transaction of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Dealer
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Rules 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
aggregate amount of commission payable by the Group to Wang On
Securities in relation to the subscription of unsecured notes by procured
subscribers under the Programme was approximately HK$2,730,000 for
the financial year under review.
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The Directors (including all of the independent non-executive
Directors) have reviewed and confirmed that the mentioned continuing
connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of the Group's business; (ii) in accordance with the terms of
the respective agreements governing such transactions on terms that
were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole; (iii) either on normal commercial terms or on
terms no less favorable to the Group than those available to or from
independent third parties; and (iv) have not exceeded the respective
caps.

Ernst & Young was engaged to report on the Group's continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed, confirming that (i) nothing has come to
their attention that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the
Board; (ii) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor
to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (i) nothing has come
to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions; and (iv) with respect
to the aggregate amounts of the disclosed continuing connected
transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the amounts have exceeded the annual caps
as disclosed in the announcements dated 1 October 2022 and 11 July
2024 respectively. A copy of the auditor's letter has been provided by
the Company to the Stock Exchange.

All the connected transactions and/or continuing connected
transactions, as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, have complied with the requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued Shares as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the financial year ended 31
March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEURE

EX(BEREBBUIFNTES CERLHRER
FHRFERERZHOREAEBAER—RE
BB FE]IL (VR BREZ TR Z Z 8/ 155
BRETI > FRBATEEERNSARTRKRE
ZEEMNG (N —REEERIEEERM
ENBEREILE =75 P ES SR 2 RRRET AL
Re(iv) it 2 48 tH AR A £ IR o

KGN EHNEZEREE BN E
nafh 2 BB LE R ER]FE30005% (IERT) TF
B EFEEH BT BEXZ ZEEE I 2R
BERREAE74058 (RIER]) TR &8 LA
PRt FERER G 2 RNV A EE 25
BB ZFHRE -

KB MEBFAEMAAKREZ RERERS
RHHEAHERMERZERERRR M
ROMELEEBINERSES ZEEMAEEFT
REZFEHEXSREEEGHAE (IR
FEBRHEERVRFTZREME  RELE
ARAEAFESRBMEERXERZEME
ERDEAERREAERZ EBBERET ;i)
REAGEIBINEMNEFHESRUMBEZER
SHERERFTEAARBREZERZ ZEH
WEFTIL; RIVAIERBERERERZ 2B E
EME  RELEIZINEMEESZEAME
ERFERBEERONNR T "F+A—
BRZZ_NFLtR+—HBZAMAKREZE
E LR o 252 5] B 3 B 52 By 12 {1 1% BU8m & 14 &
Z o

AP BRERMENPIRENFAAERERZ K&
SEFERERZHFE LHRAUETHASZY
RIE °

RERZABFGRE

BRBARNBFABZARENRIBESHIA R
HE T _AE=-RA=+t—HLEHHREEAK
BEEAERAPAELL AATEIRE LHEL
ZRE RESAT B ETRM BT R25%
HEHARTRSE

2025 Annual Report
“EhEER

79



80

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ERRHE

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Unsecured Notes

On 3 April 2025, the Company issued the Unsecured Notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$38 million will be mature in 3 April
2037. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 April 2025.

Sale and Leaseback Arrangement

On 20 May 2025, Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as lessee), and Puyang Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale
Marketplace Limited, a 75%-owned subsidiary of CAP (as lessee),
entered into (i) the sale and Leaseback agreement in respect of the
sale and leaseback of the certain construction projects in Puyang City
and Luoyang City involving sheds and certain equipment at a sale
price of RMB51.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$55.3 million);
and (ii) the sale and leaseback agreement in respect of the sale and
leaseback of certain construction projects in Puyang City and Luoyang
City involving sheds and certain equipment at a sale price of RMB20.4
million (equivalent to approximately HK$22.1 million) with Haier
Financial Services China Co., Ltd (as lessor). For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 May 2025.

Disposal of Equity Interests in a Non-wholly Owned
Subsidiary

On 30 May 2025, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”),a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into the capital
reduction agreement with Yulin Investment Group Co., Ltd. in respect
of the disposal of Century Choice’s equity interest in Yulin Hongjin
Agricultural By-products Wholesale Marketplace Limited (EM 7% 2
BlERILETHAERAT), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, at a total consideration of RMB24.69 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$26.58 million). For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 May 2025.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2025 have been audited by Ernst & Young, whose term of
office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the external
auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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To the shareholders of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Agri-Products
Exchange Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 87 to 205, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
BWIZHBEN RS (@)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuec)

FEEZEE®

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities  FRFIB KL BT AR S MZEFI T BIZE S M FBRE
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, ZEARIEMET —HBAN ST SEEBAREEZ
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the EIEMEBINEE - FIL AN BZ TIEBFERNT
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks 2 FE ¥t s h 4R & M IR RN B AR AR MRS
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results HIEIZIEF - HFARNTEZRREFNER >  GIFEEY
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the F#iBIBBIZFEFIAITHREFE AR ERE
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 2 &RBIZ= RIBMHER -

consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

BREZEIE

Valuation of investment properties

REWFILE

The Group holds various investment properties in Mainland China
for rental earning purposes. These investment properties are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period and
the aggregate carrying amount of these investment properties
was HKS$2,595,727,000 as at 31 March 2025, which represented
approximately 61% of the total assets of the Group.
SEEETFREAMTE ZEREYEFRIES AR -REY
ERNBRSPRURATESFE R _E_AF=RA=+—8"
ZEREYENBIREE52,595727,00087T b SEEEEE
EE#I61%°

The Group engaged an external valuer to perform the valuations of
these investment properties as at 31 March 2025. In the absence of
current prices in an active market for similar properties, the external
valuer considered information from a variety of sources such as
estimated rental value of the properties with similar locations and
conditions and made assumptions about the capitalisation rates.
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The valuation of investment properties has been identified as a key
audit matter because significant estimation is required to determine
the fair values of the investment properties, which reflect market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.
HREERBNBSHARATHBRANRENEATEERER
RiEst AR EY = EER A B EAEEZEE

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the valuation
of investment properties are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
ERRBEMEGENSSFBRREBEHRN GV HERERME
24316 °
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAEBZHNEESZE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:

AEREYELENEZEFSENTRE

obtaining and reviewing the management’s assessment
and the valuation reports prepared by the external valuer
engaged by the Group on which the management’s
assessment of the fair value of the investment properties
was based;
BGIEREEETMUREEETERENERT
BEFTER BSEBEEZ INEREERFTAR RN GE
BRE S

assessing the external valuer’s qualification, experience and
expertise and considering their competence, objectivity and
independence;

FHESMNEMEEMNER KRR EENH TEREE
BB KRB ;

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
assessing the valuation methodologies applied and the key
parameters adopted in the valuations, including estimated
rental value and capitalisation rates, etc, on a sampling
basis; and

EERFAEEEZERHET » R TEEEPTER A
NEER = RFTRANEEES % aiEdstHsBE
REXREESE ;

comparing property-related data used as inputs for the
valuations with underlying documentation, such as lease
agreements, etc,, on a sampling basis.

AR EE B E R4 £ 4B B & A BUR = R AR RA S - 4
MEERES -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continveq)

Key audit matter
R EIZEIHR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
B ZHETIR S (&

FAEEZEE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAEE&PNEESZ

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

TEEYERIFIELHEYEZ TR T FE

The Group's properties under development and properties held for
sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. As at
31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying amount of these properties
was HK$1,031,995,000, which represented approximately 24% of the
total assets of the Group.
BEEENTEMERFEEENEZMARIISBIZFEZR
BEHE-RZEHF=A=1+—H> ZEWENLEAEE
#$1,031,995,0007 7T » 1 & E B4R E E4924% ©

Management's assessment of the net realisable value of properties
under development and properties held for sale is based on the
estimated selling prices and costs necessary to complete the
development, if any, and to sell these properties. Management of
the Group has also made reference to the valuations carried out by
an external valuer engaged by the Group in the estimation. This has
been identified as a key audit matter because significant estimation
is required to determine the net realisable value of the properties
under development and properties held for sale, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.
EEENEEENERFTERHEYEZ ISR FETER
STEBURTMHRAZ WA RHEZEMEMTB LRS- &
EEEEBETESRT2E EEBED 2 G EMETT
ZAh{E - AR EE R R EIARTIBR TN EEZY ERFE
HEMESEFEREEAME BRI SRR EZS
=)

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the properties
under development and properties held for sale are included in
notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
ARAERMERSFHENENGABREBRES NGRS
R RMIE24 317 ©

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of
properties under development and properties held for sale
included the following:

THETE R EMRELEYEIERFENEREFBHE
UREIE:

obtaining and reviewing the management’s assessment and
the valuation reports prepared by the external valuer on
which the management’s assessment of the net realisable
value of properties under development and properties held
for sale was based;

RETEREEENT G U EEE T GEREY =
T 15 15 1 & 1) 2 o] B2 3R % B P A 4% FR 90 2B (e (BB P 4
SN HERS

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience and
expertise and considering their competency, objectivity and
independence; and

S IMERE BRIV E S B R B WEEHE
BB REILN ; &

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
assessing the valuation methodologies applied and the key
parameters adopted in the valuations, including estimated
selling prices and estimated costs necessary to make the
sale, etc,, on a sampling basis.
EEMAEBEEZRBE T R GERERA
B A R PTERA R RE R 2 80 B & s & B RH
P A N
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
BWIZHBEN RS (@)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
PERERXZERAR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
B ZHETIR S (&

ZRET B AR G M B M RARIE
HEE

RANERSERELEFRSMBREERM
SR EFEARYFRNERMERNERHERR
o W B HEHARME ROZBENRE - AR
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THBEZIERERBREREMFENERE
SR [ER 2t o S5 R R it B (K HR 5F 20 #5 58 A 2E 0 {8 {8l 51 3K
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (continued)
BWIZHBEN RS (@)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Wong Cheuk Keung (practising certificate number: P05400).

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

30 June 2025

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
refmkEMEER@R

Year ended 31 March 2025 & E B _FF=HA=+—HLFE

2025
“E-RHE
HK'000
FERT
Revenue U % 5 530,761 579,132
Cost of sales FHE R ZS (234,372) (235,840)
Gross profit EF 296,389 343,292
Other income and gains H U A R Wz 6 46,858 119,261
General and administrative expenses — R ATE RS (169,608) (160,745)
Selling expenses HER (18,200) (36,373)
Gain on early redemption of unsecured notes REELEERER 2 WS - 14,106
Share of profits and losses of a joint venture MaEEhERR 379 -
Profit from operations before fair value AT EEFRFBER
changes and impairment e Feg | 155,818 279,541
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) <& &2 2 Jol (B B5 18 5 2]/
on financial assets, net CREEE) F58 (16,176) 628
Write-down of properties held for sale FIEREYZEZ MR - (2919)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at BAFERBRmARZ
fair value through profit or loss, net EMEEMNATE
Wi (B518) F28 (418) 120
Fair value losses on owned investment BERBYWEZRTE
properties, net 5187528 16 (12,041) (82,678)
Profit from operations EGET 127,183 194,692
Finance costs L& A A 8 (91,575) (111,575)
Profit before taxation FRIR AT EF) 7 35,608 83,117
Income tax expense Fri8f Bz 11 (3,481) (56,241)
Profit for the year EEERF 32,127 26,876

2025 Annual Report
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
fHrefnRkEMEEE@E #

Year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE—_E " AF=HB=+—HILEE

2025
ZEZHE
HK’000
FHET
Profit for the year REEEF 32,127 26,876
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hithz2mks ~ (§518)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that REEBABAENDEE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BmzHthEmiaE
subsequent periods: (&8 -
Exchange differences on translating foreign RMEEINEFHES I
operations, net PER ZREFEE (74,033) (83,953)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of 284 [E HE B A 5 B iR
subsidiaries during the year P B 52 156 15 32 12,940 -
Other comprehensive loss for the year AEEHMEEEE (61,093) (83,953)
Total comprehensive loss for the year SEEREEGISEEE (28,966) (57,077)
Profit for the year attributable to: UTALREEREEGF :
Owners of the parent BABEE A 7,833 7,353
Non-controlling interests PR 24,294 19,523
Total 45t 32,127 26,876
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for UTFTALEGEEEEZET
the year attributable to: Wik, (B518) 4858 -
Owners of the parent BABEE A (48,904) (66,353)
Non-controlling interests JEFE R = 19,938 9,276
Total #st (28,966) (57,077)

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary BATEFEFIFAEA

equity holders of the parent it SREF
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — B AR E#E GEL) 13 0.08 0.07

8 8 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXZHRAR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ira MBI R

31 March 2025 R _ 2" HE=H=+—H

2025 2024
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment LIEN =Y 14 66,365 61,988
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(2) 11,107 18,270
Investment properties REYE 16 2,595,727 2,809,556
Interests in a joint venture REELENER 18 152,740 =
Loan and interest receivables R E R e F & 21 9,755 8,021
Prepayments FETRIE 20 = 6,787
Deferred tax assets IRIEFRIBE B 28 4,089 5,320
Total non-current assets JERENE ELRRE 2,839,783 2,909,942
CURRENT ASSETS TMENE E
Properties under development EEYE 17 35,017 65,531
Properties held for sale BERE2YE 17 996,978 1,173,590
Trade receivables B 5 IR IE 19 1,280 2,055
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERIE ZE R EHAM
FEURIE 20 178,101 183,806
Loan and interest receivables R E = e F & 21 1,513 19,621
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss &~ FEAL B AR Z
ERMEE 22 57 475
Pledged bank deposits EIRIBIRITER 23 = 39611
Cash and bank balances HEeERREERE 23 181,673 243,435
Total current assets BB EME 1,394,619 1,728,124
CURRENT LIABILITIES ik E=N
Trade and other payables B 5 R E MR 24 300,079 255,504
Contract liabilities SHEE 25 67,115 158,693
Receipts in advance TEIRIE 136,900 192,143
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SEBTAREMEES 26 286,156 362,624
Unsecured notes IR E S 27 12,958 =
Lease liabilities HE&E 15(b) 2,961 6,064
Income tax payable FETERZHR 73,940 107,526
Total current liabilities mENB(RARER 880,109 1,082,554
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENE ERRE 514,510 645,570
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  #EERFEAE 3,354,293 3,555,512

2025 Annual Report
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continved)
REMBRIR @

31 March 2025 IR B2 " FF=H=+—H

2025 2024
—E_RE TETNE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHExT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREN AR
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SFERTTREMMEE 26 774,184 951,889
Unsecured notes IR 27 47,720 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 21,749 26,805
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE 28 483,605 508,074
Total non-current liabilities ERE S EAEEE 1,327,258 1,486,768
Net assets BEFE 2,027,035 2,068,744
EQUITY T
Equity attributable to owners of the parent B AT A AELiERD
Issued capital BEITRA 30(a) 99,531 99,531
Reserves Eis 30(b) 1,530,051 1,575,980
1,629,582 1,675,511
Non-controlling interests JERERR I = 397,453 393,233
Total equity T AEE 2,027,035 2,068,744
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond Tang Ching Ho
RInEE b= pr |
Director Director
EE BE

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXZHRAR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n\7l'|:l EE&@J%
Year ended 31 March 2025 & E—E " RE=H=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

OGN

Capital Share Non-
Issued Share  redemption  Contributed Shareholders' Other  Exchange option  Statutory  Accumulated controlling

capital premium reserve surplus ~ contribution reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests

BRfRE  ROER AAREHE @ R4BE  RREE  HMBRE  EREE BRESE  iEER  BHER et R

At1 Aprl 203 RIEZ=FMA-H 993531 3923147 945 2215409 664 2041 (202,333) 5475 20863 (43274 1738026 389,386 2127412
Buchange diferences on vanslating ~ ARAZREBZERER

foreign operations = = = = = = (73,706) = = = (73,706) (10247) (83953)
Profitfor the year TEERR - - - - - - - - - 7353 7353 1953 26876

Total comprehensive ncome/loss)  KEERERA/ (BB

for the year xS - - - - - - (73,706) - - 735 (66,353) 9276 (57077)
Recognition of equity-settled BN BREEURA

shared-based payment (Note 34) BEEZ MR Wt - - - - - - - 3838 - - 3838 - 3838
Lapse of share options (Note 34) BRESN ) - - - - - - - (1,760) - 1,760 - - -
Transfer o statutory reserve BETETHRE - = = = = - - - 3555 (3555) = = =
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests B P R ER 2 R S - - - - - = - - - B = (5429) (5429

As at 31 March 2024and 1 April 2024

99,531 3,923,147* 945 2,215,409% 664* 2,041* (276,041)* 7,553% 24,418* (4,322,156)* 1,675,511 393,233 2,068,744

Bichange differences on trenslating. BN RSB

foreign operations EREE - - - - - - (69,677) - - - (69,677) (4,356) (74,033)
Released upon disposal of subsidiaries  AFEHENBA AR

during the year note 32) B (Ht2) - - - - - - 12,940 - - - 12,940 - 12,940
Other comprehensive loss for the year  AEEEMZEFE - - - - - - (56,737) - - - (56,737) (4,356) (61,093)
Profit for the year KEFER - - - - - - - - - 7,833 7833 24,204 32,127
Total comprehensive income/foss) ~ AEEZEHN/

for the year (58 % - - - - - - (56,737) - - 7833 (48,904) 19,938 (28,966)
Disposal of subsidiaries (rote 32 HERBAT (W) B - - = = - - = = = - 32,803 32,803
Recognition of equity-sttled ERLEREENRAA

sharec-based payment (rote 34) BR2A3 itz - - - - - - - 2975 - - 2975 - 2975
Lapse of share options (note 34) SRR () - - - - - - - (1,153) = 1,153 = = =
Transfer to statutory reserve B ey YT - - - - - - - - 12,117 12,117) = = =
Dividend paid to non-controlling BiFHARERZRE

interests - - - - - - - - - - - (48,521) (48,521)
At31 Match 2025 RIBCREZASH-B w5 3auMn 95t 2215409 o6+ 200 (3778 O3S 365t (435287 169582 397483 2,027,035

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,530,051,000  * ZEHERERES BRI RIPNE S G
(2024: HKS$1,575,980,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 1,530,051,0007 75 (ZZ U4 1 1,575,980,0007%8
7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEREMER
Year ended 31 March 2025 8 ZE — B AF=RB=+—HItFE

2025 2024
—EB_RE

—E U
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (EE¥EHEHE

Profit before taxation PRI AT A 35,608 83,117
Adjustments for: MATEEZAE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #)2 iE KRR HiTE 7 17,324 15,598
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEEITE 7 5,411 5827
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment SREERERE
losses) on financial assets, net CRUEES B3 E) $48 7 16,176 (628)
Share of profits and losses of a joint venture AMEEEREER (379) =
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets at BNFERLIEmARZ
fair value through profit or loss, net ETRHEENQTFE
518 (W) F58 418 (120)
Fair value losses on owned investment BEREYEATFE

properties, net K518 5 %8 16 12,041 82,678

Fair value losses/(gains) on sub-leased DIEREVENFE
investment properties 518, () 16 2,075 (15,183)
Write-down of properties held for sale R EHE Y ZEMUR 17 - 2,919

Gain on early redemption on unsecured notes 12 P BE[EI KA 4R >

W & - (14,106)
Finance costs G127 8 91,575 111,575
Bank and other interest income SR1T R E AR S WA 6 (1,242) (2,808)
Equity-settled share option expense tgmis E 2 IR RS 7 2,975 3,838
Gain on termination of lease contracts KIEAESHN 2 W= 6 (239) =
Losses on disposal of property, HEME - BERSZEZ
plant and equipment, net B85 7 192 134
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKB AR W 6 (35,794) =

Reversal of aged payables 5[0 R AR5 FE S =018 6 - (101,840)
146,141 171,001
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 U IE R 524 746
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other TETRRIE 2 R At
receivables FEW R IE R D 25,290 10,614
Decrease in properties held for sale BIEHEYER LD 108,918 198,538
Increase in properties under development EEYERN (102) (150,656)
Increase/(decrease) in receipts in advance TEUSRRIEE 0, Gk (54,912) 2,983
Decrease in contract liabilities sHaER (78,226) (9,067)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 R H fth FE {5 T IR (17,845) (31,002)
Cash generated from operations RSB HE 129,788 193,157
Interest received on bank deposits BRERTTERF S 1,246 2349
Income tax paid Ef TSR (47,686) (34,033)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBIBZAERE
HER 83,348 161,473

9 2 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

4=
g =

HEnRak@®@

Year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE —E " A FE=RA=+—HIEEE

2025 2024
ZEZHE —ETE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Net cash flows from operating activities REXBEFBZHERE
peckr) 83,348 161,473
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES R BEXHEZRERE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME -BERKZEZ
plant and equipment FriSmr 18 36 108
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HE M B /\j ZFi13 I8 32 202,389 =
Payments for purchase of investment properties F& B & &Y 2 (T (5,497) (7,897)
Payments for purchases of property, HBEVME BERSEZ
plant and equipment INES (18,584) (21,922)
Net cash outflows for acquisition of a subsidiary UWEE—EITB AT Z
W& 35 31 (52,935) =
Settlement of loan and interest receivables BERWEREFE 1,908 6,781
Increase in loan and interest receivables FEWE = R A B 38 (2,510) (7,966)
Placement of non-pledged time deposits with ~ fF ARESRRFIEAH
original maturity of over three months when BB =188 N EIgE
acquired EHAER (23,837) =
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities & & 2#5FT15, (FTA)
HERE R 100,970 (30,896)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES FiE¥HEZRERE
Proceeds from new interest-bearing bank and s SIRITR
other borrowings HMEE 2 Frigmis 143,850 305,328
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and BETERITR
other borrowings HMEE (370,788) (256,154)
Placement of pledged deposits FABIRRER = (11,690)
Withdrawal of pledged deposits REBEFENR 38,934 -
Net proceeds from issue of unsecured notes BITHRICMERZ
PSR IE %3 80 59,999 =
Early redemption of unsecured notes IRREOEIEIRERE = (118,326)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BIEERER RS (48,521) (5,429)
Repayments of leases liabilities including BEHAEaERENE Eﬁ 2
related interests (7,759) (8,387)
Interest paid BNHE (79,719) (99,355)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEXEBPMAREREFE (264,004) (194,013)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERFEEEALFE
EQUIVALENTS (79,686) (63,436)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year EAEF?B Z2HRERIREER 23 243,435 312,434
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net PEXREE R 35 (5,913) (5,563)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERZRERNEEH
END OF YEAR 23 157,836 243,435
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH IR&RIRE SHERD
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & KR IRITAEER 151,335 243,435
Non-pledged time deposits IR E TR 30,338 =
Cash and bank balances as stated in the EaBIKR KRR E K
consolidated statement of financial position BEERE 23 181,673 243435
Less: Non-pledged time deposits with original 38 : REVS &R ZI 1 H BB
maturity of over three months when acquired = @B NEIKFEHRER (23,837) =
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the FERERERMINIRE R
consolidated statement of cash flows HEEEE 157,836 243,435
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R4 %5 5 LI 5

31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. TERERER

94

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company’, together with
its subsidiaries the “Group”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange’).
The registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of business is
Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the immediate holding company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy
Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited
("Wang On"), which is incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

The Group is principally engaged in the management of and sales of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in Hong Kong and

the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of

incorporation/
registration and
business

s,
BRRkEEME

Novel Talent Limited

Hong Kong
Novel Talent Limited HBELHEE/
B
Regal Smart Investment Limited Hong Kong

(‘Regal Smart’) (Note iv)
BELERRAT BE
(Tf2881) (Hztiv)

BMNEFHEZER BRAR PRC/Mainland
(the "Xuzhou Yuanyang") (Note /) China

BN EHmBEZERERAT HRE]
(TERMNIEEL) (7521

HEZEADMNEREIE PRC/Mainland
mATBERAT (Note i) China

REAVMNEIERATES FRE]
BIRAT (W)

EMREREIERM
BEMIBERAT
(the "Yulin Hongjin") (Note /)
EIMEEREERMETH HRE]
BRAE TEMEE) (Hz2)

PRC/Mainland
China

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXZHRAR

British Virgin Islands/

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
BEITEE/
AR

United States
dollars ("USD") 1
EH

Ordinary HKS$1
BER1ETT
Renminbi (‘RMB”)
61,220,000
AR
61,220,00075

RMB180,610,000

AR
180,610,0007T

RMB34,285,700

AR
34,285,70075

FERERRZERAR ((ER27. > EREE
WEABME AER) AR ERESMKL
ZERRERAR EROHESBHSR S5
BIRAR (TH3RFr) IR EHeoARB 25
¥R = EE AL Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda » 1l 3= B2 & 2 3th 24 i1
REBNBENBEEZREIOREXEZ321E
NNE-ARBEZRA ARBIZEEER
NEV AT E X B S5 M AL BIRIch Time
Strategy Limited’ MAR B Z REZER LB A
Wang On Group Limited (FZEBARAR)*
(TRZ)) > Z AR B R EE ML 5
RFfTEMR Em

FEFBTBEREARHEME THE) EER
EmRZ MGz YEEBRHEE RN E B
ERmi=RlEmEE-

BRBEARNER
FRBEZMBEABBFELT :

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

EATRERES DL

Direct Indirect

HiZ %

TEEH

100% - Investment holding

REER

- 100%  Investment holding

REER

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation
RERERRF TS

7.23% 92.77%  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation

RERERRZ NS

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and
property sales

RERERMRF TS

RFEIHE



1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

ENEENRERERAR
(Note i)

EMRENRERBRAT
(B &)

TNEERRE Rt
BHIFARAT (Note /i)

PTINRERBIERMLETS
BIRAT (Hfati)

P 7 =R E mitt
BHIFARAT (Note /i)

RAHRERRERMETH
BIRAT (Hfati)

AR ERRE R
BHIFAR AT (Note /i)

BERERREMMLETS
BIRAT (Hfati)

EERERRE R
EmIBARAT (Note )

ERRERBERMLETS
BIRATR (32

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

MBI,
SEREEME

PRC/Mainland
China

Y

PRC/Mainland

China

Y

PRC/Mainland

China

Y

PRC/Mainland

China

Y

PRC/Mainland

China

Y

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
BETEE/
AR

RMB320,000,000

A B #320,000,0007T

RMB450,000,000

A B #450,000,0007T

USD23,230,000

23,230,00035 75

RMB443,000,000

A B #443,000,0007T

RMB140,000,000

A B #140,000,0007T

1.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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TtEREBRSEN @

BB ABRNER @
RTRBETEMBABNFELOT : (B

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

EAREERET D

Direct

Hf

Indirect

il %

100%

100%

100%

100%

75%

Principal activities

TEEH

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and
property sales

REREMRZ NS

RAZEIE

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and
property sales

REREMRZ NS

RANZEIE

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and
property sales

RERERRZ TS

RADEINE

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and
property sales

RERERRZ TS

RADZEIE

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and
property sales

REREMRZ NS

RADEIE

2025 Annual Report
ZEhFEER

95



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. CEREBRER @

(continued)
BB ARNER (0
RABFEFEMBRAENFIEAT : 8

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

MBI,
HERRkEEME

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
BETEE/
AR

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

FAREERET DL

Direct Indirect

Hi fil #%

Principal activities

TEEH

BRI EREIERM PRC/ Mainland RMB73,000,000 = 100%  Agricultural produce exchange
BEHIBERAT (Note i) China market operation and
property sales
BIRLERERMETIS alE AR #73,000,0007T KEEEMRZHE
BIRAT (Hz2i) RAEHE
B BN R B G PRC/ Mainland RMB3,000,000 = 51%  Agricultural produce exchange
MEARAT (Note i) China market operation
BEMN BN BRI E SRR E HRE] A #83,000,00075 KEBERRS
BIRRATE (#aii) %
HOARERBIER PRC/ Mainland RMB2,000,000 = 80%  Agricultural produce exchange
HEFHIBERAE (Note ) China market operation
BALERBERMETIS alE A K #2,000,00070 REREMRS
BRAR #z2i) %
Notes: Mk
() Registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture under the laws of the PRC. () REFPEEEBLAPINGEGERE:.
(i)  Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the laws of the (i) REPEEZEREIZAIEBEELE-
PRC.
(i) Registered as a domestic-funded enterprise under the laws of the PRC. (i) RIBEPEREZEELZAANELE-
(iv) Details of the acquisition of the subsidiary are set out in note 31 to the (iv) WEEMBAR 22 BE NSRRI sE31 0

financial statements.

FRIHEEARTIENEFIEMELAREE
ZHEEERBRAB EEIRAMWE2REMNE
NEAFHBEREFBBR TR

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the Company's directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

RIE_RAE=ZB=+—H A~EEER
ZERBZREIEETE TIRIT AEE
& 1% $R 17 2 B308,695,00058 7T (ZE =MW
£ 1323,528,00058 7T) 1EIE MR (Mi5E26(a)) ©

# At 31 March 2025, the equity interests of these companies were pledged 7
to certain banks to secure bank borrowings of HK$308,695,000 (2024:
HK$323,528,000) granted to the Group (note 26(a)).

9 6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXZHRAR



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") which have been
measured at fair value.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2025. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continved)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

21 /RN E A

MHBREDREEEGSMNAG (FHEE
BAg)) Rz EBHBREER G SHER
(BEMEEBMBREER BB G5 ER]
(TEBEER ) RER) REBRTKRGZ
RERERM FREVMERBAFTELEEDT
NER (MRATEKBHEAR) 2 EREEZR
FESEIN ZEMBHRERTDIRBRESE AL
iR

mE BT (THBm)) 5Im RSB AREE
Sy FTAEREINBERBIZ TAH

A EE

GEMBERREEARIRENB AT NE
E_E_AF=-A=-+—HILEFEEZMHR
RofBARARADEERBFENNEE
(BEEETEEE) EAEEEB2HEKRE
R AEREE B AR B £ O] R AR E
Boghwk TEBENERRRESRIE
N EEREEBRAENTEREHRNA
RERERIRRER) X EZ S0 IR BIES
el o

> op

—RME > AZHRBEAEES BTG
EXARAHEAINKRERNRAZHIKRER
BUEN E L EEEHEAHRENRIE
Ok AEEGEEMARBEERBR &
&

(@) EREHNSHMREEFEANGHR
7

(b) EMEHZHELENET ; K

© FTEENRERKETRZE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuec)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
PERERXZERAR

1RREE @

maRE®

MERARZHBRERDIZEKRABERZR
SHERA - B2 EHRER - WBATZ
FRHAEERSEN R AETEEARRM
EH RN EBILARSE

HukHEMEERm 2 S HEERNEER
BRABEA ANRIFER B B2 EY
SRR A B AL S ER o T A B R AN E BB A
BRBRBZRBZEBANBRAEABEERE
B-RE WA -RAXRRERENGSHE
Ry 75 B 8 o

HAZEMBEREATR EXR=8EFRER
thr —IBs 2| RIFEE > 7 EBEEHFE
HESHREHRERZEGE -INBAB%A
Tt~ B8 (W R R EHI) IS AIRE S (F
B 5 o

il A EE R A M B A F Z £ 4 Bl & BUH
DEMEE (BEEE) BE ERIFERE
s ERRBHE  TRAENREREZAR
FEREFRBIEEEMSABTRZES 5T
AEREMtEE W mER 2 A EBEGED
DBDEBENBR T REAEEEERHEM
HEENEEMERZEREESHROEE
B R REER] o



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Supplier Finance Arrangements

and HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback transactions
with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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REBYBRE
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EER - ABAGBERHARRZELEN
HEaBEMANAE  URERES — &M
AT SHENEMFECRAEARNEM
BoeE ARAEBEBEREREEY
B S 2R SE 1658 B BIE » WE A KBTS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become

effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting Standards
- Volume 11

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
2 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January

2027
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continuec)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While
a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS 1 with
limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within
the statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary
financial statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of
Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Farnings per Share and HKAS
34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with
earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's
financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards. To be
eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary
as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use
which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect
to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continved)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continuec)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial Instruments clarify the date on which
a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce
an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system before the settlement

23EEMERKRERZERMTES

WEENGEER @

ERUBREEAFIRREBYHREEL
BIRZ B R T RIGDHE Rt B2 KT
MRS EENTHERZEH I
SIA-—ERESBRES ANERERGTZE
M IR EEHREBEFARRMR
EEzERER RFEIEBRUMNFEARAE

date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets with
environmental, social and governance and other similar contingent
features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually
linked instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent
features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an
adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of equity)
at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the “own-
use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for
in-scope contracts. The amendments also include additional disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to understand the effects of
these contracts have on an entity’s financial performance and future
cash flows. The amendments relating to the own-use exception shall
be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. The amendments
relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to
new hedging relationships designated on or after the date of initial
application. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments to HKFRS
9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continuec)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain
or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by
the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is
lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency
not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance
on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of
the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and
paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving consistency
with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts
and terminology used in other standards. In addition, the
amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the referenced
paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
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31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS

AC

COUNTING STANDARDS (continuec)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a
lessee has determined that a lease liability has been extinguished in
accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or
loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to
remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments
clarify that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS
10 is just one example of various relationships that might exist
between the investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of
the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term
‘cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the
prior deletion of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations under common control

Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted
for using the principle of the pooling-of-interests method. The assets and
liabilities of the acquiree are stated at their historical book values carried
in the consolidated accounts of the controlling shareholder at the date
of acquisition. The difference between the consideration transferred for
a business combination under common control and the total of (i) the
acquisition date historical net asset values of the acquiree attributable to
the Group; and (i) the pre-acquisition reserves of the acquiree combined
by the Group is accounted for as a contribution from or a distributed
to, as appropriate, holding companies in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Accordingly, there is no goodwill or a gain on bargain
purchase as a result of a business combination under common control.
The results of the acquiree under a business combination under common
control are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date such control ceases.

Other business combinations

Business combinations other than those under common control
are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Business combination and goodwill (continued)

Other business combinations (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in joint ventures are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures is included in consolidated
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
investments in the joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the Group's
investments in joint ventures.

Upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of joint venture upon loss of joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

245 XEFTEER &

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets at FVTPL
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation

(including properties under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, which reflects market

conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
property) is included in profit or loss in the period which the property is

derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment

losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, including costs of testing whether
the related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment commences when

the assets are ready for their intended use.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceed and the carrying amount of the item and are

recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. The principal
annual rates used for depreciation are as follows:

Buildings 3'/3% or over the terms of the relevant leases,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold 10% or over the terms of the relevant leases,
improvements whichever is shorter

Furniture, equipment 5-10%
and motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of the items is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leasing

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of staff quarter and office premises that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for any lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and any leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continved)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES coninves)  2A4B K ETHE =

Leasing (continued) HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) TEBMEAEARBEAN @)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EFEEE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land
held as inventories, they are subsequently measured at the lower
of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's
policy for “properties under development” or “properties held for
sale”. When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties. The corresponding
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently
measured at fair value, in accordance with the Group's policy for
“investment properties”.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful live. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful live and
the lease term as follows:

Leasehold land 2% or over the terms of the relevant leases ranging
from 16 to 30 years, whichever is shorter

Buildings Over the lease terms of 2 to 6 years

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
or inventories are presented within “investment properties” and
‘properties under development” or “properties held for sale’,
respectively.

ERAREENHESH ) B HES (B8R
EEDHERAZBN - EABEEZN
EHE

HESRZINTEEE ;

REGBHBRSZA R ZERES
ARG RENEREEES ;

REMEEZERBEERSE ; K

FERRFRRFBEMEE ER
HREEMRESMAEREREE
EHEZERRMFEAAREZ KRR
R (b5t EE Z XA ©

EXRAREERFRFERAECHEESL
D AARE A ERRBEERZ TE
BRI FHEY R BRE M A K
FSRFEMERZREESE - HER
REENGREVMEZEE AZEES
ARBY X - HREZERREENRGR
BRAsE MERARBEERN 1K
BEME I T HREAFEFE

i 7 £5 [ & 32 7 € 00 7H HR B W B B 1S AR
FMIEEBEENER AERAREEBRN
MBMEETERERERBETE T
A ERREERAEMGAPIERAFEAKE
HANBRIEE LB EITENT ¢

FAE i 2% /T F16E 305 A 48 BE
HEMNSEH UREEAE

s NF2EFNHEFH

FEMRGEYFRREARTAITER
EVMERTFEERERAREERIS
BUYEBEH NEREVMEERZCERAES
EDR2I B IKENE IR ERYFEIHN
MR ELEWE -

2025 Annual Report
ZEhFEER

111



112

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

Lease payments included:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 2" HFE=F=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninves)  24BKEHE =

Leasing (continued) HE @
The Group as a lessee (continued) TEBMEAEARBEAN @)
(c) Lease liabilities (continued) (c) HEERE ®

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
assets with any differences recognised in profit or loss for early/
partial termination of a lease. When the modified contract contains
one or more additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.
The associated non-lease components are included in the
respective lease components.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Leasing (continued)

The
(a)

(b)

Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at the commencement date at amounts equal to the
Group’s net investment in the leases, measured using the interest
rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than
those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the
initial measurement of the net investments in the leases. Interest
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured under fair
value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as
a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short term
lease to which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocate the consideration in a contract to lease and non-
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling
prices.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;
right-of-use assets; and

prepayments

In any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belongs.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generated unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying amount of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal, or
value-in-use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuec)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

o Allocation of corporate assets

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees, payments for land use rights and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period.
Net realisable value is estimated by the Company’s directors based on
the prevailing market prices and estimated construction cost and costs
necessary to make the sale on an individual property basis.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is expected
to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from purchasers
in respect of the pre-sale of properties under development prior to
completion of the development are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties under development, they are subsequently measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's
policy for properties under development.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total land and
building costs attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
estimated by the Group's directors based on the prevailing market prices
and estimated costs necessary to make the sale on an individual property
basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy for
properties held for sale.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not
at FVTPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “‘Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective
of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within
a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured
at FVTPL.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified

or impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the statement of financial position

at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when

the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as
a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as
the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and
the hybrid contract is not measured at FVTPL. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the

FVTPL category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its

entirety as a financial asset at FVTPL.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed

from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the

asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group

could be required to repay.

Investments and other financial assets

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECLs") for
all debt instruments not held at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other

credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the

timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more

than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any

credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of

recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables (including any lease

receivables) which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

o 12-month ECLs

Stage2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables (including lease receivables) that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings and payables at amortised cost, as appropriate. Trade and
other payables, contract liabilities and receipts in advance are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, lease liabilities and unsecured notes.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, unsecured notes and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets’; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Offsetting of financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the

liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash

commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on

demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

Employee benefits

(a) Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of
its eligible employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully

with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. This
subsidiary is required to contribute to a certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with

the rules of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March

2025 — B HE=RB=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

Pension scheme (continued)
Defined benefit plan

The Group's statutory obligation to pay long service payment in
Hong Kong is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing benefits
relating to long service payment is determined using the projected
unit credit actuarial valuation method. The liability recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of long
service payment is the net obligation, representing the present
value of the future long service payment benefits reduced by
entitlements from accrued benefits arising from MPF contributions
made by the Group.

In the opinion of the directors, the liabilities recognised for the
net defined benefit obligations in the consolidated statement
of financial position and expenses/credits recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in respect of the long service payment are not significant to
the Group'’s consolidated financial statements.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The fair value of share option granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in share option
reserve within equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The fair value is measured
at grant date using the binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value
of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options will vest.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Where the terms of an equity-settled
award are modified, an expense is recognised for any modification
that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options
that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the Company's
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the share option reserve
until either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to accumulated losses). Where an equity-settled award is
cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit before taxation because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's current tax asset and liabilities are measured
at the amounts expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted in the countries in which the Group operates by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
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31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Revenue from properties sales

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point
in time when the purchasers obtain the physical possession and
the legal title of the completed property and the Group has the
present right to payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable.

(b) Revenue from the provision of property ancillary services

Revenue from the property ancillary services is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(c) Commission income from agricultural produce exchange

market

Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets is

recognised over time when the services are rendered.

(d) Food and agricultural by-products merchandising

Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods is transferred

to the customers.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease

terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial

instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of

the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers

control of the related goods or services to the customer).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories and property,
plant and equipment, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer
are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract
that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer
of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs
are expensed as incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

24 KRG HER &

EEBES

BREAEREERME -BERREBEH A
Sho ERR B NMEMS BISIETTER G
WMEERNMATUEAEL :

@ AMAESHHERATARFHHMNERS
MEREER -

(b) MAELIRABTREARRSANRER (R
FHEER) BHEENEIR-

(€ AUATERR (e -

EAEHNENRAZEEEMRBNEmIR
BEETER —BNARICEETUEHET
St AR o HM S A A h EE RTS8 o

SR

ZEPYHFRRDBDUERABNINEGEBTE
o REMBE TR ERBITAEHINEG
MEBRMBREANEEHUZNESE
StE-AEEETEBERARNINERZ L
B S5ERREZENMEGEER ALK
B ENEREERBERRESARNINE
EREXRE AEREEEENRETELEN
PRA Z AN IR m T

RESHAEBNIEHEIFERERRE
R 57 BN ERRE AT EFFERINE
SHEFEKEERFEATEEHNERK
B -MBBRATEFAEBNIIFEREEMELEN
Wi e R 1R > Th IR SR IE B A T EE
e EIE— S NEE BAFEWRTEH
BENAEMESEWARIB D EDNIEER G
FER > TORREMEEUASIBmER)

2025 Annual Report
ZEhFEER

129



130

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are currencies other than
the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates of the year.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after the related asset
is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
PERERXZERAR

245 XEFTEER &

S (@)

REEBREDEREE R ILFEFBEAMA
BHRHEZIFEBEENFERAGEZRAZH
WARERR > IR Z BB AER T RAE
BENABEEZFEREENFERER
ZEH - HAZSRIMKBERR > FEBE
BRYRBEZERIEREERZ B

ETHBAR 2GR I IFABTT - HNREH
R REBEZEERBADEREHARER
ZERMBSBT ZFBRZBm AR L
RPARZRTERTESBIT FREENE
REBNEMEERES W EREESR
5t MR R R ERRI - HEBINE
B AR E BN EFNHEBRAZEN
B FERS o

WEEBHIEFELEZEMHERRBRESL
ZEERSERABZEMNRATFERE HE
EBINEB 2 BEKRE BRI WIRW T ER
me-

EaRERERME  BINGBATNERE
nERREeREANNERRERBIT B
MEARNE2FEENKEMRESRERER
T ERGE S HE T o

(EE= 1%

EERERNWE BENEESCEREE (5
WERS— B R B R R R L (EEL FE E A R ok 8H
ENEE) MEERE MAZEEENRA
N BEBEEAR LAHEZHARERRNHE
Lk

REMEERNFREBRIHERDARER
NEAREBESt A —MREEHESG  UstE—
REENERLER-

PRA EMtEE R A7 E L AR iRm FHERD o



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Group if that person:

(0)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(0)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group. (If the Group is itself such a plan) the sponsoring
employers of the post-employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a)(i);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the Group's parent.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continue)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income and gains’”.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior
to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that existed at
the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information
affect the amounts that is recognises in its financial statements. The
Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to
reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update the
disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the new information.
For non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will not
change the amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will
disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their
financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if

applicable.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties, which comprise agricultural produce exchange
markets in Mainland China, are revalued at the end of the reporting
period on a market value, existing use basis by independent
professionally qualified valuers. Such valuations are based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially
differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties and estimated
rental value of the relevant properties are considered and assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of the
reporting period are used. Further details of the valuation are included in
note 16 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development and
properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of each unit is
determined using the weighted average method. In determining the net
realisable value of properties under development and properties held for
sale, management takes into consideration of (i) independent valuations
performed by professional valuers; (i) current market conditions; (iii)
estimated selling prices of properties of a similar nature, conditions
and location; and (iv) estimated costs to completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale, if any. Write-down on properties under
development and/or properties held for sale to net realisable value is
made if the estimated or actual net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale is less than their carrying
amounts.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables, other receivables, and
loan and interest receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by service type,
customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information.

The Group uses the general approach to calculate ECLs for other
receivables and loan and interest receivables. The probability of default
and loss given default are based on published market data. The Group
will adjust the probability of default with forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables, other receivables, and
loan and interest receivables (continued)

For the forward-looking information, for instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates/the probability of default are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates/the probability of
default are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates/the probability of default, forecast economic conditions and ECLs
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical
credit loss experience/probability of default adopted and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables, other receivables, and loan and interest
receivables is disclosed in notes 19, 20, 21 and 37 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all
non-financial non-current assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Where an indication of impairment exists,
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
financial assets, properties under development, properties held for sale,
investment properties and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or CGU's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU to which the asset belongs. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. NEEEER

The Group has two reportable segments under HKFRS 8: (i) the RIBEB BV BRSENFES  AEEAME
agricultural produce exchange market operation segment which ERDE (VK ERERRZMBOH  KE
engages in the management and investment of agricultural produce EERREFEAMNBRERR ZMBERE
exchange markets in Mainland China and fresh food stores in Hong Kong BEHBEREERINDEHEE D =
and (i) property sales segment which engages in the development of ER o DEBI DL IRBAREBRSESNET
properties. The segmentations are based on the information about the EEEMNAZSEENMERARRBETEES
operation of the Group that management uses to make decisions and REANTEHER UEABDHOEERILT(E
regularly review by the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of HEEo

allocating resources to segments and assessing their performance.

Segment revenue and results DEUW R R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by FEERMEFEZZRSBE 52 WmEm &
reportable segments for both years: EEDWAOT !

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated

RERERXATS NEHE & &a

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 204 2025

“ECRFE “TOME ZE"RE —E_RE “Z-NE —ECIE

HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T#x TR T#x TR T THT T

Revenue Wiis
External sales INEREEE 406,316 404,801 124,445 174331 = - 530,761 579,132
Results ES |
Segment results eS| 191,292 104810 (802) 33,899 - - 190,490 138709
Other income and gains Hit AR W& 44,622 113442 - - 2,236 5819 46,858 119,61
Reversal of impairment losses/ SHEERE
(impairment losses) on E5HREE,/
financial assets, net (RERR)
T m 1,190 - - (16,447) (562 (16,176) 628
Fair value gains/(losses) on BATESER
financial assets at FVTPL, net IN v
BENATE
WE/ (E548)
B - - - - (418) 120 (418) 120
Unallocated corporate expenses Kk AEHE[L (93,571) (6402)  (93,571) (64,026)
Profit from operations E= gl 127,183 194692
Finance costs HMEME (41,358) (44,206) - - (50,217) (67369)  (91,575)  (111575)
Profit before taxation BRRAnRA 35,608 83,117
Income tax expense iEsictiaba (3,481) (56,241)
Profit for the year KEERR 32127 26876
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Segment results represent the profit/(losses) from each segment without
allocation of certain other income and gains, net impairment losses or
its reversal on financial assets, net fair value gains/(losses) on financial
assets at FVTPL, head office and corporate income and expenses, finance
costs and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by
reportable segment:

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation

RERERXZTSE

4, DEPEEER @

SEBu s R R AE (8)

DBEBEEREZI DMK ZEF (B
B) > BEEFEMBAR KT  SREER
BERFENEELDZFE BAFEEERTZA
RZEMBENATERT (BB $5H 42
RE BV A T BB R ARSI
S2 o WA E IR D B e 0 B R IR ST A T 1) E 22
BERARAEBERZGEAE-

DEHEERER

FEREEROBE D ZEEREEBEEIW
T

Property sales Consolidated
MEHE &a
2025 2024 2025 2024
e - S 11— S ] 11
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET T#x FET

2025 2024
b Sk S 11
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET
Assets BE
Segment assets NBEE 3,108,101 3,252,023

Unallocated corporate assets KRB EEEE

Consolidated total assets REEERE

Liabilities af

Segment liabilities NEEE 1,595,640 1623472
Unallocated corporate liabilities KA FLEEEE

Consolidated total liabilities 4 & BELAE

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than financial
assets at FVTPL, deferred tax assets and corporate assets.

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
unsecured notes, certain deferred tax liabilities and corporate
liabilities.

1 3 6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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1,031,995 1,239,121 4,140,096 4,491,144
94,306 146,922

4,234,402 4,638,060

95,880 189,997 1,691,520 1,813,469
515,847 755,853

2,207,367 2,569,322

MERDMBZDEERRERDEERMES :

— BRRATEEEZARZEHEE EL
MBEENTEBEEZIN REBEESRD
RFE2RDE-

— BERRZEE STELRBEASEKREHE
BRZINGFMEEEHEDETERDE -



4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Other segment information

The following is an analysis of the Group’s other segment information:

Agricultural produce
exchange market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated

RERERXATS NEHE

2025 204 2025
"B “E-RE CECEE
HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000
TER TAR TER

Interest income FISBA 1,075 1,344 -
Capital expenditure (Note) BARY
(Hriz) (30,679) (39,207) -
Gain on early redemption of REBDEL
unsecured notes et bl 6 - = -
Fair value losses on owned BERENE
investmentt properties, net ZATHER
B8 (12,041) (82,678) -
Fair value gains/(losses) on PRRENE
sub-leased investment properties 2 AY-E
Wit/ (1) (2,075) 15183 =
Wite-down of properties held MR E
for sale L = - -
Depreciation of property, plant ~ ¥1% \HER
and equipment FENE (16,001) (14014) =
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  EFEEE
iE (5,411) (5827) -
Losses on disposal of HEME
property, plant and B R E
equipment, net ZEEFE (192) (133) 5
Share of profits and losses of Moi—ERELEZ
ajoint venture B 379 - -
Interests in a joint venture R-EaEREZ
i 152,740 - -

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E " RE=F=+—H

4. DENEEER @

Hitt o & E#
FEBHEMD BRI DTWMT

K& =48
2024 2025 204 2025
“ECRE “E_ME ZEZRE
HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS'000
TART TAT TART TET FART

= 167 1464 1,282 2308
= (19) (613) (30,698) (39.820)
= - 14,106 - 14,106

= = = (12,041) (82678)

i - - (2,075) 15,183
(2919) - - - 2919
- (1,323) (1589  (17,324)  (155%)
= - = (5,411) (5827)
- - (1) (192) (134
- - - 379 -
= - - 152,740 -

Note: Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment and investment properties and lease modification for sub-
leased investment properties.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no single customers
contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, over 90% of the
revenue of the Group were generated from external customers located
in Mainland China and over 90% of non-current assets of the Group
were located in Mainland China. Accordingly, no geographical segment
analysis is presented.

e  BEARXBEVE - BERRKEBZRE
REMERDBREYEZBEES -

HE_Z_AGEKR_ZT_NE=HA=+—H
IEFEE WHEB R SHMAEE 0% U =
Z W o

HE R

BE_Z_FIEK_EB_WNE=A=+—H
I EE > REMB0% W am b E A B R E
Wtz S ERE P R A EBIEO%IF BN E E
IR R E Ao AL 308 2 5 & 2 & 2o
#fr
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

5. REVENUE

Revenue is analysed as follows:

5. =
W AT :

2025 2024
ZEZRE “ETNE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers B g 323,789 375,675
Revenue from other sources HAthzk R 2 W
Gross rental income from investment property REMELSHEZ
operating leases A& WA 42 %8 206,972 203,457
530,761 579,132
Notes: Mzt -

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

(a) WsEEHD

2025 2024
—E-RE ZEME
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHT
Types of goods or services &R ARFEEER
Property sales segment Y £ E 73
Revenue from property sales MEIHE 2 a3 124,445 174,331
Agricultural produce exchange market AERERK S 5758
operation segment
Commission income from agricultural produce BERRZMEZATWA
exchange market 80,005 83,688
Revenue from property ancillary services Y EE Al 88,731 87,062
Revenue from food and agricultural by-products BEmkBREIEmIEE 2 IWam
merchandising 30,608 30,594
Total “ast 323,789 375,675
Geographical markets & Hi5
Mainland China FREI i 297,638 345,624
Hong Kong 58 26,151 30,051
Total “ast 323,789 375,675
Timing of revenue recognition U 25 7 2 B
Goods or services transferred at a point in time ERWARFBNE R 155,053 204,925
Services transferred over time PR 75 B B R 8 7% 168,736 170,750
Total revenue from contracts with customers BERAHWm4EEE 323,789 375,675

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXZHRAR



5. REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period
Sales of properties

BRI
SYES NS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

5. W= @
Wizt (&
(a) WEERDF

TRINTRAREHER W E SR &
THERBRSHIFAGHER !

2025
—EB_RE

HK$'000
FAT

HK$'000
TATT

BRERTSTAGHEREN

85,950 29,170

The amount of unsatisfied performance obligation regarding sales of
properties principally comprises the balance of contract liabilities, which
are expected to be recognised in one to two years as of 31 March 2025
and 2024.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15 to its contracts for property ancillary services such that the
above information does not include information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the contracts for property ancillary services that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

(b) Performance obligation
The following information about the Group's performance obligation is
summarised below:

Revenue from property sales
The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical possession and
the legal title of the property is obtained by the purchaser.

Commission income from agricultural produce exchange market
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered.

Revenue from food and agricultural by-products merchandising
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the delivery of goods.

Revenue from property ancillary services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered.

HEVMERBTRERASTISETIECES
HNEBEEE BREERBEES 88K
T E T EF=-B=+—HIE—"EMERRE

=
e ©

FEBEAEBYBREENFISRE
RI@QBRBEEREL ZRNMERERB 25
Ko BEHERNEBEREINRENAER
BOYMERERFANETHHENEE
BRr A RIRE MaMRIMARS —F3 U
T AR EREABKENER -

(b) FBHEME
FEEBNEENERBENT

YR EZ Wik
BHNEERETRSYXEREARK
EEEERET
BEGXSB5ZHEHRA

BB ERERHRBEREET

R R EEIEmEEZ Wt
BHEERRZNERFET

WEEERFSZ Wit
BB ERERHREREET
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

6. H Ut A B lmt

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2025 2024

—_E_RE =)o

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET AT

Bank and other interest income SR1T R EAF E WA 1,242 2,808

PRC government grants (note (i) o B B R BE (A7 2E()) 4,564 4618

Gain on termination of lease contracts HKIEFAE SN WS 239 =

Reversal of aged payables (note (i) Ol RARECFE(ITRIE

(=10)) - 101,840

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) HEMB AT W TS #T:£32) 35,794 =

Others H 5,019 9,995

Total other income and gains Hr A R Wi 48 28 46,858 119,261
Notes: W -

140

(0]

(ii)

PRC government grants represent various form of subsidies granted to the
Group by the local governmental authorities in the PRC for compensation
and expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are generally made
for business support and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis.
The Group received these government grants for the business support
on its investments in the agricultural products exchange markets in the
Mainland China. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to these grants.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, after taking into account the
legal opinion from the Group's legal advisor, the limitation period of
claims for all the related aged payables have expired during the year and
therefore it is remote that the Group is required to settle the related aged
payables. Accordingly, the full amount of the related aged payables was
reversed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

PERE

MR BHERAE

(i)

(i)

TEBFMAMETEEMBTERMAESE
BEENHBERAXETFAERNSERH
M-ZEHUE—RATRFEBFHANGB
RYCX - AEEERNBFHEMERSE
RABAMBRERRSTHEREZETX
F-ZEHUEERENNGFARNIARSE
(i

ARBDERRR  KREBXEEEZRER
NZRRR - FAEBMRAEMRENE
ERNRERAFEEZH At 2EEFTE
A EAR R R A RIER AT AE IE AR B o
I A RAENREERBE -2 X
FZA=+—HILEEE25EHED-



7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

The Group's profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E " RE=F=+—H

7. BRMmTET

AERZ BRI ARA TH A IVUE/ FAUTE
THEBER .

2025
—E_RE
HK$'000
FHET
Cost of properties sold Y E LA 113,778 127,359
Cost of services provided ERMIRFE A4S 96,406 88,730
Cost of goods sold 5 cm i & A R 24,188 19,751
Auditor’s remuneration T2 EL BN <& 2,100 2,200
Depreciation of property, plant and Y EN Y R
equipment 14 17,324 15,598
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESEITE 15 5,411 5,827
Losses on disposal of items of property, HEME -BEKRBIER
plant and equipment, net 251835 192 134
Expenses relating to short-term leases FRHATR SRR S 15 416 487
Employee benefit expenses (including REENBEZ (BIEESEH
directors' remuneration (note 9)**: &) (Bfat9)*x:
Wages and salaries and other benefits TE - fries MEMBEF 120,609 119,618
Equity-settled share option expense UEEREE 2 BIRERS 2,975 3,838
Pension scheme contributions* BT ST E R 12,214 12,882
Total “ast 135,798 136,338
Foreign exchange difference, net e = RE FEE 4,259 (313)
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment &R E E R ERE,
losses) on financial assets, net: (REE5IB#E(]) J$48 :
Trade receivables B 5 W EIE 19 170 (855)
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATENRIEBE - #EE K&
deposits and other receivables HihpEwsE
TREE 20 (408) (187)
Loan and interest receivables W E R K F] & 21 16,414 414
Total “ast 16,176 (628)
Gross rental income THE WAL (206,972) (203,457)
Less: Direct outgoing expenses** B BEES ﬁ** 27,089 25,969
Net rental income WA FRE (179,883) (177,488)
Fair value losses/(gains) on sub-leased PDEREMEZ A TE
investment properties** B8, ()« 2,075 (15,183)

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group, as the

employer, to reduce the existing level of contributions.

*%

Certain of employee benefit expense amounting to HK$44,772,000

(2024: HK$49,551,000), fair value losses/(gains) on sub-leased investment
properties and direct outgoing expenses are included in "Cost of sales"
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

o UEERWERAHAERDETZSMA
PANRIR A H KT

» ETREMRAEZA44,772,00087T (ZF
ZVO4F [ 49,551,000/87T) N PR ENEL
NEEFE/ (&) REETHALS
Bk EMEmBERANTEER A o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MBS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMERAZ DWW :
2025 2024
ZEZRE “ETNE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FET
Interest on bank and other borrowings BTREMEBEZFE 88,473 100,262
Interest on unsecured notes EIRHERE 2B 679 9,210
Interest on lease liabilities fHEaGEzZME 1,944 2,103
Interest on consideration payable EEAREZFE 479 .
Total “a st 91,575 111,575
=1 2 4= -
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 9. EEREEITHAES M
REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules T Py AR 45 Bt 32 BT T 22 RO B S P 58 25 £ T AR Al
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing (TEHHA)) BB RAEEAF5E383(1)()
Rules’) issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(), (b), (c) and (f) )y OROIEURAT HEEEFEER) R
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BB IR BRI E S F AN ¢
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
2025 2024
—E_HE —ETHE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FAET THET
Directors' fees EEHE 565 462
Other emoluments: HAE = -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e 2 REYR & 16,988 15,425
Performance-related bonuses* AR IFHMEE 2 TEAT* 6,061 2,520
Pension scheme contributions BAREZ SRR 162 57
Equity-settled share option expense EREEERERS 1,577 1,048
Subtotal Nt 24,788 19,050
Total “ast 25,353 19,512
*  Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus * A RBAATHITEETEREZTCANR
payments which are determined with reference to the Group's operating HNLN2BAER KR EXE - EF2BEA
results, individual performance of the directors and comparable market REMREEEZAELERTHIEGET o

practices during each of the years.

1 4 2 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERESITHRAERHMN @
REMUNERATION (continved)
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_ZT_AFE=HA=1+—HLEE

Salaries, Equity-

allowances Performance- Pension settled

Directors’  and benefits related scheme  share option
fees in kind bonuses contributions expense Total

E 2R ARRHS BhE HESHEERE
E itk B e 27E4 SRR fR R He5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT TER TER TER FET FAT

Executive directors: WTES !
Tang Ching Ho (Chairman) ~ ¥87&3 (Z/%) - 13,000 4,920 18 = 17,938
Leung SuiWah, Raymond Rl

(Chief Executive Officer) (1T B8 %) - 2,194 825 28 973 4,020
Wong Ka Kit (note (2)) BRE W) - 1,165 232 18 487 1,902
Luo Xu Ying (note (b)) BIBE (H220) - 629 84 98 117 928

Independent non-executive I EHITES
directors:

Lau King Lung B 186 - - - - 186
Wong Ping Yuen FIRE 186 - - - - 186
Shang Hai Long (note (¢) 1187 (#7#()) 11 - = = = 11
Li Yin Quan (note (d)) Z5|R (HfzHd) 66 - - - - 66
Ng Yat Cheung (note (e)) SHE We) 16 - - - - 16
Total Bt 565 16,988 6,061 162 1,577 25,353
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BHE_Z_NMFE=B=+—HIFE
Executive directors: HITES !
Tang Ching Ho (Chairman)  ¥87&3 (Z/8) - 13,000 1810 18 - 14,828
Leung SuiWah, Raymond PRI

(Chief Executive Officer) (1TEAR %) - 2125 710 24 1,048 3907
Yau Yuk Shing (note (f)) R (W) - 300 - 15 = 315

Independent non-executive B FHITEE :
directors:

Ng Yat Cheung (note (e)) 2HE WHite) 154 = = = = 154
Lau King Lung EIRC S 154 - - - = 154
Wong Ping Yuen FIRE 154 - - - - 154
Total 4t 462 15,425 2,520 57 1,048 19512

2025 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BB &

31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No
directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Notes:

(@) Mr. Wong Ka Kit was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 1 April 2024.

(b)  Ms. Luo Xu Ying was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 1 April 2024.

(©)  Mr. Shang Hai Long was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 20 August 2024.

(d)  Mr. LiYin Quan was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company on 1 April 2024 and resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 20 August 2024.

()  Mr. Ng Yat Cheung resigned as an independent non-executive director of
the Company on 15 April 2024.

(f)  Mr. Yau Yuk Shing resigned as an executive director of the Company on 1
April 2024.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
PERERXZERAR

EEREEITHASHM @

REE_Z_AFKER_T_NEF=A=+—
BIEFE cEEBELDERRDEEAEM
Bl <& » 1 7% 12 18 00 B 25 0 BR 7 &2 [ s 2 22 B =X
FREBFE - RBEE_Z_aFR"ZF"N
FEZA=+—HLEFE #BEETNEATES
REHEEREEMABNE -

Btat -

() BRHFEAENR_Z2_MNFHUA—HESEE
BEABPITES

(b) BEELZETR _Z_MNFMNA—HEZRE
RERBHITES

(© HERELEER-ZZNENA-+HEZ
ER/EABBIUIFRNITES

d) FREERZSZNENA—HESFE
BRAEARBUFKTEST IR _FT_M
FNRB-THREARBDBIULIFRITES

(e) RHEAER_ZE_MNENB+HHHHE
RRBEILFRTES

() HEHAEER_Z_MEMNA—HEREE
ANBHITES



10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

(a)

(b)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2024:
two) are directors whose emolument are disclosed in note 9 to the
financial statements. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect
of the remaining three (2024: three) individuals who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

10.5 4R

(a)

MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E " RE=F=+—H

= AL

IxEEHFMATHEIRE (T2
F: ﬁﬁ%)%%%wﬁ#zﬂﬂ%#\ fﬁﬁ’z
RRMEIRE - Hif =% (T2 TUF
:%)Ai(HIiFﬁ@T%%I%FﬁE&
AB) ZME4BZEW T ¢

2025 2024

—ERE =y o=

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET FET

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 8,723 9,789

Pension scheme contributions BIREHEHER 47 54

Equity-settled share option expense BmiEEERERS 195 210

Total “ast 8,965 10,053
The emoluments of three (2024: three) individuals with the highest b)) =B (CE_NE . =) ZaifimALtz

emoluments are within the following bands:

A=A FUTEE :

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00178 75 Z2,000,00078 75 1 =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00178 75 2 2,500,00078 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 78 75 23,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 78 75 24,000,000/ 7T 1 2
Total “Est 3 3
The remuneration shown above represents remuneration received EXFREMERE S AFER T

and receivable from the Group by these members of senior
management in their capacity as employees to the Group and/
or in their capacity as the members of senior management of the
Company during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the senior management as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

—ME=ZA=+—HLEFEZLTERE
BEMENUFTEERERESH R HUE
REBHRERERE S HEWKRERA
EEBIFM -

BE_Z_HIER_ZF_MNOE=A
=+—HLEFE xEBTEOERS R
EIEE X A LRSI EMAREE
TERINA S BR RSB S RE BB el (o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2024:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates. The provision for PRC land appreciation tax (‘LAT’") is estimated
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided at a fixed rate or ranges of progressive
rates of the appreciation value, with certain allowable deductions.

11.FRiSfiEX

ERANNERLBRELAEEESBEEN G
FERRIMFHEIZ165% (ZZ 24 © 16.5%) B9
KtiZ o Hithith SV FER A E 2 IR B A&
BT AEEE Y RTREAE A
THIEER (TS ER)) BETLIRRAER S
ERUBCEEZRZEEME - L HIEERZE
EMENIEEBREREHE R UEET
AEFINBRTIA ©

2025 2024
—=-fH% —E=omE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET THET
Current — Hong Kong BPER—&E
Charge for the year FARERZ 83 505
Current — Mainland China BPEA— R E R ith
Charge for the year FAREEZ 15,231 47,575
LAT THIBER 9,508 13,456
Overprovision in prior years BEFEDBREEG (10,398) =
Deferred (note 28) IEIE (H1aE28) (10,943) (5,295)
Total tax charge for the year FERNRIER 4B 3,481 56,241
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable RERAREAEZMERSI R aM 2z

tax rates:

iR

2025 2024
ZEZREF =it =5
HKS$’000 HKS$'000
FHET THET
Profit before taxation B #52 A i A 35,608 83,117
Tax at the statutory/applicable tax rates of BREBFEEZ AR/
different jurisdictions ERAMEFENRIE 18,533 27,932
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BRABEHAFB TR
previous periods Z i (10,398) -
Effect of tax concession REEENEE (13,005) =
Profits and losses attributable to a joint venture EEhER(LER (95) =
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses and ENGIEN] ﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬁ&gﬁ
temporary differences ERRMBTE 2,302 6,396
LAT provided FHR LI ER 9,508 13,456
Tax effect of LAT THIRERZ MBEE (2,377) (3,364)
Tax effect of non-taxable income RE MW A 2 IR Fs & (8,988) (4,563)
Tax losses not recognised KRR 2 MBI 13,111 21,786
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised A ZRIRER 2 R
oEi=! (5,110) (5,402)
Income tax expense for the year REEERAS 3,481 56,241

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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1.

12.

13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuea)

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the weighted average applicable
tax rate was 52.0% (2024: 33.6%). The change in the weighted average
applicable rate was resulted from changes in the profitability of the
Group in the respective jurisdictions.

The share of tax expenses attributable to a joint venture amounting to
HK$129,000 (2024: Nil) is included in “Share of profits and losses of a joint
venture”in profit or loss.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in
respect of the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on the
profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 9,953,067,822 (2024:
9,953,067,822) during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 in respect of a
dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding had no dilutive
effect on the basic earnings per share amounts presented.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBI &

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

M. FriFHRAEZ @

BE_ZE_AHF=-HA=+—HLEE - mMEFE
HEAMREA520% (T2 ZPH4E : 33.6%) /0
BEPEBERREEH AN ERERTE
BB ENEBNFIE -

DMEEELEEGHRIERST129000E T (ZF
ZIUE ) sFABRRIDMEE R EIBR) o

12.g 2

EEFRBRNBEE_ZS _AFER-Z M
FZA=1T—HLEFEZEFRKRE-

13. 8RR EEEDREARGE

gkl

SREABANDRESAGES AELASE
ERiRAFEERTZERMNETLTHH
9,953,067,822 (ZZE U4 : 9,953,067,822) &t
§0

BE_Z_HEFR_Z_MF=R=+—H
FEE BRERTEERECZERZE
B EL 7S 7 M <2 BRI A S RN AR > R LE SR R
HEJSREFBN ZEETHE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

14.9%¥ - BEKRRE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
equipment
and motor Leasehold
Buildings vehicles improvements Total
A
12¥F BERSE HEmELEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET TET
Cost: (5%

1 April 2023 AZE-=FMF—H 5304 140,041 14,529 159,874
Additions RE - 21916 6 21922
Disposals HE = (3,065) = (3,065)
Exchange realignment ERHEE (133) (3.319) (364) (3816)
At 31 March 2024 RZETNE

and 1 April 2024 =B =<8

“ETEF
mA—H 5171 155,573 14,171 174,915
Additions hE - 25,189 12 25,201
Disposals HE - (4,026) - (4,026)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 32) HEMBAR #fa#32) - (2,602) (1,728) (4,330)
Exchange realignment R AR (129) (4,002) (338) (4,469)
At 31 March 2025 RIBZHE
=EH=+=F 5,042 170,132 12,117 187,291
Accumulated depreciation: j‘l‘?ﬁ'é 5
At 1 April 2023 AZZ-=FNF—H 2653 91,474 7,894 102,021
Charge for the year TEERZ 379 14377 842 15,598
Disposals HE = (2,823) = (2823)
Exchange realignment ERAE (63) (1,616) (190) (1,869)
At 31 March 2024 AZETPNE
and 1 April 2024 =H=+=F
RZZ2ZWE
mE—H 2,969 101,412 8,546 112,927
Charge for the year FEERR 259 16,390 675 17,324
Disposals HE - (3,798) - (3,798)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 32) HEWB AR (Ha32) = (1,460) (1,184) (2,644)
Exchange realignment EREE (76) (2,600) (207) (2,883)
At 31 March 2025 RZETRE
=B=+—H 3,152 109,944 7,830 120,926
Carrying amount: ARTEE -
At 31 March 2025 ATE_RE
=B=+—H 1,890 60,188 4,287 66,365
At 31 March 2024 RZE TN
=B=+—H 2,202 54,161 5,625 61,988
At 31 March 2025, certain of the Group's furniture and equipment with Eﬁ‘ 2 _AF=R=+—H > #EEKEE

an aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,154,000 (2024: HK$1,793,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities and other borrowings

,154,000%8 75 (ZZ Z Y4 : 1,793,000 75) B9
ETAEEREARBERETERERZ —
ARERTT BH B R HL A& 7k F LUK 38R (B sk26) ©

granted to the Group (note 26).
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various leasehold land and buildings
used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 16 to 30
years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these
land leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms of 6 years.

In addition, on 1 October 2022, the Group and Wang On entered into a
master licensing agreement which sets out the general principles and
key terms governing the definitive licensing agreements under which
relevant members of Wang On may grant license of, and the Group
may take up the license of the premises from 1 October 2022 to 25
September 2025.

(a) Right-of-use assets

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

15.78&

FEEEREBA

FEERANEFEELZRBAS L KRBT
BRI ZMEESK - BIRATER —RMEA RN
METWEAE T HBARI6E30F > MR
BZELMBEENFER B SEESAEM
IR EFHHREE R6E

N RZE - —_F+B—H AEBHRZE
SIM AR R ERENRE RS T iRE
22— MR KR EBBRTR FIL > L Z B
EBARR_E__F£+H—HE_Z_F
FABZ+AHBREMEZFET#E MA
EERERBYIEZ TR

) EREEE

Leased land Buildings Total
FAE i 1gF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHT THET FHET
At 1 April 2023 AR _=FHF—H 2,541 22,014 24,555
Depreciation charge ERS (163) (5,664) (5,827)
Exchange realignment PE A% (58) (400) (458)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIE N4
=H=+—H
RZZZOE
mAE—H 2,320 15,950 18,270
Termination of lease contracts KLIETHESL - (1,424) (1,424)
Depreciation charge TERX (162) (5,249) (5,411)
Exchange realignment PE R AR (62) (266) (328)
At 31 March 2025 ATERE
=HA=+—H 2,096 9,011 11,107

During the year ended 31 March 2024, additions of right-of-use
assets of HK$10,001,000 as a result of extension of lease periods
were included in investment properties (note 16).

HE_Z_NFE=HA=+—HIFE L
EHBERNEREESERE10,001,000
BB AREYE (fisE16) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

15. LEASES (continued) 15.708 @
The Group as a lessee (continued) TEEEAEEAN @
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEGR
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during AEENHEAGRAEBEREHNT :

the year are as follows:

2025 2024
ZLZTRE =it =5
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 April KB —BREE 32,869 29,634
Lease modification EEBH = 10,001
Termination of lease contracts RIEFHESHN (1,663) -
Accretion of interest recognised during the year FEREDEMFE S 1,944 2,103
Payments (N (7,759) (8,387)
Exchange realignment BE D FHEE (681) (482)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=B=+—HMNEREE 24,710 32,869
Analysis into: PRI~
Current portion MENER 2,961 6,064
Non-current portion ERENZ D 21,749 26,805
Carrying amount at 31 March R=B=+—HBWEREE 24,710 32,869
Analysed into: PR
Lease liabilities payable: FENEESE
Within one year —FR 2,961 6,064
Over one year but within two years BB—FERFEAN 3,337 4,502
Over two years but within five years BEMFERFERN 7,953 10,757
Over five years B8 A F 10,459 11,546
Carrying amount at 31 March R=B=+—BWEREE 24,710 32,869
The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities is disclosed in FMRHAESENIHAI MR M ERSE
note 37 to the financial statements. P EE3748 28 ©
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15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E " RE=F=+—H

15.788 &

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

TEBERAERBEAN @
() MEEEENEHEZNEENT:

2025 2024

—EREF —EpugE

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FET

Interest on lease liabilities EN=3=Ki= {0k NS 1,944 2,103

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets EREEENTERS 5,411 5,827
Expense relating to short-term leases (included BIGHATE EAERENRE S

in general and administrative expenses) GtA—RRITHEX) 416 487

Gain on termination of lease contracts BRIFHESOZWE (239) =

Total amount recognised in profit or loss RiEm sl AEZE 7,532 8,417

(d) Total cash outflow for leases amounted to approximately
HK$8,175,000 (2024: HKS$8,874,000) for the year of which
HK$7,759,000 (2024: HK$8,387,000) is financing cash outflow and
HK$416,000 (2024: HK$487,000) is operating cash outflow included

in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leased and sub-leased its properties consisting of 10 (2024:
11) agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits and rent in advance. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was HK$206,972,000 (2024:
HK$203,457,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2025, the undiscounted lease payments receivables by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

(d) £ HENRSREEEEL 258,175,000
BT (Z T U4 : 8,874,000/ 7T) * HA
7,759,00078 7t (Z T U4 : 8,387 ooofﬁm)
ARER SR Y K416,0008 7T (T
£F 1 487,000/ 70) AR EIRE R quJk,,\,\
cREREBR-

FEBFEALEA

AEBEERSEANYEBFIE (T W
F:E) BELCEHEZRETEAMEE
MRS HIGZYE - HERR—REKRBELE
AL NEREESRES - AEBREANRER
HIFE & I A 22206,972,0008 75 (Z =2 _O4 :
203,457,000/ 7T) * sE IR &S A 3R R I 55 ©

A —E_HF=RA=+—H" K%@EAEEJEEH
BRBEHEBER Z A HEHEEE
MIREERIEWT ¢

EEES

2025 2024

ZE-HE T

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#T FHT

Within one year —FR 21,260 23,295
After one year but within two years BE—FEMERN 6,766 20,158
After two years but within three years BEMEE=ZFER 1,705 3,992
After three years but within four years BE=FENERN 71 467
After four years but within five years BBNFEBRFERN 71 84
After five years BB F 67 141
Total 45t 29,940 48,137
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. 18 B

2025 2024

“EZRE =)o

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FAET FHET

Carrying amount at beginning of year FEHRRMEE 2,809,556 2,933,376

Additions of owned properties hEBEBBEYE 5,497 7,897

Lease modification for sub-leased properties DAY EZ BEER - 10,001

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) HEWB AT (#5#32) (136,944) =
Fair value losses from fair value adjustments for BEMERFEERAEZ

owned properties NEEEBE (12,041) (82,678)
Fair value gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments DEYERNFEREZ

for sub-leased properties ANEEWE (BB8) (2,075) 15,183

Exchange realignment BE D FHEE (68,266) (74,223)

Carrying amount at end of year FERIREE 2,595,727 2,809,556

The Group's investment properties consist of 10 (2024: 11) agricultural
produce exchange markets in Mainland China. The investment properties
were revalued by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer, at 31 March 2025. The finance department of the Group
has a team that reviews the valuation performed by the independent
valuer for financial reporting purposes and reports directly to the senior
management of the Company. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between management and the valuers twice a year when
the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial reporting.
At the end of each reporting period, the finance department holds
discussion with the independent valuers to verify major inputs to the
independent valuation reports. The finance department also assesses
property valuation movements when comparing to the prior year
valuation reports.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 15 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s owned investment properties with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$1,559,465,000 (2024: HK$1,703,001,000)
and certain rental income generated therefrom were pledged to secure
the general banking facilities and other borrowings granted to the Group
(note 26).

At 31 March 2025, the Group's investment properties included right-
of-use assets with an aggregate carrying value of HK$33,263,000 (2024:
HK$36,223,000).

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are included on
page 206.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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FEBNREYELEI0E (CT-WEF :
B) PEAMREERRRZHH - R _F ﬁfﬁ
ZR=1t—HB REVEABUSERFEM
EEXFITHERBBRABEMGE KE
ERHHEMFIRE B & EEZE (G EAD
NEENETHMBRS  TEERERT SR
EEEER BEHPANFEMBRSETH
B BEEERGEMMGEERERGEREE
EITM R R o R B IREHAR > M PR
T AHEENET A MR R BRI RSN EE
A BIE - MR PR ER — N ERSE
ITEEB  DIGHEY X L EEF -

REVERBEEHELATE=7 FLF
BRI A B IR AR M EE15

RZE_RAE=RA=+—H ~&EEEBEK
HBE E AR {E1,559,465,0005 7 (Z 2 M4 :
1,703,001,000/87c) 2 BB R EMEREMESL
HNETHSWA > AAREBERN—REITH
B R EMERIEER (i5E26) ©

ACECRE=A=+—H > AEEZREY
# 6 1F R E42(E33,263,00058 70 (ZE U4 :
36,223,000/ 7T) FUE M E 2= ©
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continvea)

Fair value hierarchy

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the fair value
measurements of all investment properties of the Group were categories
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and details of their movements
are disclosed above.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group's investment properties:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

16.5 B @
NEERBLR
HE_ZE_HLEKR_Z_NWE=ZB=1+—H
IEFE AEBMEREVEN R T EFEH
NEEANTERRE =K SEFER LR

E'Ego

TRINTAEBRENEN AT EFBER :

Fair value measurement using
significant unobservable input

(Level 3)
EREART AR A BUE
HAFEHNE (B=HR)
2025 2024
ZT"hEF ZENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHT
Recurring fair value measurement for: KREEATEE

Agricultural produce exchange markets BEMR 25 2,595,727 2,809,556

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2024:
Nil).

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

REEE E—RRE BB EATEN
B8R FEBANSBEESRCRLNE

) o

X T4 B 2 (G E PR E ST K B 52
BABBZHE

Range
Significant #iE
unobservable 2025 2024
inputs —EB_REF —EBNE
Valuation techniques BEARITHE HK$’000 HK$'000
& B R i A B TFHT FHTT
Agricultural produce exchange Direct investment method Estimated rental HK$10 to HKS$13 to
markets (2024: direct comparison value per square HK$76 HKS94
BEMXZ M5 method and direct metre and per 108 TTE 138TE
investment method) month 7687T 9478 T
EEREE(CZME: GHtEE
BEEBERERER (BFAHK
=) /BR)
Capitalisation rate 8% to 9% 7% to 9%
BAREX 8%ZE9% 7%ZE 9%
Price per square N/A HK$3,600 to
metre REH HKS$4,497
BF T RER 3,600
449777
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (coniinued) 16. 15 EWE »
Fair value hierarchy (continued) REERBHR &)
As at 31 March 2025, the valuations of investment properties were based ATE T RFE=A=+—H KEWEDLIRE
on the direct investment method which capitalises the rent receivables BEEEL ORMEZEBIREHRERS KX
from the existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rents BEEEMBSHASEREL) CETWF B
of the properties (2024: either the direct investment method or the direct BEBANERLEE LA (BZELEERMHR
comparison method by reference to comparable market transactions). 5)) EITHE
A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square metre in isolation st & A KEREBARIEM, (R &
would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment BEYEZ AFEABEF (T °E;‘3|ZT5
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value KEGHASEBAREMN (B gohE
per square metre in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower) MEZAFEAREFR (F) cBAICXE
fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) BABE, () ELREVEZ ATFEKR
in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significantly lower/ Bk (EF) -

(higher) fair value of the investment properties.

17

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND 17. T BMERFELHEYE
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

2025 2024
—TTRE —EBFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Properties under development ERYE 35,017 65,531
Properties held for sale FREL &M= 996,978 1,173,590
Total “ast 1,031,995 1,239,121
Properties under development expected to be completed within the TETEREMERN ERZEEBBATMRKRIK
normal operating cycle and recovered: [ :
2025 2024
“EZRE e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
After one year — &% 35,017 65,531
Notes: Wizt :
() At 31 March 2025, the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate () RZZBZHE=BA=+—H ' &x&EEHEIE
carrying value of HK$348,919,000 (2024: HK$463,514,000) were pledged to ﬁ IR E 48 {E348,919,0008 7 (T U4 :
secure the Group's general banking facilities (note 26). 463,514,000 70) 2 FH1ELEME  BAE

m Y —RIBITRRE IR (FaE26) ©
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17.

18.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (continuec)

Notes: (continued)

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2024, a write-down of properties held
for sale of HK$2,919,000 was charged to profit or loss, which was related
to shops in one of the agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland
China held by Huai'an Hongjin Group (as defined in note 32 to the
financial statements) with an aggregate carrying value of HK$34,444,000 as
at 31 March 2024.

(i) Further particulars of the Group's properties under development and
properties held for sale are included on page 207.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 2" HFE=F=+—H

17. 5 EZMERFEHENE @

Mzt (&

(i) BE_Z_WE=B=+—H  HoRFE
ﬁ%%%z9mm%memﬁﬁm% VE
B NE=ZRB=1+—HHEZLREER
(EERMFRERMEE32) AFAREAE
34,444,0008 T —RBIFREAMEERR S
HIBESHER -

(i) "EBERMERSELEMENE—
SEIBE 2078 ©

A 52

INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 18. S EEEMED
2025 2024
ok i 5 “ETNE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FET
Investment costs BE A 152,940 =
Accumulated share of total comprehensive income Kt D2 mEmU A 4B ZE 379 -
Exchange realignment BE D HEEE (579) =
Total st 152,740 -

Particulars of the Group’s material joint venture are as follows:

Place of

Registered registration

share and business

capital 51 R

SRR E 3l

Shenzhen Trading Market Company RMB PRC/
Limited (“Shenzhen Trading")* 31,225,000 Mainland China
AT EETHERAF AR HRE,
(GRINEZ)) 31,225,00075 FREIA

* During the year, the Group acquired 50% equity interest in Shenzhen
Trading through the acquisition of a subsidiary and details of which are
included in note 31 to the financial statements.

Shenzhen Trading is unlisted and indirectly held by the Company.
Shenzhen Trading is principally engaged in investment, operation and
sub-licensing of wet markets in its owned or leased properties located
in Shenzhen City of Guangdong Province, the PRC, to tenants and are
accounted for using the equity method.

In the opinion of the directors, Shenzhen Trading is considered as a
material joint venture of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 and
therefore, summarised financial information for Shenzhen Trading for the
period from 25 February 2025 (date of acquisition) to 31 March 2025 is
presented in the financial statements.

FEREAGEREFBNOT

Percentage of
beneficial
interests
attributable to
the Group

50 Property investment, operation
and sub-licensing of wet

markets in Mainland China
MERE -FEAMRES
minEERDHE

* RERCAEBBBWE BB QRN
BRINEZ0% 2 B FHEHNUBRE
f5E31 0

ARNEBRIFLETRBDLR/RABEERA °
FRNEBTZRERE - HUNPBEERE R
NHHBEAEREEYERNNREH BN ERER
DEFEF > WERARTIEANR.

EERR RYNEBERBE_Z_AF=A
S+ HEFERAAEEEANERGER
oA RYNEEE T _HAF_A"+AH
(WEHM ZE_ 2 _HAF=A=+—HLHA
Bz HBERMBERMBRERANZ5 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

18N EERFENVELS =

TRIRFNEENFEENHE (T2 A
F_HA-+HEH WERE ZE-_E_RAF=H
=+ 0 TEEEHBRERANZKREE

18. INTERESTS IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information in
respect of Shenzhen Trading (for the period from 25 February 2025 (date
of acquisition) to 31 March 2025) and reconciled to the carrying amount

in the consolidated financial statements: EITHER

2025
ZEZAHE
HK$'000
FAT
Cash and bank balances & K IRITAEBR 59,622
Other current assets Hvreh&E 9,207
Current assets BB E 68,829
Non-current assets JEREE E 315,267
Current liabilities MEIEE (51,235)
Non-current financial liabilities EREFEMER (27,381)
Net assets BEFE 305,480

Reconciliation to the Group's interests in the joint venture: HAEERZEELERRINHIR
Proportion of the Group's ownership AEEER LA 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture rEBRELHESEEESETE 152,740
Carrying amount of the interests @A ERE(E 152,740
Revenue Y g 3,459
Interest income FEUWA 58
Interest expenses MEMAZ (22)
Depreciation and amortisation T EE ek 5 (888)
Tax expense MBS (257)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the period AR iE A K 2 R A 48 2B 759

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E " RE=F=+—H

19.8 5 FEURFRIE

2025 2024

—EB_REF —EZTOE

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET THExT

Trade receivables B 5 IR IE 8,767 9,560
Impairment B (7,487) (7,505)
Net carrying amount IREVEE 1,280 2,055

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 days to its
trade customers. The Group may on a case-by-case basis, and after
evaluation of the business relationships and creditworthiness of its
customers, extend the credit period upon customers’ request.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain individual
customers. At the end of reporting period, the five largest receivable
balances accounted for approximately 76.6% (2024: approximately
79.2%) of the trade receivables and the largest trade receivable was
approximately 70.2% (2024: approximately 66.0%) of the Group's total
trade receivables. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing with
counterparties which have good credit history. Majority of the trade
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have no default
payment history.

Ageing analysis

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

FEBR-RGTHESEF0BZFHAEER
HA o AN EE [ o] (R FE B B 1B R R AR i ST B HL

PZEBRGRREER BERNERERE
BHe
FEENGEERBRETRETEAZTE IR

= ﬂkﬁéuﬁz RIBAE BR1L B 5 B IB L
76.6% (ZZT DU : £979.2%) * B AE 5 EU
RIBE G AEEE 5 U IE 4B EEA70.2%

T £966.0%) c AEEBAARBIT(E
EXRBNHRFARG UBERBEERR -
AEDE Z R IEE R AR RE ) INEA
RN RS

AREG DA

REIEHR - RFER B IS BRI FEIER
B2 B 3 RUGRIRRES DTN :

2025 2024

—EB_REF —ENE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 month —EAR 694 1,199
1 to 3 months —EZ=@AH 355 726
Over 3 months but within 6 months BiE=EBEREaNES 136 77
Over 6 months aEN=E 95 53
Total st 1,280 2,055
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continved) 19. B 5 FEURFRIE =

158

Ageing analysis (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

ARE D ()
B RRRIEZ HEBREEZIHUT !

2025 2024

—EHE —ETE

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FHT

At beginning of year JiEE=)| 7,505 8,584
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses), net BB 1E, GRE RS 18 [O])

R 170 (855)

Exchange realignment BE D FHEE (188) (224)

At end of year RER 7,487 7,505

The Group will monitor trade receivables with long outstanding balances
and will engage in enforcement activities to recover the receivables due.
The Group closely monitors trade receivables balance due more than
30 days. Those trade receivables, due more than 90 days, with financial
difficulties, declining credit standing and poor historical payment pattern
will be considered as default. The Group will write off these unrecovered
receivables after all possible means of debt recovery activities.

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of credit risk. In
general, the credit record and credit period for each customer or debtor
are regularly assessed, based on the customer’s or debtor’s financial
condition, their capacity to obtain guarantee from third parties, their
credit records and other factors such as current market condition.
Management overall considers the shared credit risk characteristic and
the days past due of the trade receivables to measure the expected credit
losses. The Group considered among other factors including forward
looking information, and analysed historical pattern.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continved) 19. 8 5 R E
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TXHINERBEEEREARAEEES
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: FEWGRIEAZ N R RE R

More than
90 days
Less than but less than More than

90 days 180 days 180 days
#B8iB90H
MitooR (B jt180H 8i@180H

As at 31 March 2025 R 2
=B=+—H
Expected credit loss rate TBHAEERBIEE 5.9% 15.4% 98.7% 85.4%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) IREARE (F#&mT) 1,114 162 7,491 8,767
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHRE BE4E (T8 T) 66 25 7,396 7,487
As at 31 March 2024 RIZEZWE
=B=+—H
Expected credit loss rate TR ERBIEX 9.1% 13.5% 99.3% 78.5%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EREARE (FE7T) 2,118 89 7,353 9,560
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEHAEERBIE (FE ) 193 12 7,300 7,505
= =k
20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. FE{IRRIE ~ & R H At FEULFR IR
RECEIVABLES
2025 2024
Sl - —ZTmE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAET FET
Deposits for land acquisition g T e < 63,063 53,947
Other deposits Hithizs 6,546 7,072
Prepayments SEENE =] 42,395 50,417
Other receivables H YR8 58,683 71,935
Tax recoverable A Y [B1#3 18 4,324 4,540
Cost of obtaining contracts ERSHZ AR 3,213 3,230
178,224 191,141
Less: impairment allowance T ORER S (123) (548)
178,101 190,593
Less: Portion classified as non-current portion B D EEAIERSE D
() - (6,787)
Portion classified as current assets NEAREEZZD 178,101 183,806

2025 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

20.FR(FTRIE ~ # & R ELth AR UL TR IR

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid sales commission
paid in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has capitalised
the amounts paid and will charge them to profit or loss as selling
expenses when the revenue from the related property sale is recognised.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, sales commission of HK$655,000
was charged to profit or loss (2024: HK$7,337,000).

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits, deposits
with vendors and receivables from counterparties which have no
history of default. The financial assets included in the above balances
were not overdue and categorised in Stage 1 for the measurement
of expected credit losses, except for the balance of HK$18,625,000
(2024: HKS$15,934,000) which was categorised within Stage 2 for the
measurement of expected credit losses.

Management makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based
on historical settlement records and past experiences.

In determining the 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss for these
receivables, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
payment experience and the corresponding historical credit loss rates,
and adjusted for forward-looking macroeconomic data. In assessing
whether the credit risk on these receivables have increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on these receivables as at the reporting date with the risk of
default occurring on these receivables as at the date of initial recognition.
Management would re-assess these factors periodically for any
deterioration or improvement indications to determine if credit risk from
these receivables has increased or decreased.

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as
follows:

(#)

EREAZHRAEMEEY XA TEN
HEMET AEBBBERNCAMEZ MBI RE
R EHEFT SN ERRENE R UHE R
T - BE_ET_FE=A=+—HLE
> 655,00078 75 (Z & P4 : 7,337,000/ 7T)
ZHHEMESEREEMRR

REhAMEKRBEZTEZREHAESRE AT
Bz RERRBUEENLECR 2R ZHF
ZHEWFRIE 5T A LS e 2 A BB E N S A
o UmEREEEENGIEMs28EAS
— P ES > MERREE 18,625,000 75 (ZE M4 ©
15,934,0007% 7T) SLFEHIE EFEENIEMS 2
HEAE _MEER o

EEEEANBAEAECERBELSREEE
R HL & W R I8 2 BT [B] W 1 TE B 1 Y 2R e AT
(EEERI R

I E 2 E RWGRIEM 1218 B 80 = B r TR HA
EEEER AEEZECERITENTEER
EMER BFBEERERMERNBER
BEERX TIRBAIREIERREEBIRETH
oA E R WRIANE & R R B Y ia R
SBLURZ B ARG > 25 B 22 5 e R IE
B3R & B A 3% A Y28 A0 R e B 2% 55 R WK B
RAGRHERBRELENENRBETLER &
EERERENTIEZFRER  UWEEEAS
EHRETR > AMEEZERPHENEE
BB IR I s R o

STARMNRIE  BERAMBRRIEZ E/ME
EREBREFENESHNT

2025 2024

—E_RE —ZE s

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FAET FET

At beginning of year TR EA] 548 754
Reversal of impairment losses, net PERIEY SEi=t e bR (408) (187)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) HEWB AR (HaE32) (12) =
Exchange realignment BE D FHEE (5) (19)
At end of year RER 123 548

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERXZERAR



21. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R E R (@)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

21. BN E R KT B

2025 2024
ZEZREF “ETNE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Loan and interest receivables, secured FEWER KA E » BiKH (iii) 58,116 59,598
Loan and interest receivables, unsecured W E R R F B > HEE 11,279 10,954
69,395 70,552
Less: impairment allowance R ARG (iv) (58,127) (42,910)
11,268 27,642

Less: Portion classified as non-current assets i : )48 IERENE E
Z BB (9,755) (8,021)
Portion classified as current assets DEARBEEZ D 1,513 19,621

Notes:

@)

(ii)

(ifi)

(iv)

These loans receivable are stated at amortised cost at effective interest
rates ranging from 1% to 12% (2024: 1% to 12%) per annum. The credit
terms of these loans receivable range from 1 year to 6 years (2024: 1 year
to 5 years).

As at 31 March 2025, except for loan and interest receivables of
HK$9,755,000 (2024: HK$8,021,000) with maturity over one year, the
remaining loan and interest receivables are either overdue or with
maturity within one year, and they have been classified as current assets
accordingly.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the balance included loan and interest
receivables due from the beneficial owners of the non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group, and which were secured by the
equity interest of the relevant subsidiary beneficially owned by them.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loan and interest
receivables are as follows:

htaE -

0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

ZERBERILHHM AT R BRER
ENFI%E12% (ZTZMHE D 1%E12%) ©
ZERBRERZEERNF1E6E (ZF
PO D 1E54F) o

RIZZEZHF=HB=+—H k975500048
75 (T2 U4 : 8,021,000 70) Z FEWE =%
RABR—FEREBN BRTERER K
MEAEBRHPANR —FREH RALES
HARPEE-

R-IE_RER_E_NE=B=+—08"
R ABRKRAEBNB AT FEREKR
2EREAANBRERKRFE AREE
mER RN E A S Z REEIRR -

BREREFABZAEBRREFEESMT:

2025 2024

—E-HEF =y e =S

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At beginning of year REA) 42,910 43,586
Impairment losses, net B RS 1E 3 [C] ;558 16,414 414
Exchange realignment PE R (1,197) (1,090)
At end of year REXR 58,127 42910

As at 31 March 2025, except for loan and interest receivables with gross
amounts of HKS$1,517,000 and HK$58,116,000 (2024: HK$1,556,000 and
HK$54,578,000) which had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and were categorised within Stage 2 and Stage 3 for the
assessment of expected credit losses, respectively, none of the loan and
interest receivables were overdue and all of them were categorised within
Stage 1 for the measurement of expected credit losses.

The Group's financial management policies and practices for credit risk
of loan and interest receivables are consistent with deposits and other
receivables and are set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

R-ZE_FE=A=+—B ' BEREHAE
1,517,000 75 5258,116,00078 75 (ZZF Y
£ 11,556,000 7T 554,578,000 7T) = FEURX
EREAMENEERMB MBI EKXRE
BN EREERENSEMs 23D
HAE _ME=-REN HEREMR K
MEMEAY BERMBHEEGEENGE
ﬁ’ﬁ%gﬁﬁ%%%ﬂ&gﬁ&%uﬁﬂﬁiﬁ%
B—BEER o

FERBRERKMNEEERBRZYHE
2 AR R 1B B B 4% = e EL M S WA R IR —
B S MBIRARM 200
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

mARZ TR

22 AT EEE
BE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

2025 2024

“Z-HE —Z g

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FAET FHET

Listed equity investments, at fair value EHRERE AT E (a) 57 105

Put option SohHARE (b) - 370

Total “ast 57 475

Notes: B2t -

(@)  The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at FVTPL @) HRAEEEERNZEMEZEWRARIEA

FEKRZHEGE LERERED AR
AFTEEBRBEARZEHEE -

as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or loss
through other comprehensive income.

(b) At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had put options to require the (b)
non-controlling shareholder of Kingtex Investment Limited (‘Kingtex”)
and Jet Success Development Limited (“Jet Success’), subjected to
certain exercise conditions, to purchase all equity interests held by
the Group in each of Kingtex and Jet Success and the shareholder’s
loan granted to each of Kingtex and Jet Success by the Group at the
consideration of all monies that the Group has paid or advanced to

RIE_RFER_E_ME=B=+—
B AEEEAD LR I ERBER
EERAT (BE) MERERBRAT
(THEm)) ZIFERREBES T ERGN
HR T BEXAEEMERBERERS
ENFFEREREAEEADIETBERRE
BRHEBRRER REAAEEENRTEN

Kingtex and Jet Success. FHEERERNAESEE
23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED 23,184 R $R{T4E 6 U R B iK1HER

BANK DEPOSITS T3

2025 2024

ZE-hHEF =gy o= 5

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances B & RIRTT4E R () 151,335 243,435

Time deposits EHIER 30,338 39611

Subtotal INEE 181,673 283,046

Less: Pledged bank deposits T BIRIRIRITER (b) - (39611)

Non-pledged time deposits with original ~ RE/EIHBBE=EA K
maturity of over three months IR E BHENR (23,837) =
Cash and cash equivalents BEKIFEERE 157,836 243,435

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXZHRAR



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continved)
MBEERMEE &
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED 23.IR£ R iR{TA UK EIKIREIR

BANK DEPOSITS (continved) TER @

Notes: MiaE -

(@ The balance included restricted bank balances amounted to HK$3,780,000 (a) MERBEIEZIREIIRITAERR3,780,0008 7T (Z
(2024: HK$5,699,000) representing (i) deposits placed at designated bank T PULE :5,699,00087T)  BIVIRIEASE
accounts according to the relevant mortgage facility agreements signed BETHBRRRBTRENYMEE %
by certain subsidiaries of the Group with the banks for potential default BERNEBEEERANEZZENERZBMER
of mortgage loans advanced to property purchasers and such guarantee ZEHRREERITREZER ARER
deposits will be released after the property ownership certificates of the RERNERMENY =HEEEZT R TIR
relevant properties are passed to the banks as collaterals for the mortgage TERBERZIEAREBRR  R(i)ERF
loans; and (ii) entrusted deposits for bank borrowings which are required BMRIEERITIREZIRTTEEGT RS
to be placed in designated bank accounts and the deposits can only be REETREERTCRERRZMIHZEEN
used for the payments related to the operations of the specific agricultural (e

produce exchange market.

(b)  As at 31 March 2024, bank balances of HK$39,611,000 were pledged to a by RZTE_ME=Z=B=+—H ' x&EBBIK
bank to secure bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 26). & 739,611,000 T 2 IRITAER B A
EEBERBITEEFEER (FFsE26) o

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of RBEHR ZEBUAREASAEZER2E
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$168,075,000 (2024: RIT4ER5168,075,0008 70 (ZEZME
HK$234,995,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, 234,995,000/ 7T) c AR REERRIRAEM
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations B JAT R 15 o0 B (A i 9 BE B IR I R A
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign E-EEANESERE ~XEEEREE
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for ETHEERNETEARBRIBRAHME
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange o

business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit ETHSEIEESHETERIXRBEENZ
rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods of between ) BERENF B oSS E E A A 2R
one day and one year depending on the immediate cash requirements —HE— S > REFERNRFRESEXRME
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time AR FERI S B E HRE h A R B AV B o R 1T
deposits rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with EHREEHREREERN EE2R i HAE
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. B FAIRTT o

2025 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March

2025 — B HE=RB=+—H

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24.B 5 R H I TRIE

2025 2024
—E"HE e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Trade payables B S REARIE @ 23,824 45,348
Deposits and other payables e REMBESRIE
Accrued charges FEsTEA 13,968 21,174
Deposit received BlizE 73,104 87,853
Interest payable FESFI S 741 1,944
Other tax payables HiESRIE 13,165 16,006
Other payables HERIE (b) 62,737 68,882
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries SRR B AT FIE (@) 112,540 14,297
Subtotal /NEF 276,255 210,156
Total “ast 300,079 255,504
Notes: Wizt :
(@) The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, (@ RARSHR REZZHHFAEZES

based on the invoice date is as follows:

FEAS FRIRBR B D ATEO T :

2025 2024

“E-AHE T NE

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Within 1 month —EAA 330 14,867
1 to 3 months —E=@EA 3 105
Over 3 months but within 6 months BE=1EAErEEEA 78 214
Over 6 months but within 12 months BENEAEABE+ @A 1,939 8,270
Over 12 months +-EB UL 21,474 21,892
Total 45t 23,824 45,348

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of
30 to 360 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place
to ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame.

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within
one year.

The amounts comprise the interest payable of the other loans from
fellow subsidiaries (note 26(b)) amounted to HKS$12,061,000 (2024:
HK$14,297,000) and the purchase consideration of HK$100,000,000
(2024: Nil) (note 31) and related interest of HK$479,000 (2024: Nil)
payable to a fellow subsidiary for the acquisition of a subsidiary. The
purchase consideration payable bears interest at 5% per annum and is
repayable in full on or before 25 February 2026 or such later date as the
Group and the fellow subsidiary may mutually agree in writing.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited

PERE

MR BHERAE

EZEARER T E B TFHHARRI0E
360H AEEEBRIEMBRABREZERR
DEERFABRBAREENEERR -

HMEMRIEB AR — RN —FRE

=
B°

ERHT-HEOERERANBATNEME
RZEMAFE (FfsE26(b)) 12,061,000 T
(T P94 14,297,000 7T) Rt iE—
bt 8 A Bl T 2 9 2 B8 B K18 100,000,000
BT (CEINE &\ (MisE31) RENM—
B 7 M B8 A B M AB RAFI 2479,000%8 7T (2
TTNE |E) cENBEEREBERENES
HFECTAF_E_RNE_A_+AHEBAZR
SEBRFAAMBATUEZEE A HEN
ERREEBIZABHEE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E " RE=F=+—H

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 5. 58&E
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to: AEFBHEDETTEEBENEE

31 March
2025
ZEZhHEF

=RA=+—H
HK’000
FTHET

Advances received from customers: BWEEFENRIE -

Sales of properties MEHE 67,115 158,693 166,096
Contract liabilities include advances received from buyers in connection EHEEEENAERYETEEMBE AN
with the Group's pre-sales of properties. The net decrease in contract RNEMRIE - FRNGNEaERVFELNEE
liabilities during the year was mainly due to the completion of sales HRTEmAEEFHEY X WYERENBEU
of properties to customers, partly offset by the increase in advances SR EE NN e

received from customers in relation to the pre-sales of properties.

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26.5t BIRITRHEMEE
BORROWINGS
2025 2024
bk 13 ZEIEE
Contractual Contractual
interest mtermt
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 [ Maturity HKS'000
BRI (%) ) TAT 4 35 TAT
Current:
BNAR .
Bank loans - secured Hong Kong 2025-2026 215,512 HIBOR+0.8/ 2024-2025 212,334
Interbank Offered Fixed rate of
Rate (“HIBOR") 365106.20
+1.08/ Fixed rate of
3.45 to 5.50
RITER-BHER BEARITAERE ZEChEER EARTEE “ZIMER
(IEBHTRE ZEIRE 18+08/ Z32h%E
81)+1.08/ EE365%6.0
EB3.45E5.50
Current portion of long-term bank RMB base 2025-2026 53,705 HIBOR+1.08/ 2024-2025 150,290
loans - secured lending rate RMB base
+1.05/ lending rate
Fixed rate of +1.05/
4.10t0 6.00 Fixed rate of
410t07.35
EHRTERNEAR Y -ERA AREEEER ZECnEE EARTRE ZZINER
% +1.05/ ZEIRE FE+1.08/ “ETHE
E54.1026.00 AEBEEEN
FIZ4105/
EE410%735
Current portion of long-term other Fixed rate of 2025-2026 16,939 N/A N/A -
loans - secured (note (2)) 9.56
REBEMERMNEESS - £59.56 ZETHEE TEA TEA
B (Ire) “EIR
Subtotal /N5t 286,156 362,624

2025 Annual Report
:%r?;;g;ﬁ 165



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26.:tERITREMEES @
BORROWINGS (continued)

2025 2024
k- ¥ I mE
Contractual Contractual

interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BHRIE) ) THET i 55 THR

Non-current:

JEENE
Bank loans - secured RMB base 2026-2034 446,020 HIBOR+1.08/ 2025-2029 571,889
lending rate RMB base
+1.05/ lending rate
Fixed rate of +1.05/
4.10t0 6.00 Fixed rate of
41010735
RTER-BHER AREEEER ZEINEER EABRTEE S
%4105/ ZZ-mE HB+108/ “ETNE
E54.10%6.00 ARBEEEH
=105/
TE410%735
Other loans - secured (note (¢)) Fixed rate of 2026-2028 33,164 N/A N/A -
9.56
HEMER — BIER (WzE) £59.56 ZEIREE TER TER
ZEo)\E
Other loans from fellow Fixed rate of 2027 295,000 Fixed rate of 10 2027 380,000
subsidiaries - unsecured 10
REAZKBARNEMER E810 ZZTtE EL10 it o=
—EH
Subtotal /N 774,184 951,889
Total #5t 1,060,340 1314513

1 66 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERXSBERAT



26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E " RE=F=+—H

26. 5t B IRIT RELMEES e

2025 2024
ZE-HE —ZTMmE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAET
Analysed into: Pk
Bank loans repayable: BEIRITER
Within one year —FR 269,217 362,624
In the second year FZFN 158,255 192,445
E-mmEa,
In the third to fifth years, inclusive @%E% N 221,878 322,778
Beyond five years hFER 65,887 56,666
Subtotal /N5t 715,237 934,513
Other loans repayable: BIEEMEN
Within one year — &R 16,939 =
In the second year FE_ERN 16,939 -
E=EFHF
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BIEEEME 311,225 380,000

Subtotal /INEF 345,103 1,314,513

Total “ast 1,060,340 1,314,513

Notes: izt :

(@) Certain bank and other loans of the Group are secured by the Group's (a) AEBETHRETAREMERUASEBNY
property, plant and equipment (note 14), owned investment properties X - BERRE (E14) EBEREYE
and certain rental income generated therefrom (note 16), properties REmMEENETHESWA (M) ~F
held for sale (note 17) and pledged deposits (note 23). The Group's bank TEHEYE (Ms£17) & ETE:E 77 (B 5%
borrowings of HK$308,695,000 (2024: HK$323,528,000) are secured by 23) {EIE I o A& F R 178 E308,695,000%8
pledges over the equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the Group (note 7t (T U4 323,528,000 70) UAEE
1). B THEARNKEERTR (HaE1) o

(b) As at 31 March 2025, except for the bank loans of HK$286,486,000 (b) RMZZEZHE=H=+—H Br286,486,000

(2024: HKS$311,502,000) and other loans of HK$345,103,000 (2024:
HK$380,000,000) which bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear
interest at floating interest rates.

Other loans from fellow subsidiaries of HK$295,000,000 (2024:
HK$380,000,000) were stated at amortised cost. These loans were
unsecured, carried interest at a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum with a
final maturity in May 2027.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings which are
denominated in the following currencies are as follows:

BT
AR

HKS
RMB

Bt (ZT T4 © 311,502,000 75) Z R
TE R 345,103,000 (Z 204 :
380,000,000/ 7T) 2HEMERMUE Bt B
S FRERITEREUERSE -

KERARKNBATEMER295,000,000
H T (T = ZPO4F : 380,000,000 75) 3% 1 £
BASE ZEERAEIRF BHEBSEF
K10%st B R_E-_tERBFH-

RSBt ENASERIRT
IREEAT :

ThEMEE

2024
—ENE

HK$'000
THET

415,056
645,284

665,790
648,723

Total 485t

1,060,340 1,314,513
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

2025 — B HE=RB=+—H

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered into a sale
and leaseback arrangement with an independent third party financial
institution (the “Lessor”), pursuant to which the Lessor purchased certain
investment properties and property, plant and equipment in one of the
Group's agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China (‘the
Leased Assets’) from the Group and such Leased Assets are then leased
back to the Group for a term of three years. Upon expiry of the lease term
and full settlement of all the lease payments, ownership of the Leased
Assets would be transferred back to the Group. The transaction was
accounted for as a financing arrangement with the recognition of the net
proceeds received as a loan which is secured by the Leased Assets.

26.51 BIRTTREMBE @

Htat o (#8)

(e)

BE_Z_AF=B=+—HLEE &
EREBUE= RS (THHEA) 5T
VERDOBEZE B HBARSERRE
BEXAEEURTEAMN-—EEERRS
THHE TREMEUARYE KB KL
(MAEEE) ZFHEEEREBEFA
EB/ > BE=F - NBHE MR B BEN PR
BHEMRR 2SHEEEZHARK
BOFAER ZRXEREF-—ERER
P BRI REFREREI S UEES
EFERZEMR

b= ==}
27. UNSECURED NOTES 27. BB EE

Effective

interest rate (%)
per annum Maturity 2025
ESHFEFZE (%) FHAE —E_RE
HK$’000
FHET
New Unsecured Notes MEIEIRER 52-56 2036-2037 60,678

Less: Portion classified as non-current & : D EEAIERENZ D 2

portion =i (47,720)
Portion classified as current liabilities D iEARBEEZ D 12,958

2025
“E-RE
HK$’000
FHET

Analysed into: SR
Within one year —FRN 12,958
In the second year FTERN 1,735
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EoEFHE CIEERME 3,335
Beyond five years hFE 42,650
Total s 60,678

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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27. UNSECURED NOTES (continued)

New Unsecured Notes

On 23 August 2024, the Group established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium
term note program (the “2025 Note Program”. The notes to be issued
under the 2025 Note Program are non-listed and denominated in HKS.

The Company has issued two batches of non-listed notes with a total
principal amount of HK$91,000,000 under the 2025 Note Program on 29
November 2024 and 21 February 2025 (the “New Unsecured Notes").
The coupon interest on the New Unsecured Notes is payable annually in
advance.

Details of the New Unsecured Notes are as follows:
HK$91,000,000

Principal amount:

The New Unsecured Notes carry fixed interest at interest rates as below:

Period from Period to Interest rate per annum
Issue date 1st anniversary 28.00%

1st anniversary 2nd anniversary 15.00%

2nd anniversary 3rd anniversary 2.00%

3rd anniversary 7th anniversary 1.50%

7th anniversary Maturity 1.00%

Issue date: 2 batches on 29 November 2024 and 21 February 2025,

respectively

Maturity date: 2 batches on 29 November 2036 and 21 February 2037,

respectively

Redemption period by the Group: Any date from, and including, 10th
anniversary, to, but excluding, the Maturity Date.

Redemption period by the noteholders: Four specified redemption
dates on the 8" anniversary, 9" anniversary, 10" anniversary and 11
anniversary.

Redemption amount on the maturity date: 100% of the principal amount
The interest expenses on the New Unsecured Notes are calculated using

the effective interest method and the effective interest rates range from
approximately 5.2% to 5.6% per annum.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI &

31 March 2025 2" HFE=F=+—H

0 iy *R ?* 2 ;Jé /HE)
MR RS

A_E_MENB =B AEBRT
1,000,000,0008 w2 FHIZEEE ((ZE 2R
ETE+%ﬁ RIBZZE-_AFEZEFERET
BT EEAE B LGB TEHE

ARBER_ZE_MWE+—HB-+hAhBKRZ
ETHE_A+—HRE-_Z-_AEZE
T8 ST M It AN S 48 %E 2 91,000,00078 70 2 FF
EHER (THEEHER) cMERFER>
EZEMNEBEFRAIZ (T

MEEBZR BT
REEE ! 91,000,000% 75

MERRRERTIEENRGE :

HEA HEZE FFE
BITHAR —EF 28.00%
—BE —EE 15.00%
B =EE 2.00%
—HEFE TtHEE 1.50%
+tHEE | HAH 1.00%
BITHE: WMt AR MNE+—
BZ+hBERZZE-ZHEFE_AH
—+—H
EHAA - it DR = NE+—
BZ+hBER-ZZE=tF_"H
—aF=[E

KEEZEOHRE B TEF (B8%
HH FaE=zBE) NEMBH-

%‘%%%ﬁ/\zﬁé@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ TRNBE-NABFE
TBER+—EFZMEEERR B -
AEIEA R 2 B8R | AEEE2100%

HEREFZEANEBIRASERA XL
B BREMENFLI52%F5.6%
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27. UNSECURED NOTES (continued)

Unsecured Notes 2024

On 19 May 2014, the Group established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium
term note program. The notes issued under the program were listed on
the Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only.

The Group issued 40 batches of notes with a total principal amount
of HK$400,000,000 which bore interest at 1% per annum in 2014 (the
“Unsecured Notes 2024").

The Group had repurchased and cancelled the Unsecured Notes 2024 in
an aggregate principal amount of HK$250,000,000 in prior years.

During the prior year, all the outstanding Unsecured Notes 2024 were
repurchased and redeemed by the Group and the Unsecured Notes 2024

were delisted on 8 April 2024.

The fair value of the unsecured notes at initial recognition and their

movements are as follows:

- RN *&**T*’E C!ﬁﬁ)
—ECNERIERRE

RZE-—NFRA+NAB XEBRIT
1,000,000,00078 75 2 FHA S 15 51 & - 1R 5 51 &
BOTZ2EBEUERNEXREERTESND
U B 32 £ o

AEBER T —NEHT40M A SEES
400,000,0008 T EFE A 1% Zik (ZTEZM
FEIRWMER)) o

REFEE ZEBA B hEiEAS 48
250,000,000/8 7t 2 — & MM HIKIHEEE o

RE—FE AEEEBLORBRMAEREERE
“ETNEERRRBER T " MFERT
RHEENR "2 _MNEMAB/\ BHEEE Ehre

BIRMEERD P ERE AT EREZE)
m

2025 2024

—E_RE TEINE

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET TET

At 1 April REA—H - 124,146
Issue of the New Unsecured Notes BITHEIKIRER 59,999 -
Accretion of interest RIEF S 679 9,210
Early redemption R ER = (132,432)
Interest paid/payable B EAFE - (924)
At 31 March W=B=+—H 60,678 -

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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28. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are

as follows:

(a) Deferred tax liabilities

(b)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R E R (@)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

28. IR FEFRIE

(a) EEMEBEER

Fair value
adjustments
of investment
properties and

Right-of-use properties
assets held for sale
KREMER
FEHEME
EHESE HAF(ERE #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 A _E_=FMAE—H 4,282 522,418 526,700
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss FR#8#& BRI, (GTA) (271) 1,396 1,125
Exchange realignment BE S e EE (110) (13,112) (13,222)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R _—Z _[H4&
=H=1H
K —ZE N4
mAE—H 3,901 510,702 514,603
Credited to profit or loss T ABmER (1,036) (11,600) (12,636)
Exchange realignment BE S5 EE (89) (12,603) (12,692)
At 31 March 2025 . - =
=== 2,776 486,499 489,275

Deferred tax assets

(b) EEMEBEE

Loss available
for offsetting

against future Lease
taxable profits liabilities
A A (L 8K
waF Z B518 HeEaf’ st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 A—E_—FHWAE—H = 5,501 5,501
Credited to profit or loss sTABEER 4,719 1,701 6,420
Exchange realignment e 49 (121) (72)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 PR —Z 4
=H=+—H
K_Z"MME
mAE—H 4,768 7,081 11,849
Charged to profit or loss sTABER (1,076) (617) (1,693)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) HEMB AT (K15£32) = (117) (117)
Exchange realignment b 2 oA E (110) (170) (280)
At 31 March 2025 ATE R
=E=—5 3,582 6,177 9,759
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28 RIETRIE )

28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

172

2025 2024
ZEZTHE =it S
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the AR E AR R SR
consolidated statement of financial position IRIERIEE FE S E 4,089 5,320
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RAR & B SR 3R A SRR
consolidated statement of financial position RIERIBEEFEE (483,605) (508,074)
Net deferred tax liabilities IRIEFRTE B RF4E (479,516) (502,754)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
arising in Mainland China of HK$183,699,000 (2024: HK$248,562,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Except for tax
losses of HK$14,326,000 (2024: HKS$S19,070,000) which have been
recognised as deferred tax assets, deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of the remaining amount of HK$169,373,000 (2024:
HK$229,492,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The Group also has unused tax losses arising in Hong Kong with an
aggregate amount of HKS$60,183,000 (2024: HK$42,302,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose, and deferred tax assets have not
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and a joint venture in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled amounted to HK$288,738,000 (2024: HK$329,467,000)
and HK$379,000 (2024: Nil), respectively. In the opinion of the Company’s
directors, the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference and, accordingly, the Group has taken into
consideration, among others, the probability the temporary difference
being reversed in the foreseeable future, and recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable in the foreseeable future on distribution
of unremitted earnings by the Company’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERXZERAR

RREPR A EBERREARAMELE Z K
FRMRIEEE %4183,699,0008 7 (ZE M
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PR VA A 5T R 2K i A1) 2R 0 MUt R B RLER BB
169,373,00058 7T (=2 Z MU 4E : 229,492,000 7T)
HMRIEERMIBEE - AEBMITAENREBEELEZ
RENERIER 85 $£60,183,000/8 7T (T MM
£ 1 42,302,000/ 70) > A E[RHA A (EIE EH B IR
B2 A BN REERR EF > AR EATER
RIEF) R > B R B IR & = o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

29. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 2. EEERIEERIERZIERE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS MIE AT
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- BEEAFERERZIFEZENRB AR

controlling interests

Proportion of
ownership
interests and
voting rights held Profits allocated Accumulated
Place of incorporation/ by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of Company registration and operation interests interests interests

FERERRAN

R R 2 R
NSEA: MR B RSB RERLAH AEEEERESZHT 5 L3 g
2025 2024 2025 2024
“E-RE —TNE CZB-RfE _—T_NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET FHET THET

Xuzhou Yuanyang The PRC/ 49% 14,997 6,554 189,734 179,080
Mainland China

TRINEF e,/ FRE R

Yulin Hongjin The PRC/ 49% 2,898 7834 146,513 184,488
Mainland China

EMRE FE,/ B

Individually immaterial subsidiaries 61,206 29,665

with non-controlling interests

ERIFERERBERME L

FEANMERE
397,453 393,233
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's EHAEESBEEEAFZERETNKE R
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out below. BN EER R EZFHS W T o LU E R
The summarised financial information below represents amounts before B EEMEEANEEE -

intragroup eliminations.

(i) Xuzhou Yuanyang (i) TRMEE

2025 2024

—E_RE —Z_puE

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FET

Current assets RNEE 139,682 128,171
Non-current assets ERBEE 416,565 418,510
Current liabilities mEIEE (29,436) (39,880)
Non-current liabilities ERBEIR (139,598) (141,331)
Equity attributable to the Group's interests REBELER (197,479) (186,390)
Non-controlling interests JEIER R (189,734) (179,080)

2025 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

29. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 9. BB EARFIEREZZIFEE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS M AT @
(continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- BEEAEREGZ ZIEZEMBLATFE
controlling interests (continued) #)
(i) Xuzhou Yuanyang (continued) (i) TRMEE @
2025 2024
ZEZhHEF —E g
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FAET FET
Turnover =EE 48,526 48,327
Other income Hu A 3,184 2,825
Fair value gains/(losses) on owned investment BEEREYEATERZ
properties, net (B518) 2458 7,223 (7,698)
Expenses 552 (28,327) (30,079)
Profit for the year FER @A 30,606 13,375

2025 2024
—_EB_RE T TE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Profit attributable to the Group's interests AR EEE R e A 15,609 6,821
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests FEFE I e 2 FE (3 A 14,997 6,554
Profit for the year FEREA] 30,606 13,375
Total comprehensive income attributable AEEHGREGEM
to the Group's interests N L 20,129 1,534
Total comprehensive income attributable IR EREEEE
to non-controlling interests IS A 42 %8 19,340 1,498
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EWALEEZE 39,469 3,032
2025 2024
—E_RE TETNE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET TET
Net cash flows from operating activities KBS IR R 2 /358 20,124 7,170
Net cash flows used in investing activities KRERHFIARERE R (304) (321)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities ~ BRESEBNFFIR, (FRr) IR&
MEFER (39,166) 14,370
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash R MIREFEEM
equivalents CRiZb) 258 (19,346) 21,219

1 7 4 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERXSBERAT



29. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (continued)

(ii) Yulin Hongjin

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to the Group's interests
Non-controlling interests

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

(&)

(ii)

MBNEE
FERBEE
mEEE
JEREER
REEE S AR
JF RS

EMRE

2025
—E"ARF

HK$’000
FTAET

344,483

1,352
(120,628)
(35,413)
(43,281)
(146,513)

31 March 2025 2" HFE=F=+—H

9. EERIEERERZIERE
BT @

BRAEAFERERZIFZENBARFGE

2024
—EUFE
HK$'000
FET

626,260
1,308
(211,363)
(39,699)
(192,018)
(184,488)

2025 2024

—E_RE TEINE

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FET

Turnover R 37,142 31,461
Other income Har A 128 1,269
Expenses (553 (19,177) (16,741)
Profit for the year FR A 18,093 15,989
Profit attributable to the Group's interests REE R EG R 15,195 8,155
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests JEIE R R (SR 2,898 7,834
Profit for the year FE A A 18,093 15,989
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BB &

31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

29. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 29. B EARIFERERZIERE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS MEBRTE @
(continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- BEEAEREGZ ZIEZEMBLATFE
controlling interests (continued) (#)
(i) Yulin Hongjin (continued) (i) EMEE @&
2025 2024
“ETEHE T
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Total comprehensive income attributable AEBEGRGEME
to the Group's interests N <E-E] 5,356 2,937
Total comprehensive income attributable FEER R B2 E WA
to non-controlling interests 4B ZE 4,300 1,158
Total comprehensive profit for the year FAZE @A ARER 9,656 4,095
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests TIIFERER KRS 43,256 =

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities A& ZEFRTS, (FrA) IR

B FER 17,920 (3,519
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEESFTAREREEE (461) (1,341)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities ~ BRESEBNFT1S, FRA) B

MR (32,427) 201
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BE RIS HFRER /D FEE (14,968) (4,659)

1 7 6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERXSBERAT



30. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Authorised and issued share capital

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

30. B 1T A R
(@) EERDBITRE

2025 2024
—E_ERE TN
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
RH&E EfE ] HfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTERT FTET TET
Authorised: A -
SREE0ET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 (2024: HK$0.01) (ZEZIWE 001
each BIT) 2 BER 30,000,000,000 300,000 30,000,000,000 300,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: L& ERTRER -
At the beginning and the end of the year ~ IRERER 9,953,067,822 99,5531 9,953,067,822 99,531

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at shareholders” meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally in regard to the Company’s residual assets.

There were no movements in the issued capital of the Company
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium
The application of the share premium account is governed by
section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
(ii) Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value
of the Company’s shares repurchased which has been paid out
of the distributable reserves of the Company.

(b)

ZRERFAEAARUBAREIRZRE
RERRARBZEZEMESRIKE—F-
FESBREESASNGEEDZAR

Lo
RBEE_Z_HAFKR-ZSE-_ME=A

St+—BIEE A AT BETRARE
-

HEZMEERB®N
() RefimfE

ROGEEBRZEASPXNATAER
EZ—NN\—FBREABEFHI0MHF
MRE ©

(i) BABEEIGHE
BEABELFEEEADEBLORN

ZEE > AR TB Z A ki E
B3z
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

30. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continveq)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents (i) the difference between
the underlying net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued
pursuant to group reorganisation in 1995, and (ii) contribution
arising from capital reorganisation in 2003 and 2009.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended
from time to time), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to shareholders. However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make distributions out of

contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its

liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less

than its liabilities.

(iv) Shareholders’ contribution

The shareholders’ contribution represents imputed interest
expense on the non-current interest-free loan from ultimate

holding company in 2005.

(v) Other reserve

The other reserve of the Group was the difference between the
amounts of net consideration and the carrying values of non-
controlling interests acquired or disposed of for changes in the
Group's ownership interests in its subsidiaries that do not result

in the loss of control.

(vi) Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland
China, a portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in
Mainland China has been transferred to the statutory reserve

which are restricted to use.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
PERERXZERAR
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(b)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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31. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

For the year ended 31 March 2025

On 13 December 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Wang On Commercial Management Limited, an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, in respect of the
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Regal Smart and the
shareholder’s loan of Regal Smart owed to Wang On (the “Shareholder’s
Loan’) at a total consideration of HK$152,993,000. Regal Smart is
principally engaged in investment holding. The above acquisition has
been accounted for by the Group as an acquisition of assets as the entity
acquired by the Group did not constitute a business. The acquisition
constituted a connected transaction of the Group and was completed on
25 February 2025.

The net assets acquired by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2025 are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

31. 0B — R B A El

BE_Z_AF=H=1+—HIL=ZFE

R _WNE+_B+=H XxEEHEZR
ZHEZEE2EN B ASWang On Commercial
Management Limiteds] BB =% AEA
AN EEEN 2N EETRAREBRER
RZNBRRER (TRERER) »RELER
152,993,0008 T EHRFENREREERK A
EEERFLLMBRBARAEERE RERA
REBMPATWEN BRI FAEKRER  WEE
MAEENBERZEER-_SE_HAEZA
“+HB5EMRe

AERREE_SE_AF=HA=+—HILF
EWENEEFEWNT :

HK$’000
FTHET

Net assets acquired: BWEEERE !
Investment in a joint venture NEEPEMNKRE 152,940
Deposits & 7
Bank balances RITHEER 58
Other payables H MR8 (12)
Total “ast 152,993
Satisfied by cash LIR & 45 152,993

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Regal Smart
is as follows:

ARAWBRERZIESRENNUT :

HK$’000
FHTT

Cash consideration (note 41) BB Hfat41) (150,000)
Directly attributable transaction costs BHIEEGLRZHA (2,993)
Less: Consideration payable to a fellow subsidiary Bt AB S R EMENTRIEZ BT

included in trade and other payables (note 24) B M EA B RE (H5E24) 100,000
Bank balances acquired BB IRTTAS ER 58
Total net cash outflow TR ARRE (52,935)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES R.HEHRBAT

For the year ended 31 March 2025

On 25 May 2024, the Group disposed of its entire equity interests in
Huai'an Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Logistics Company Limited,
together with its non-wholly-owned subsidiary, Huai'an Hongjin
Qingjiang Agricultural and By-Products Wholesale Market Company
Limited (collectively referred to as the “Huai’an Hongjin Group”),
which are principally engaged in the management of and sales of

BHE_ZE_AF=H=1+—HI=EE

AR _NERB-+AB AEEULERE
AR #206,817,0007T (18 & $2226,579,0007% 75)
B—2BUE=-"FLEERNEREERRE
BYURERADREIEEZENBAT KRS
REBIERERMLETSERAT GErE
BREER) NETREEREZREEER

properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC, together BERAEBNRERET ZEARFEREE
with the shareholder’s loan owed by Huai'an Hongjin Group, to the EBREEMURFEZEERR Z TG -
Group to an independent third party at an aggregate consideration HESBEER T NFENAAHZERK

of RMB206,817,000 (equivalent to HK$226,579,000). The disposal was

completed on 5 September 2024.

RERNFMEEEZ R EERNFEEF B R

Details of the net assets of the Huai'an Hongjin Group disposed of during

the year and the financial impacts are summarised below: M ERRIT -
Notes HK$’000
B 5 FERT
Net assets disposed of: BHEBESE !
Property, plant and equipment LY EN =Y 14 1,686
Investment properties KBEYE 16 136,944
Deferred tax assets R IEE 28 17
Properties held for sale BIEREYE 33,460
Trade receivables B 5 REEIE 45
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERT B 1R E K EH M E W ERIE 3,301
Cash and bank balances IR& R IRTTAARR 14,568
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A RIS (30,813)
Contract liabilities BHNEE (3,537)
Receipts in advance TEUW RIS (1,426)
Bank borrowings RITEE (10,956)
Subtotal INEt 143,389
Non-controlling interests JEEERR = 32,803
Exchange reserve released upon disposal HE B RBREVIE R E 12,940
Professional fees and expenses EEBERARBES 1,653
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEK B A S W 6 35,794
Total consideration wmRE 226,579
Satisfied by: HUTEEXZM !
Cash consideration RBERE 226,579
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) R2.HEMBAT &
For the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) BE_ZE"_AF=A=1+—HLEE ®
An analysis of the net inflows of cash and cash equivalents for the year in FREMEEEZREEERNRERRESSE
respect of the disposal of Huai’an Hongjin Group is as follows: KRAFEBRZDWUT :
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration BEAE 226,579
Consideration receivable included in prepayments, deposits and 5t AFE{T 3R IE « #% & K E fth FE WL R IERY
other receivables fEWACE (7,969)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BERERERIAEEEE (14,568)
Professional fees and expenses paid BENEXERKES (1,653)

Net inflows of cash and cash equivalents included in cash flows st ABRHENRBATNKREER
from investing activities in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries FriEHRE&NEMNIRE RIS L
Z MNP EH 202,389
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

MEBERMEE @)
31 March 2025 —“ 2" RFE=A=+—H

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

AT ZMBRRER

3B.ARFHRBR AR FHEED

2025 2024
—E_ARE —EUFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREE E
Investments in subsidiaries RBABZERE 164,855 164,855
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE IS B B A B R IE 1,684,037 2,285,457
Other receivables =i e 2,265 2,219
Cash and cash equivalents He KIS E%E 789 2,620
Total current assets MBI E EALEE 1,687,091 2,290,296
CURRENT LIABILITIES VIEI=N=
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NI B O] 716,826 1,055,140
Other payables HAnE(SIE 17,381 18,435
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SEBTAREMEES 120,056 168,318
Unsecured notes HEIRIRE R 12,958 -
Income tax payable FESFR1SHR 3,995 6,079
Total current liabilities MBI B B8R 871,216 1,247,972
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEIE ERE 815,875 1,042,324
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES WEERTSHERE 980,730 1,207,179
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBIBE
Unsecured notes EIFFERE 47,720 =
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SEBTAREMEES 295,000 500,056
Total non-current liabilities IERE S E4REE 342,720 500,056
Net assets EEFE 638,010 707,123
EQUITY e
Issued capital BEITRA 99,531 99,531
Reserves B 538,479 607,592
Total equity AR AR 638,010 707,123

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond

RinEE
Director

EF

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERXZERAR

Tang Ching Ho
ST
Director
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  33. QG BTSN R R fEFHEE S
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY &

(continued)

(b) FABZHEFEHEMT :

(b) A summary to the Company'’s reserves is as follows:

Capital Share
Share  redemption  Contributed Shareholders’ Accumulated option
premium reserve surplus  contribution losses reserve Total

EFRE k& Rt 1
R R B Gl B fith st
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
FEn FEn FiEn FEn FEn FiEn FEn

At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FEMA-H 3,923,147 945 588812 664 (3850311) 5475 668,732
Loss for the year rEERE - - - - (64978) - (64978)
Recognition of equity -settled EANEREEURD
share-based payment ARBZH - - - = = 3838 3838
Lapse of share options BIRELY - = = = 1,760 (1,760) =
At31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024~ RZEME
EHE
RZEZRE
mE—AH 3,923,147 945 588,812 664 (3,913,529) 7,553 607,592
Loss for the year rEERE - - - - (72,088) - (72,088)
Recognition of equity -settled ANEREEURD
share-based payment ARBZH - - = = = 2,975 2,975
Lapse of share options BIRELY - = - = 1,153 (1,153) o
At31 March 2025 RZZE-_RE=R
E4=F 3,923,147 945 588,812 664 (3,984,464) 9,375 538,479

34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022 Scheme”)
with the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022 for the
primary purpose of providing incentives and recognition for the eligible

4 LRI B ER2

WANBBRER_E__FENBZ+/HE
TZRRBEREEERE LHE N EMA
—IEERERE (B —F&#8) T8
BEAREER2HE (T28E ) EEHEA

participants (the “Participants”) to take up options for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group with the same terms as the share
option scheme (the “2012 Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 3 May
2012. Participants include directors of the Group, including independent
non-executive directors and employees, who work for any member of the
Group and/or any person or entity that provides services to any member
of the Group. The 2022 Scheme became effective on 26 August 2022 and
will remain in force for a period of 10 years to 25 August 2032.

SEEFHEAEFEZ EMREEBRRE
BREAXRANTR _ST——ER B =ZAHEHNZ
BEREE (ZE—ZF5H8) R -28E
BERAEECZEE (BEBIIENTES K
AREEAETTEARERATD IEZRERER
FEAEBTANREQATRERBENETAA
THREB T _FHER T F)\B
“t+ARHER BERBAtTE EIE =

ANBZ+HEHILE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
BRI @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Under the 2022 Scheme, the board of directors of the Company (the
‘Board”) may grant share options to the Participants to subscribe for
the shares of the Company. The offer of a grant of share options must
be accepted by the relevant Participants within 14 days after the date
of grant upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share
options granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the Board and
shall not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to
eligible person in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the shareholders. Options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors, or
any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
must be approved in advance by the shareholders. There is no specific
requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period
before it can be exercised but the Board is empowered to impose at its
discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular
option. The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised for a period of more than 10 years from the date of
grant.

Pursuant to the 2022 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in the
Company in respect of which options may be granted when aggregated
with any other share option scheme of the Company is not permitted
to exceed 995,306,782 shares, representing approximately 10.0% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. Subject
to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the board may
refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders at general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2022 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
at any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

No share option has been granted as at 31 March 2025 since the
adoption of the 2022 Scheme.

During the current and prior years, no share options were granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the 2022 Scheme.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E " RE=F=+—H

34U ST AR RERZZ

34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued) & @)
The following share options were outstanding under the 2012 Scheme RIBEZS—ZF58) UTEREREARER
during the year. 7

2025 2024
e R S “ETNE
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
HEFEIHITHEE BRESE mETHETHEE BB
HKS per share ‘000 HKS per share ‘000
SRAT T4 gRAETT F15
At beginning of year REY 0.118 161,000 0.118 211,000
Lapsed during the year RERKE 0.118 (20,000) 0.118 (50,000)
At end of year RER 0.118 141,000 0.118 161,000

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2025
Number of options

Exercise price* Exercise period

RESHRERTRZBEREZTEERT

FEHRENT :

—E°HEF

fEp s E 1T{EE
‘000 HKS per share
T3 SRAET
28,200 0.118 3.1.2025t02.1.2032 —E_HF—H=HE-_T="HF—HF_"H
28,200 0.118 3.1.2026t02.1.2032 —E-E—HB=-HE-ZE="—H=-H
28,200 0.118 3.1.2027t02.1.2032 —TE-_tH—HB=-HEZE="—H=-H
28,200 0.118 3.1.2028t02.1.2032 —TE-)\F—HB=HEZ-F=—"—H=-H
28,200 0.118 3.1.2029t02.1.2032 —E_hFE—H=HE-T=—"—H_™H
141,000
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7|

34, EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED AL EREHURMDARRZ AL

186

TRANSACTIONS (continuea)

2024

Number of options

BREHRE

Exercise price* Exercise period

7B

‘000 HKS per share
F45

32,200 QLI / B 2025 ier,IFAG8.2
32,200 0.118 3.1.2026 to 2.1.2032
32,200 0.118 3.1.2027 to 2.1.2032
32,200 0.118 3.1.2028 to 2.1.2032
32,200 0.118 3.1.2029 to 2.1.2032

5 @

—2omE

T ERFE—HB=HE_ZE="—H~
TECRF—HB=ZHE_ZE="—HA
BTt H=HEZE="%—H8
2 N\F—B=HEZZ="%—H
—ETAFE—HB=HEZZE="%—K8

IRERANERN
0 DDDMD

161,000

*

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

The fair value of the share options under the 2012 Scheme granted
during the year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$21,915,000 (HK$0.097
each), of which the Group recognised a share option expense of
HK$2,975,000 (2024: HK$3,838,000) during the year ended 31 March
2025.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
ended 31 March 2022 was estimated as at the date of grant using a
trinomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to
the model used:

* BREZTEEUNHRIARETHES
NB IR A2 A B AR MU BB T U GEEE

REE_E-__F=B=+—BLEEE
BT EHEETEREZATES
21,915,000 7T (FRR0.097787T) ' HHHEE_Z
THREZA=+—HIEEE FAEERIER
HERHS2,975,0005 70 (Z & ZIH4E © 3,838,000
JT) ©

RBEE_Z__F=RB=+—HLEFERH
NEmE Rz BREZATFERE S B HE
B=EARE G EFERREEREZ
IR B AR o« PRESIPTARE 2 8 A B ¢

2022
£

Dividend yield (%) % B (%) =
Expected volatility (%) TE RA R 12(%) 97.03
Historical volatility (%) JE 52 K 1@ (%) 97.03
Risk-free interest rate (%) 9 2| B ) 2K (%) 144
Expected life of options (year) TEERR WER (&) 10
Weighted average share price (HKS per share) MEEFHEKRE (ERET) 0.118

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over the approximately previous 10 years.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the
directors’ best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had
141,000,000 share options outstanding under the 2012 Scheme.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. 38R E oM ERI T A

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments REBEPARZS Bz EMTEZREENT -
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 March 2025 —E-RE=RA=+—H

Financial assets EHEE

Financial assets at FVTPL

BATESEZARZ

TRMEE
Designated Financial
as such Mandatorily assets at
upon initial designated amortised
recognition as such cost Total
REREREM B R A5 BR
IE3EE  saflfLtisE ZEMEE #act
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT THET THT
Financial assets at FVTPL BATELERAR
ZEMBE
— Listed equity investments — EHRELE 57 - - 57
Trade receivables B S5 EWEIE - = 1,280 1,280
Loans and interest receivables EWERRAE - = 11,268 11,268
Financial assets included in STATBNARIE &
prepayments, deposits, and e ELA1 FE W IE
other receivables ZERMEE - - 128,169 128,169
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITHER - - 181,673 181,673
Total “ast 57 - 322,390 322,447
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

A TR Z

g =i

HK$'000

FHET

Trade payables B2 R MIE 23,824
Financial liabilities included in deposits and other payables 5t AR & K HMAE T FHIEZ £/

(excluding lease liabilities) aE FaEREsEan) 249,122
Lease liabilities HEaE 24,710
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FERRTREMES 1,060,340
Unsecured notes EIRIRER 60,678
Total “ast 1,418,674
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. 3% AR EIERI TR @

(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RBREMARSENZEMITAZREEDT :
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued) #)

31 March 2024 —ZE_ME=HA=+—H

Financial assets THEE

Financial assets at FVTPL
BAFELKEBHEARZ

EHEE
Designated Financial
as such Mandatorily assets at
upon initial designated amortised
recognition as such cost
RERERE TR AR A5 51 BR
WItIEE  saslilitisE ZERMEE T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value BAFELE@ AR
through profit or loss ZEMEE
— Listed equity investments — EhRELE 105 - - 105
— Put options —s0oh AR HE - 370 = 370
Trade receivables B EINEIE = = 2,055 2,055
Loans and interest receivables FERERRAE = = 27,642 27,642
Financial assets included in STATENRIE &
prepayments, deposits, and T EAth FE UK
other receivables MEZ EHMEE - - 132,406 132,406
Pledged deposits BIERER - = 39,611 39,611
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTA B - - 243,435 243,435
Total “ast 105 370 445,149 445,624
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

AR GE R AR B BR 2

ETHMBE

HKS$'000

THET

Trade payables B ST IE 45,348
Financial liabilities included in deposits and other payables 5t AR & R HMBEIEZ S/l

(excluding lease liabilities) aE FeEREeEafs) 172,976

Lease liabilities HEEE 32,869

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SEIRTTREMEES 1,314,513

Total st 1,565,706

1 8 8 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments,
other than those carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair
values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts

fREIE

31 March

=A=+-~
HK$'000
FH7

Financial liabilities EMaE
Interest-bearing bank and other &t B2 3R17 K& Hh

=A=+-8

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

3&?@IEZQ$E&@$E%

Il‘&

FEFESHMTE CREBEATESEEEN
ERTRRIN ZIREERATENT

Fair values
REE

31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2025 2024
= r1e = 2 “E-RHE —E_mE
=B=+—H =B=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

HK$'000
THET

borrowings i=p=1 1,060,340 1,314,513 1,075,705 1,548,113
Unsecured notes IR EE 60,678 = 69,389 =
Total 4act 1,121,018 1,314,513 1,145,594 1,548,113

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances,
pledged bank deposits, trade receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, loans and interest
receivables and financial liabilities included in trade and other payables
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of the Company
are responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the Company’s directors and the audit committee. At
each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
Company’s directors. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

EEEEMMIRE RIRTHER  BIERRTE
FoESEBHRIESFARNRIE - BERHE
KR SREE BB KRF B MUK
SABSRHEMENREZEREEZAT

HARS [RENGE o

FEBZWBEFBARBRESHER B8
TRTREZATEFEFNERRRERF M5
BPIEZEAERRAEERELEZETER N
BREAH MHHPIDN TR TABEZH
| MREGMEFRBZEIZHABIE AR
BEFERRMEGE TEEZESEHMT
HREFEMBRREFETMRE BHER
R 45 RBIET & ©

TREERBRZATEUEEXZHEE
A1 5 G280 E R B ERRIN Z TRAIEIE
stz BE AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

36. ERITEAZATFERAFESE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 March 2025 were assessed
to be insignificant. The fair value of the unsecured notes are estimated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using an equivalent market
interest rate for similar securities with consideration of the Group’s own
non-performance risk. These fair value measurements are recurring and
are categorised in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of listed equity investments is based on quoted market
prices. The directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the related changes in
fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss, are reasonable, and that
they were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of the put options is determined by valuation techniques
and based on assumptions on market conditions existing at the end
of the reporting period. The valuation model requires the input of
subjective assumptions, including the expected volatility and price-to-
earnings ratio.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the put options was not
significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements. The inputs
used and their sensitivity analysis were not disclosed as such disclosures
would result in particulars of excessive length and provide no additional
useful information to the users of the consolidated financial statements.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
PERERXZERAR

4R =)
AT AES PR % R RRI T

SARBRTAEMEENIFREED 2 ATFE
T5LLE A i E AR LIE A~ (E B R R R R BRHA PR
N TANHXEFRBHARRRERETE
AR _RE=ZRA=+—H ~EEFERT
REMESERSNABNERERZ A TE
SR AL AER  BIEHEEZ A FE
TS B LESNESH SR RERIRFERR
RREREME  BEZBEAERANTEARE
BemERATEFEBERN LOE/HAF
BEMRNE=1 R

LTREREZATFEDHRBHHBREEE -
FABEFRE BBGEEDESHNMGEA
FE G AREPBRRAR) AT ERNA RFHE
B GtAED DEBAE BEANRBRSHARNE
BEEE-

2 e 9 0 2 A AL T AR 1 1 R R 1
BREMFREDRZBREE HERLEE
HWAZBRER SEESRERTRE.

EER N AR ZATENERER GRS Y
FEERARM = WA E K o FR S 3 BE P AR o A Ui
RESREDMEERERBR AR T1E
RO BREREBAERMEINEREN &
WHEREZFE R -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 36.EMTRAZAFERAFESE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) iR =)
Fair value hierarchy NTEE &

TRERAERSMTEZ A TEFERER !

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group's financial instruments:

BRATFENEZEE !

Assets measured at fair value:

Fair value measurement using

ERATHEEZATEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTHZ BAUHZAA EXFTAHZHA
wE GFE—H i (F2H) g (E=H) Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FTHT FHET
As at 31 March 2025 RZEZhF
=A=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL: RATERBRARZ
EREE .
Listed equity investment EHRELRE 57 - - 57
As at 31 March 2024 KRZEZF
=H5=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL: BAFELBRARZ
ETREE
Listed equity investment TTHRELE 105 - - 105
Put options SmARTE - = 370 370
Total 45t 105 - 370 475
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
MBE T @

31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

36.

37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years
are as follows:

36. ERITEAZATFERAFESE

4R =)
ATERBLE (@)
WU TFEE  SSRATES B #80T

HK$’000
FAT

At 1 April 2023 é:’;:_fﬁmﬁ H 232
Fair value gains recognised in profit or loss, net RiBm RN 2 A EW G FEE 138
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R —E_NE=RA=+—HK

—EHFMBE—H 370
Fair value losses recognised in profit or loss, net REGIRER Z AT E WD F58 (370)

A — S

At 31 March 2025

STE_AE=A=+—H =

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2024: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and unsecured notes
disclosed in notes 26 and 27 to the financial statements, net of cash and
bank balances and equity attributable to owners of the parent, which
comprises issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group's principal financial instruments include financial assets at
FVTPL, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade receivables, loans and interest receivables, financial
liabilities included in trade and other payables, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and unsecured notes. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors of the Company reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

In relation to the Group’s deposits with bank, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with financial institutions
with high credit rating and no recent history of default. The directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk on the bank deposits
is low. Management continues to monitor the position and will take
appropriate action if their ratings should change. As at 31 March 2025
and 2024, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in
relation to deposits with bank.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms
are subject to credit verification procedures. In order to minimise the
credit risk on trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, and loans
and interest receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. RS EIEEERBE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuec)

Credit risk (continued)

EERE @
RiEE R EERR

TREATERFEENEERRNEEER
kesEERE TEERNBEHAEN (RIFH
MEMN T EHERAMETBEREHEIRIE
TWTERS)  RRIEZHEE=A=1+—HH
BRI -T2 SRS TREERRE
&e

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2025. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

RIE-_RE=RA=+—H

As at 31 March 2025

194

12 month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8R A
FEE#E 2HANGEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—PEER 923 2 6% st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TET TAET TET
Trade receivables* B S Wz IE = = = 8,767 8,767
Loans and interest receivables R ER KA & 9,762 1,517 58,116 - 69,395
Financial assets included in prepayments, STABNTIE e
deposits and other receivables** REMEWRTIEZ
SMEE~ 109,620 18,672 - - 128,292
Cash and bank balances RE RIRTH R 181,673 - - - 181,673
Total 4mst 301,055 20,189 58,116 8,767 388,127
As at 31 March 2024 AZETNE
=B=t+—H
Trade receivables* B3 e E - - - 9,560 9,560
Loans and interest receivables W ERRF S 14418 1,556 54,578 - 70,552
Financial assets included in prepayments, HABRMHRE
deposits and other receivables** REMEWTIEZ
SMEE 116952 16,002 - - 132,954
Pledged bank deposits BIERRTER 39611 - - - 39611
Cash and bank balances RERFEEEH 243435 - - - 243,435
Total 1@t 414416 17,558 54,578 9,560 496,112

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
note 19 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be ‘doubtful”

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables and financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables (notes 19 and 20) and loans
and interest receivables (note 21) are disclosed in the corresponding
notes to the financial statements.

For certain secured loans and its related interest receivables, the Group
holds collateral in the form of capital over a subsidiary in Mainland China
held by the non-controlling interest.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its
financial obligations as they fall due. Individual operating entities within
the Group are responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long term. As at 31 March 2025
and 2024, there were no unutilised facilities, except for the aggregated
unutilised facilities from fellow subsidiaries of HK$210,000,000 (2024:
HK$126,000,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuec)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the
end of reporting period of the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay:

7. RAGEEEHERKE @

RBETER @

TREFNEEBNREHARUATORMIRER
TRERAERZIFTESREE (BEZEH
FZ (N8B RBERESIRBIT =)
STEZA BN ZRERTOERE > UKk
ERAEEAMMEZRTAN:

2025
b %3
On demand Total
or within 1to2 3to5 Over5 undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years years cash flows amount
BRREN AUERRE
R—FR —ERE =ERE RENE A REfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THET FHET THET THET THET
Trade and other payables B 5 REMER
A 273,246 - - - 273,246 273,246
Interest-bearing bank and other FERTREM
borrowings 1= 376,196 225,722 542,250 77,241 1,221,409 1,060,340
Lease liabilities HEEE 4,456 4,456 10,341 13,617 32,870 24,710
Unsecured notes BHRRE 13,650 1,820 4,095 96,915 116,480 60,678
Total 85t 667,548 231,998 556,686 187,773 1,644,005 1,418,974
2024
T mE
On demand Total
or within 1to2 3t05 Over5  undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years years cash flows amount
BREEY AUERREE
R—FR —EWE =EREF EENE MEAREE fREE
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FTET FTET TET FTET
Trade and other payables B2 REAMER
B 218324 - - - 218324 218,324
Interest-bearing bank and other S ERTREM
borrowings BE 470,039 220,426 909,291 51,299 1,651,055 1,314,513
Lease liabilities HE&E 8,048 6,083 13861 15432 43424 32,869
Total 4@zt 696,411 226,509 923,152 66,731 1,912,803 1,565,706

1 9 6 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with floating interest rates and
unsecured notes.

The interest rates of the Group's bank and other borrowings and
unsecured notes are disclosed in notes 26 and 27 respectively. The Group
is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and
other borrowings and unsecured notes.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in respect of its bank
borrowings with floating interest rates (see note 26) and bank balances
(see note 23) due to changes of interest rates. It is the Group's present
policy to keep its borrowings at floating interest rates so as to minimise
the fair value interest rate risk. The Group currently does not have any
interest rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant fixed-rate bank and
other borrowings should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group's profit after tax and increase/decrease
accumulated losses by approximately HK$3,215,000 (2024: HK$4,589,000).
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of reporting period
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non-
derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis
point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in the respective interest rates over the
period until the next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed
on the same basis as of 31 March 2024.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continved)
MBE R @
31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuec)

Currency risk

The Group has minimal transactional currency exposure arising from
sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units
functional currencies, and hence it does not have any foreign currency
hedging policies.

’

Part of the Group's operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which
is currently not a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government
imposes controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies
and, in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of Mainland China.
Shortages in the availability of foreign currencies may restrict the ability
of the Group's PRC subsidiaries to remit sufficient foreign currencies to
pay dividends or other amounts to the Group.

Under the PRC existing foreign exchange regulations, payments of
current account items, including dividends, trade and service-related
foreign exchange transactions, can be made in foreign currencies without
prior approval from the State Administration for Foreign Exchange Bureau
by complying with certain procedural requirements. However, approval
from appropriate PRC governmental authorities is required where RMB
is to be converted into a foreign currency and remitted out of Mainland
China to pay capital account items, such as the repayment of bank loans
denominated in foreign currencies.

Currently, the Group's PRC subsidiaries may purchase foreign exchange
for settlement of current account transactions, including payment
of dividends to the Company, without prior approval of the State
Administration for Foreign Exchange Bureau. The Group's PRC subsidiaries
may also retain foreign currencies in their current accounts to satisfy
foreign currency liabilities or to pay dividends. Since foreign currency
transactions on the capital account are still subject to limitations and
require approval from the State Administration for Foreign Exchange
Bureau, this could affect the Group's subsidiaries’ ability to obtain
required foreign exchange through debt or equity financing, including
by means of loans or capital contributions from the Group. There are
limited hedging instruments available in Mainland China to reduce
the Group's exposure to exchange rate fluctuations between RMB and
other currencies. To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort to reduce the Group's exposure to foreign
currency exchange risks. While the Group may decide to enter into
hedging transactions in the future, the availability and effectiveness of
these hedges may be limited and the Group may not be able to hedge
the Group's exposure successfully, or at all.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's exposures to currency risk of foreign currencies are
considered insignificant by the directors and therefore no sensitivity
analysis has been prepared.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuec)

Capital management

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is net debt divided
by total equity. Net debt is calculated as a total of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and unsecured notes less cash and bank balances
and pledged bank deposits. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MBI @)

31 March 2025 _E_fFF=H=+—H

7.V HBRAMREEEERBE @

BAER

FEBFBERRLER (RHFERGUEEEE)
EEEA - EEFRNZGFBRTRAEMER
DUR B 4 10 R 45 2 M BR R ER & R SRAT 45 AR L
REERRITERGE REPRNEBLEE
LI

2025 2024

—EZRE —ENE

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FET

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B $R{T R HMEES 26 1,060,340 1,314,513
Unsecured notes IR E S 27 60,678 -
Total debt R HEEE 1,121,018 1,314,513
Less: Cash and bank balances B IRERIBEERE 23 (181,673) (243,435)
Pledged bank deposits BERFIRITER 23 - (39,611)

Net debt B34 939,345 1,031,467
Total equity 4R %R 2,027,035 2,068,744
Gearing ratio BREEE 46.3% 49.9%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB RMIEE &
31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

38. COMMITMENTS 38. 7

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the RIMERR > REEBZERRBEUWT :
reporting period:

2025 2024
—=-fH% —EomE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET THET

Contracted, but not provided for: ERESIEESSE 2l
— Property, plant and equipment o EN NS 622 3,007
— Properties held for sale —RIEHEYE 6,979 7,282
— Investment properties —KREYE 21,177 156,293
Total “ast 28,778 166,582

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 39.45&IRERERME
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) EEFRERH
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had non-cash BE_Z_MFE=B=+—HLEFERN"
additions to right-of-use assets (including certain balances classified AEBMBEAELT M RIEF2HEZHER
as investment properties) and lease liabilities of HK$10,001,000 and FREEE (BEIEAREMENET
HK$10,001,000, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for iR RIHEEBEZIEREAED A
leased land and buildings. 10,001,000 75 5210,001,0007 7T ©

2 00 China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

40

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities:

Balance as at 1 April 2023

A — g — —

S_=_—

Lease liabilities

HEas
HK$'000
TET

(note 15(b))
(MFEE15(b))

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contined)
MEBE

= LB EE ()

31 March 2025 2" HFE=F=+—H

-n‘7|' =1 iﬁﬁ;ﬁ;ﬁ M-.t I:II #)

(b) MEEFBRELERRZEHIR:

Interest-
bearing bank
and other
borrowings
sFERITR
Hiifg &
HK$'000
FAET

(note 26)
(Hf5%26)

Unsecured
notes

EIRHER
HK$'000
FHT

(note 27)

(Fft5E27)

Total

HsEt
HK$'000
THET

B —HzZ 48R 29,634 1,277,728 124,146 1,431,508
Change in cash flow, net HEmESEB)FER (8,387) 49,174 (118,326) (77,539)
Exchange realignment PE R sR R (482) (14,972) - (15,454)
Modification EH) 10,001 - = 10,001
Other non-cash movement HhIEIR & &5 2,103 2,583 (5,820) (1,134)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 and R —& _H4F

1 April 2024 =B=+—H8Bk

2T OE

B —HZ 48R 32,869 1,314,513 - 1,347,382
Change in cash flow, net BE RS T8 (7,759) (226,938) 59,999 (174,698)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 32) HE KB A =

(Ht5#32) = (10,956) = (10,956)
Exchange realignment B 12 S 2L (681) (25,512) = (26,193)
Termination of lease contracts ~ #RIEFHE &L (1,663) - - (1,663)
Other non-cash movement Efﬁﬁlﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ 1,944 9,233 679 11,856
Balance as at 31 March 2025 A _REF

=B=+—Hz

iEER 24,710 1,060,340 60,678 1,145,728
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 40. 5 E K

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group’s bank and other
borrowings are included in note 26 to the financial statements.

FEERBTREMETIERNEEFBR
I R B R AR M 526
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 — 2" hFE=F=+—H

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AN.FAB AR5
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial PRz EMBHRREAMBHOFLAZRZ I KE
statements, the Group had the following material transactions with BRENHEBRBM D ETUTERRS

related parties during the year:

(a) Compensation of key management personnel of the (a) ®EEFEEEAS Z 5
Group
2025 2024
ZEZhHEF —E g
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T4
Short-term employee benefits RHEERER 24,951 20,241
Post-employment benefits BER 2 E T 195 94
Equity-settled share-based payment NEmEEURDRERZ
S 1,771 1,258
Total M5t 26,917 21,593
The above compensation of key management personnel includes FMFrEEEBAEZHMBIEESEHM
the directors' remuneration, details of which are set out in note 9 to BRI BN M BmRMIFE

the financial statements.

(b) Transactions with related parties (b) ElRAEEF IS

2025 2024
k- - —ETE

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THAT

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings T EEETRERAT

Limited and its subsidiaries REHEAE
("WYT Group’) (MITc=EEM®)
— Interest expense on other —HMEEHN B
borrowings* (i) 38,655 39,100
— Purchase of goods* —BEE R (if) 434 1,383
- Management fee income* —BIEER KA (iii) 648 -
Wang On and its subsidiaries REREWB AR (FEIE
(excluding WYT Group) ITEER)
— License fee paid* — B E (iii) 3,165 3,210
— Management fee expense* —EEERRZ (iif) 2,880 300
- Acquisition of a subsidiary* — W EE—REME A El* (iv) 150,000 -
— Interest expense on purchase —ENEEREZFE
consideration payable* FAsE* (iv) 479 -
Wang On Securities Limited REBHBRAE (REZ
(Wang On’s associate) = /N=T)]
— Commission fee for issue of the —BITHEIRRER M
New Unsecured Notes* B (iii) 2,730 =
* These related party transactions also constitute connected * ZERAA 5 AT %ﬁﬁﬁgt‘rﬁiﬁaljggm/;
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in SR EHAER S RITFERE
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. o
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuec)

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(c)

Notes:

(0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The interest was charged by related parties on loans advanced to the
Group. Details of the terms of the relevant loans are set out in note
26(c) to the financial statements.

The purchases from the WYT Group were made according to the
published price and conditions that the WYT Group to their major
customers.

The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the
Group and the related parties.

Details of the interest expense on the purchase consideration
payable to a fellow subsidiary and the acquisition of a subsidiary are
disclosed in notes 24 and 31 to the financial statements, respectively.

Outstanding balance with related parties

(0

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had unsecured borrowings
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$295,000,000 from
Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of WYT Group (2024: HK$74,000,000 and
HK$306,000,000 from Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company
Limited and Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited, non-
wholly owned subsidiaries of WYT Group, respectively). These
unsecured borrowings are denominated in HKD and carry fixed
interest rate at 10% per annum with maturity in May 2027.

Details of the Group's amounts due to fellow subsidiaries as at
the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 24 to the
financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

B ERMIEE @)
31 March 2025 —“E_RAE=A=+—H

NFAMBE RS @

(b) REAMZ RS (&)
Fitat -

(c)

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

R T BB T A E B 2 &MU A
BoHMERZHERZFBHNHH
|ARMIFE26(C) °

1 1 7 2 45 [ 4% 78 75 18 38 £ 72 2 46
METEER 60 EER G RE
7o

BEX RN EAEBRME S AE

W E Z IR RETT ©

ERENRAANBEASNEENLEN
) B R E B U B — RS BT BB A B BRI
DRSS B R M 524 /%31 ©

R Bk 75 R (BB AR 4R

(0]

RZE_RAF=ZRA=+—H>»&Kx&E
BEEREBUTEERZIEZENS
NAEREBEAERBRABLRE
B #5295,000,00058 75 (Z T /O£ :
REBMUTEEBZIEZENBE QA
MITEHEBERAT RERE N
& A R A 84 Bl 274,000,000 7T K&
306,000,000 7T) 2 BIEFEE &%
FIRREBEUETE  BEEFE
A10% RN_BE_tERBFNE-

FEERKRSHREMNRRWER
BRRIEREF ISR M B R R MY 524
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conzinued)
BB R @
31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

42. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

43

As at 31 March 2025, the Group provided guarantees of approximately
HK$16,936,000 (2024: HK$22,846,000) to customers in favour of certain
banks for the loans provided by the banks to the customers of the
properties sold. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of
default on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of
the guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales proceeds
as described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged
to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, in the event of default
on mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to
take over the legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through
open auction or other appropriate means. The Group is responsible
for repaying the banks when the proceeds from the auction of the
properties cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate
ownership certificates to the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the directors of
the Company consider that in the event of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

()  On 3 April 2025, the Company issued a new batch of unsecured
notes with a total principal amount of HK$38,000,000, maturing on
3 April 2037, under the 2025 Note Program. Details of issuance are
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 3 April 2025.

(i) On 20 May 2025, the Group entered into certain sale and leaseback
arrangements with the Lessor, pursuant to which the Lessor
purchased certain investment properties and property, plant
and equipment in certain of the Group's the agricultural produce
exchange markets in Mainland China (“the Leased Properties”)
from the Group and such Leased Properties will be leased back to
the Group for a term of three years. Upon expiry of the lease term
and full settlement of all lease payments, the ownership of the
Leased Properties would be transferred back to the Group. These
sale and leaseback arrangements are subject to the approval by
the Company’s shareholders and further details are set out in the
Company'’s announcement and circular dated 20 May 2025 and 18
June 2025, respectively.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
PERERXZERAR

2. AT R

AR AF=BA=+—H8 AEEHETEH
HEMENTRRENER UETIRTAR
@A AR FIRHA916,936,0008 7T (ZE -
£ 1 22,846,000 7T) BIHE(R o IRIBIEFRIET M
ZEEBE A EERIAEIRRERN AEE
HEBEEEENEHEXRTHRERIER
B U ST B A Sk 0B8R T S Frat
MEAEEMRERIE

Rig L= ARAMEEER FIRIT (FH
BB E MR IR @ - % F B 5 IR IR E
FORITAREERERE TEEBAMNA
BRHMBE S XNERERYE - EREYE
FIERIERT EAZ M REENBIREREE

=

FEBNEFRABR THEBBRERZ B
EREREREMEREZHLE-

EROATELRER ARBEZRR
EEENN HRYENTZIRFEELUE
BAREENERERAE U RESH SN

=+
;o

43. R 5HAR I8

() RZE_HEFEOB=H xAFREBE_Z
“HEZERSEST M ERRZES
R 4858 438,000,0008 7 R _B=+4F
B =HE - BTHEBRENRAATH
AT _HAFNB=HZ A ffi°

(i) RTE_HFERA_t+H AEEHHME
AT ETERBHAZHE &I HAEA
BAEEEEAEBRMNNFREAMNE
TEERRZTENETREME UK
ME- -BERZE (HEWE)) 2548
EMxFRBEFAER BH=F-1*
HERRBEHECNERENRE ZF
HEMEBEEERERTFTAER 2%
EROAZHAFTALADRRMLERZ A
AEE  E—PHBHNRAREHEBS R
B_E_AFRB+HKRZZEAHEF
7NB 1\ H Z A i Bz 38 B o



43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(continued)

(i) On 30 May 2025, the Group entered into a capital reduction
agreement (the “Capital Reduction Agreement”) with Yulin
Investment Group Co,, Ltd., the non-controlling shareholder of Yulin
Hongjin, and pursuant to which the Group's equity interests in Yulin
Hongjin shall be reduced from 51% to nil at a total consideration
of approximately RMB24,688,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$26,581,000). The consideration shall be settled by Yulin Hongjin
and such reduction in equity interests constitutes a disposal by the
Group of the equity interests in Yulin Hongjin. This transaction is
expected to be completed in July 2025 and further details are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 30 May 2025.

44, COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative figures have been re-presented to conform with
current year's presentation, which mainly included the reclassification
of certain items in primary statements, and the presentation of certain
notes to the financial statements.

45. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board on 30 June 2025.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

BB RIMEE &
31 March 2025 —BE-_HE=B=+—H

43. R EHABRRIA @

(iii)

RIE_RERAA=1TH xEERAEMK
REEEBRAR (EMREZ IEERER
R) SIDRE = (TRERE)) I K
EENEMEEZRERBS I WRES
WREBLHA ANRKE24,688,000Tc (FHER
#926,581,000870) cKEBRFHEMERES
4> BRARERDERAEBHEREM
REZRE ZXZERRR SR F
tBREM E—FHBEHNE AR HES
TE_RERB=1THZAfR

44 LEERE R

R ERFENIRSIN BEEMEIETLE
RYF TEOREMOBREIERRNETIE
B 27 B mRERETHEE

45 R ETI IR SMBHRR

EFEEERN_BE_HAFAB=THEHHERE
BT SR EMBRE-
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
i ELES

31 March 2025 R — 2" AFE=HF=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

ik

Wuhan Baishazhou Agri-Products Market, Special
Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling Country, Hongshan
District, Wuhan City, Hubei Province, the PRC

FREGIEE R ET AL ESEMEEHT 5%
EUERDMNEEIERATIS

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, west of Luoji Expressway, Old town
District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC

FREAIRE B & B S & & RER B E 7
&5 R R E mBIFRYD R 0

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, south of Kaigi Highway and East of
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC

FR B8] 7 B T B AS 2 BR A0 R R Fa AR A S ER AR
VI A 7 2 R B EE B PR D I R

Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Market,
East of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan District,
Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

FR T &R B TR M 1 3R LU @ 30 & A 45 R A
RINREIERPOHETS

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXZHRAR

REYF

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMXZTE

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMXZHE

Agricultural produce
exchange market

RERR %

Agricultural produce
exchange market

RERR %

Attributable

interest of
Tenure the Group
FH S E FE LR S
Medium term lease 100%
FREATEAY
Medium term lease 100%
FREATEAY
Medium term lease 100%
FREATRAY
Medium term lease 51%
FREATRAY



PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES (continued)

MEF1E (@)

31 March 2025 R _ 2" FHE=H=+—H

FIEHEYE

Approximate

saleable Attributable
floor area interest of
Location (square feet) the Group
AR ERERR
ik (FHER) SEE BN
Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International 485,000 Agricultural produce 100%
Logistics Centre, West of Luoji Expressway, Laocheng exchange market
District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC
FR AT R B 5 T B R T R R @ E P RERXZ 1%
& 5 7R 3 = Bl EE mm B R A R AR O
Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International 124,000 Agricultural produce 100%
Logistics Centre, South of Kaigi Highway and East of exchange market
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC
FR AT R A R T R AR A B G R R AR A R RERXZ 15
I 7R R B E m BRI A O
Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products 403,000 Agricultural produce 51%
Market, South of the Second Ring North Road, Yuzhou exchange market
District, Yulin City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, the PRC
FREERATEB AR EMNE ZIRICE A REMXZ M5
EIMRERE EmitE TS —H
China - ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products Market, 1,657,000 Agricultural produce 100%

North of Jinhaiwan West Avenue (Entrance of exchange market
Nanbei Highway), Qinzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC

R/ P i T B R & #ROMN T 0 7 P AT 2B AR

(EiItEERHEAL) FE — KA G BELRATIS

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

REMXZ TS

TEME

Estimated
approximate
Approximate gross Estimate Attributable
site area floorarea  completion Stage of interest of
Location (square feet) (square feet) date  completion the Group
fhat 4
BAshBER HBREER HEME
it s (FE5R) (F5R) MBS TR FEfutes
Phase Il of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agricultural produce exchange 159,000 399,000 2026 Building 100%
Agri- Products Market, south of market
the 2nd Ring North Road, Yuzhou
District, Yulin City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC
i \R A B B R REMXS 5 B

HAREME B RE A
ENRERRERMET S
—
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FIVE-YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFEMBEBRE

31 March 2025 _E_RF=H=+—H

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—ECREFE “EE —Z°ZF _—F B”_—#&
EEE = ZEZEF=E ZEZT=E ZEZT—E ZE=ZT—E
LLEFE EEE EEE EEE EEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAET TET FTAT FiET
Results E

Revenue e za 530,761 579,132 596,400 868,685 650,529
Profit before taxation PRI ADER 35,608 83,117 27,903 105,793 644,463
Income tax expense PSR (3,481) (56,241) (9,402) (68757) (143,293)
Profit for the year FRER 32,127 26,876 18,501 37,036 501,170

Attributable to: RN :
Owners of the parent BREEEA 7,833 7,353 6,836 6,401 489,602
Non-controlling interests FErER S 24,294 19,523 11,665 30,635 11,568
Total 45t 32,127 26,876 18,501 37,036 501,170

As at As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
R i S i i
ZEZRFE —Z_NE —Z-=&F B &
= =R =R =R =R
=+—H =+—H =+—H =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT FiET FiET FiET
Assets and liabilities BERER
Total assets nEE 4,234,402 4,638,066 4915193 5,491,088 5,584,043
Total liabilities FA=LE (2,207,367) (2,569,322) (2,787,781) (3,139,556) (3,378390)
Net assets EEFE 2,027,035 2,068,744 2127412 2,351,532 2,205,853
Attributable to: MTFALRER:
Owners of the parent ISYN=IEZZDN 1,629,582 1675511 1,738,026 1939313 1,808,148
Non-controlling interests Elly 397,453 393,233 389,386 412,219 397,705
Total b 2,027,035 2,068,744 2127412 2,351,532 2,205,853

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
FERERRXZHRAR
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